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10,110 10,570

51,787 55,438

GSI
GSI
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
)

71 432

8,417 7,519

8,488 7,951

2,054 1,277

2,054 1,277

10,542 9,228

2013 12 31 GSI 20,300 2012 12 31 20,193
GSI

GSI
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GCE
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403
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GS CFP
GSI  GCE
2013 12 31 2012 12 31

1,778 224
9,632 7,257
10,864 10,359
9,482 3,393
9,217 19,596

41 66
41,014 40,895
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GCE 2013
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LCR 2015
2015 60
2019 100 10
2018
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A-1 P-1 F1
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A- Baal A
BBB+ Baa2 A-
BB+ Ba2 BB+
GSI

GSI
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) 2013 12 31 2012 12 31
362 467

1,545 680
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VaR GSI GS VaR GS
GSI GS
VaR
GS
VaR
VaR VaR VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
)

2013 12 31 2012 12 31

26 28

17 15

5 6

- 1

12 a7
36 33
VaR VaR
) 2013 12 31 2012 12 31 2013 12 31
29 27 37 19
20 14 54 10
7 7 9 2
- 1 3 -
(18) (16)
38 33 63 25
VaR

VaR 10
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26.9 23.1
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GS
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GS
GS
GS
GSI GSI GSI
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2013 12 31
489,841 (44,588) (380,418) (35,386) (9,681) 19,768
26,264 (26,264) - - , -
225,854 - (14,378) - (209,530) 1,946
584 69,628 - - (24,075) (12,375) 33,178
4,032 - - - - 4,032
815,619 (70,852) (394,796) (59,461) (231,586) 58,924
2012 12 31
561,493 47,217) (439,859) (46,184) (7.733) 20,500
24,987 (24,987) - - - -
221,528 - (14,079) - (203,758) 3,601
492 69,716 - - (26,923) (9.872) 32,921
13,084 - - - - 13,084
890,808 (72,204) (453,938) (73,107) (221,363) 70,196
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(€Y
(2013 12 31 )
950,000,000 533,447,150 416,552,850
1,500,000, 000 0 1,500,000, 000
500,000,000 0 500,000,000
(2013 12 31 )
533,447,150
100
533,447,150
@
©)
( )
( )
2009 12 31 5,764,796 499,257,654 5.8 6 ) 499.3 G122 )
2010 12 31 - 499,257,654 - - 499.3 G122 )
2011 12 31 - 499,257,654 - - 499.3 G122 )
2012 12 31 34,189,496 533,447,150 34 G5 ) 533.4 G471 )
2013 12 31 - 533,447,150 - - 533.4 G471 )
2009 GS
2012 12 11.9
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( 0.01 ) 0.01
( )
958,659,363 9.6 @ )
( ( (
) ) )
2009 12 31 - , _
227,906,977 2.3 e )
( ( (
) ) )
958,659,363 9.6 @ )
( ( (
) ) )
2010 12 31 - , _
227,906,977 2.3 e )
( ( (
) ) )
958,659,363 9.6 o )
( ( (
) ) )
2011 12 31 - - -
227,906,977 2.3 e )
( ( (
) ) )
©-6)| o )
) ( )
2012 12 31 (1,186,566,340) ) i i
2.3) ) @ )
) )
2013 12 31 - - - - _ _
2012 12 11.9
34.1
“)
®)
®)
2013 12 31
EC4A 528,112,679 99.0
(U.K.) |28B
133
EC4A 5,334,471 1
28B
U.K.) 133

2012
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PRA PRA FCA
PRA
FCA
2014
D 0 1995
(1946 4 25 )
J 0 2006 10 23
(1960 3 31 )
S 0 2001 22
(1965 7 29 )
c 0 2012 26
(1947 6 6 )
0 2007 26
(1941 12 27 )
A 0 2011 11 11
971 3 12 )

GSI GSI
D
1995
1997 2009 12
GATT 1993 1995
1990 1993
1989 1993
1985 1989
1981 1984
J
I1BD 2003

1999 2004
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S
1986
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1978 1999
2007 11
2007
1991 2011 10
1992 1997 12
1985 1990
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A
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2011
2002
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2006 487(2) 2007 2006
44

2013 12 31 2012 12 31 GSI

EABSCC

a GSI

d GSI

k FCA

FCA Significant Influence Control Functions

o Q2

(2]

m EMC

n EABSCC
0 GSI
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o o
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e USA ( )

GSI 2013

GSI

GSI GSI

GSI GS
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GSI
GS GSI
GS
GSI GSI
GSI
GSI
EMC
EMC GSI GSI
EMC GSI

EMEA EABSCC
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GSI VaR
GSI GSI
GS
GS GSI
GS
GSI GSI
GS
GS
GS
GSI
GSI
GSI
@
2011 12 31 2012 12 31 2013 12 31

5.7 5.0 5.3
(585 ) (513 ) (544 )
0 0 0
(© ) (© ) (© )
0 0 0
Q0 ) © ) © )
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38 59
131
2013 2012 2011 12 31
193
2013 2012 2011
134
2014 18 UFJ

102.55

112/306



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
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2013 12 31
12 31
2013 2012

3 5,156,688 528,818,354 5,578,001 572,033,232
(4,538,515)  (465,424,713)  (4,466,115)  (458,000,093)

4 618,173 63,393,641 1,111,976 114,033,139

13 (36,238) (3,716,207) — —

5 — — 17,512 1,795,856
6 (305,837)  (31,363,584) (323,339)  (33,158,414)

9 21,468 2,201,543 21,817 2,237,333

297,566 30,515,393 827,966 84,907,913
11 (128,902)  (13,218,900) (144,006)  (14,767,815)

2 168,664 17,296,493 683,960 70,140,098

12 31
2013 2012

168,664 17,296,493 683,960 70,140,098

y ( 9 (70,358) (7,215,213) 60,356 6,189,508
C ¥ 19 8,712 893,416 (13,882) (1,423,599)

107,018 10,974,696 730,434 74,906,007
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2013 12 31 2012 12 31
12 14,339 1,470,464 16,064 1,647,363
13 1,198 122,855 500,880 51,365,244
15,537 1,593,319 516,944 53,012,607
14 489,841,270 50,233,222,239 561,492,911 57,581,098,023
14 26,263,531 2,693,325,104 24,986,812 2,562,397,571
15 225,854,255 23,161,353,850 221,527,555 22,717,650, 765
17 70,211,487 7,200,187,992 70,208,531 7,199,884,854
16 4,032,081 413,489,907 13,083,945 1,341,758,560
816,202,624 83,701,579,091 891,299,754 91,402,789,773
14 (457,164,133)  (46,882,181,839)  (520,174,451)  (53,343,889,950)
18 (190,210,848)  (19,506,122,462)  (181,477,383)  (18,610,505,627)
20 (133,349,677)  (13,675,009,376)  (155,199,988)  (15,915,758,769)
(780,724,658)  (80,063,313,678)  (856,851,822)  (87,870,154,346)
35,477,966 3,638,265,413 34,447,932 3,532,635,427
35,493,503 3,639,858,733 34,964,876 3,585,648,034
21 (15,331,681) (1,572,263,887) (14,968,588) (1,535,028,699)
22 (17,740) (1,819,237) (15,305) (1,569,528)
20,144,082 2,065,775,609 19,980,983 2,049,049,807
9,24 156,389 16,037,692 212,470 21,788,799
20,300,471 2,081,813,301 20,193,453 2,070,838,605
23,24 533,447 54,704,990 533,447 54,704,990
24 2,862,936 293,594,087 2,862,936 293,594,087
( ) 24 17,286 1,772,679 17,286 1,772,679
24 16,886,802 1,731,741,545 16,779,784 1,720,766,849
24 20,300,471 2,081,813,301 20,193,453 2,070,838,605
2014 22
R.A.
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90
FRS (1996 )
b. FRS
FRS (©)
c. FRS 29 (IFRS )
UK 90
FRS 29 (IFRS )
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
1,097,931 838,016
3,715,380 4,092,144
164,946 455,339
178,431 192,592
5,156,688 5,578,091
M&A
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GS
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
3,394 3,248
— 257
436,290 456,806
(440,232) (481,684)
(485) 1,490
5,287 5,042
83,889 93,810
c ) 958,829 1,191,140
) 1,307,476 1,712,669
d ) (147,303) (195,667)
) (2,103,502) (2,549,099)
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o o o o o o o e e
b.
UK
C.
( )
d.
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
— 2,325
— 15,187
— 17,512
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
305,837 323,339
( 21a )
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
4,737 5,533
7 7
4,744 5,540
1,400 1,521
3 J—
7 —
2006
Sl )2008 /410
(
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( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
674 664
1,388 1,479
98 96
503 493
2,479 2,581
5,142 5,313
320 350
5,462 5,663
2013 12 31 5,555 (2012 5,563 )
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
3,331,710 3,361,952
373,016 365,340
55,587 55,319
40,429 45,227
3,800,742 3,827,838
1,002 (2012 793
)
( )
2008
2012 12 31 2013 12 31
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
() )
4.50 4.90
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OO0Oo0OoOoooooOodn
4.00 4.00
(1996 11 30 ) 3.40 3.30
(1996 11 30 ) 2.60 2.40
3.60 3.30
s1
( ) 2002
CMI 2012
2012 12 31 ( RPI ) ( )
0.9 1.0 14
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
) ( ) ) ( )
7.1 969.1 7.5 771.6
4.0 404.9 3.5 287.7
2.9 134.7 2.4 207.3
1,508.7 1,266.6
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31 2011 12 31 2010 12 31 2000 12 31
1,508.7 1,266.6 1,059.6 1,053.6 744.9
1,352.3 1,054.1 927.4 889.6 902.1
/ 156.4 212.5 132.2 164.0 (157.2)
( )
C )
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
40.4 45.2
40.4 45.2
49.6 46.5
(71.1) (68.3)
(21.5) (21.8)
18.9 23.4
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111.1 57.2
11.0 17.5
) (192.5) (14.3)
« ) (70.4) 60.4
2013 12 31 2012 12 31 2011 12 31 2010 12 31 2009 12 31
111.1 57.2 (101.1) 14.0 107.0
7.4 4.5 9.5 1.3 14.4
11.0 17.5 28.5 48.6 17.2
0.8 1.7 3.1 5.5 1.9
(70.4) 60.4 (51.9) 88.2 (300.5)
5.2 5.7 5.6 9.9 33.3
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
1,266.6 1,059.6
71.1 68.3
111.1 57.2
32.3 35.7
.2) 7.3)
36.8 53.1
1,508.7 1,266.6
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
1,054.1 927.4
40.4 45.2
49.6 46.5
192.5 14.3
(11.0) (17.5)
0.2) 7.3)
35.9 45.5
1,352.3 1,054.1
( )

126/306



2014 12 31 /2013 12 31

2014 12 31 /2013 12 31
2013 12 31 /2012 12 31

FRS 17
10.
2013
sIP )
)
(RSU)
2013 SIP
RSU
RSU

525

RSU
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2013 12 31 2012 12 31
212.5 132.2
32.3 35.7
(40.4) (45.2)
21.5 21.8
(70.4) 60.4
0.9 7.6
156.4 212.5
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
11.8 9.3
41.9 33.6
71.1 68.3
111.1 57.2
182.2 125.5
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
(101.3) (30.9)
20.2 11.5
(81.1) (19.4)
RSU )
( 2013
GSI
2013 384
GSI RSU
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RSU
( RSU )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
5,000,853 2,533,081 7,318,780 5,042,532
2,949,686 1,741,276 1,174,295 1,639,205
(35,652) (219,059) (12,531) (488,277)
(5.505,642) — (7.,083,084) —
/C ) 7,171 (19,443) (28,427) (28,559)
1,821,497 (1,821,497) 3,631,820 (3,631,820)
4,237,913 2,214,358 5,000,853 2,533,081
2013 126.38 (2012 87.55
) 2013 12 31 2012 12 31 RSU
11.6 19.1
2014 RSU3.4
1.1 RSU
2019
2010
10
SIP
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
= ) = )
10,256,821 90.55 10,875,522 89.89
(41,542) 96.08 (616, 250) 78.95
(540) 96.08 (2.,451) 78.87
10,214,739 90.53 10,256,821 90.55
10,214,739 90.53 10,256,821 90.55
153.08 (2012
118.82 ) 2013 12 31 2012 12 31
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
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75.00 89.99

90.00 119.99
120.00 134.99
135.00 194.99
195.00 209.99

11.
a.
(
b.
23.25 (2012
23.25 (2012
12.

9,078,709

288,720

847,310

10,214,739

b )

19 )
24.5 )
24.5 )
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OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OoOooOoOddooOoomdmr
5.00 9,078,709 6.00
— 42,082 0.92
1.92 288,720 2.92
3.51 847,310 4.51
10,256,821
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
151,241 243,804
2,275 (30,343)
59,153 50,447
212,669 263,908
(117,580) (148,721)
38,317 28,523
(4,504) 296
(83,767) (119,902)
128,902 144,006
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
297,566 827,966
69,184 202,852
30,764 17,547
(10,529) (14,454)
178,608 174,187
(29,230) (86,624)
(1,831) (1,330)
(30,018) (1,339)
3,446 3,412
2,275 (30,343)
212,669 263,908
( )
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Jooooodoooodo
2012 12 31 24,628 6,638 31,266
374 1,295 1,669
) (12) 14
2013 12 31 25,000 7,921 32,921
2012 12 31 11,501 3,701 15,202
( 2,712 682 3,394
2 (12) 14
2013 12 31 14,211 4,371 18,582
2013 12 31 10,789 3,550 14,339
2012 12 31 13,127 2,937 16,064
13.
( )
2012 12 31 499,682 1,267 500,949
296,162 — 296,162
(795,844) — (795,844)
2013 12 31 — 1,267 1,267
2012 12 31 — 69 69
2013 12 31 — 69 69
2013 12 31 — 1,198 1,198
2012 12 31 499,682 1,198 500,880
)
100 2
( ) 100 250
80
100 *
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( ) 595
(296 ) 1,240 (569 )
UK 191
36
2013 11 22
2013 12 18
100 100
2013 12 23
( )
(U.K.) (
UK
14.
(
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
20,892,333 25,492,194
34,740,279 33,955,630
11,826,957 12,280,613
3,391,803 475,132
70,851,372 72,203,569
236,486,102 298,333,723
77,176,857 104,822,971
68,647,432 65,673,030
57,238,024 40,281,289
5,705,014 5,165,141
445,253,429 514,276,154
516,104,801 586,479,723
489,841,270 561,492,911
26,263,531 24,986,812
516,104,801 586,479,723
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15.
16.
7,458
15,263
17.
/
¢ 19 )
2013 12 31 7,458
(
3,745

(17,326

16

133,304

9,947

4,103

1,571

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

132/306

OoOooOoOddooOoomdmr
( )

2013 12 31 2012 12 31
10,325,775 13,506,781
13,775,194 11,813,137
2,663,618 2,881,237
26,764,587 28,201,155
231,757,981 294,450,307
70,760,557 93,313,839
65,413,495 59,839,160
57,063,641 39,724,702
5,403,872 4,645,288
430,399,546 491,973,296
457,164,133 520,174,451

(2012 122,974 )
( FCA ) CASS
2013 12 31 9,868
)
5,316
( )

2013 12 31 2012 12 31
54,460,372 54,823,699
15,025,954 14,782,022
583,535 492,370
44,250 50,971
22,221 8,858
75,155 50,611
70,211,487 70,208,531

)
3,355 /
5,316
/
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180 (2012 165 )
100,994 (2012 106,135 )
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
« 17 )
2,960 6,630
(31,278) (36,128)
611,853 521,868
583,535 492,370
( )
492,370
11a ) 83,767
8,712
(1,314)
583,535
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
70,805 432,324
18,960,736 16,292,350
58,457,370 77,468,307
53,130,793 58,806,627
— 1,444
1,523,525 1,112,336
234,419 211,513
972,029 875,087
133,349,677 155,199,988
(2012 5,343 )
437 (2012 758 )
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6,287 (2012 4,585 )
12,237 (2012 10,949 ) 3,820
(2012 3,430 ) 8,417
(2012 7,519 )
b. 2013 12 31 17,326 ( 16
) 13,913 /
3,413
15,263 12,667
/ 2,596
c. 37,857 (2012 41,438 )
21.
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
( a ) 6,458,000 9,508,000
( b ) 4,205,847 3,784,372
( ¢ ) 3,549,630 820,878
1,118,204 855,338
¢ d )
15,331,681 14,968,588
a. 2013 12 31 2012 12 31
6,458 (2012 9,508 )
( PRA )
PRA
b.
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
967,877 1,478,957
1,990,917 986,079
1,247,053 1,319,336
4,205,847 3,784,372
2,050 (2012 2,266 )

545 (2012 775 )
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1,505 (2012 1,491 )
2019 2050
2,156 (2012 1,518 102
(2012 241 ) 2,054
(2012 1,277 )
c. 2013 12
31 2012 26
400 (2012 400 )
2022
d 20 RSU
22.
( )
2013 15,305
5,000
(2,939)
374
2013 12 31 17,740
18
FRS 12
23.
2012 12 31 2013 12 31
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
) ( ) ) ( )
533,447,150 533,447 533,447,150 533,447
533,447 533,447
24.
( )
(
2012
511,123 2,885,260 17,286 16,049,350 19,463,019
— — 683,960 683,960
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— — — 46,474 46,474
— — — 384,256 384,256
— — — (384, 256) (384,256)
34,189 1,238,002 — — 1,272,191
(11,865) (1,260,326) — — (1,272,191)
533,447 2,862,936 17,286 16,779,784 20,193,453
— — — 168, 664 168,664
_ _ — (61,646) (61,646)
— — — 524,935 524,935
_ _ — (524,935) (524,935)
533,447 2,862,936 17,286 16,886,802 20,300,471
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
16,730,413 16,567,314
156,389 212,470
16,886,802 16,779,784
(2012 )
( )
2013 12 31 2012 12 31
909 100
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unhimited company)
PROFIT ANID L?SS ACCOLIN .
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Mote LS5 000 US3'000
MNet revenue 3 5. 156,688 5.578,091
Administrative expenses (4,538.515) (4.466,115)
OPERATING PROFIT 4 618,173 1111976
Loss on sale of subsidiary undertaking 13 (36,238) .
Oiher interest receivable and similar income 5 . 17512
Interest payable and similar charges (305,837) (323,339
Met linance income & 21,468 21,817
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE
TAXATION 207 566 827 966
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 11 (128,902) {14:4,006)
PPROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER
TAXATION AND FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 24 168,664 683,960
Net revenue and operating profit of the company are derived from continuing operations in the current and prior years,
STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
for the vear gnded 31 December 2013
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Nole US5"000 US3000
Profit for the financial year 168,664 683,960
Actuarial (loss) f gain relating 1o the pension scheme 9 (T0.358) 60,356
UK. deferred tax attributable to the actuarial (loss) / gain 19 5712 (15,882)
TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND
SINCE LAST FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 107,018 130,434

The notes on pages 58 to 84 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Independent auditors’ report - page 54,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

BALANCE SHEET
3 sembe 3
31 December 2013 31 Decomber 2012
Mote US$000 LSS 000
FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assels 12 14,330 16,064
Invesiments 13 1,198 S00,880
15,537 516,944
CURRENT ASSETS
Financial instruments owned 14 459,841,270 561,492.911
Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral 14 20,203,531 24,986,812
Collmeralised agreements 15 235,854,255 221,527,555
Debnors 17 70,211,487 T0,208,531
Cash at bank and in hand 16 4,032,081 13,083,945
£16,202 624 801,299,754
CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased 14 (457.164.,133) (520.174.451)
Collateralised Minancing 18 (190,210.2848) (181,477 ,333)
Other creditors 20 (133,349.677) (155.199,958)
(780,724,658) (556,851,822)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 35477,9466 34,447,932
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 35403 503 34,964,876
CREDTORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN
ONE YEAR 21 (15,331,681) (14,968 588)
PROYISIONS FOR LIABILITIES 22 (17.740% (15,305)
NET ASSETS EXCLUDING PENSION SURPLUS 20, 144 082 19,950,983
Pension surplus 0,24 156,380 212470
NET ASSETS INCLUDING PENSION SURPLUS 20300471 20,193,453
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital . 231, M4 533447 533447
Share premium decount 24 2,862,936 2,862.936
Capital reserve {non-distributable) 24 17,286 17,286
Profit and loss account 24 16,886,802 16,779,784
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS® FUNDS 24 20,300,471 20,193,453

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 April 2014 and signed on its behalf by

‘P{L . [/,'m.n_

R. A. Vince
Director

The notes on pages 38 1o 84 form an integral pant of these financial statements,
Independent auditors’ report - page 54,
Company number: 0226395]
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2013

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a.  Accounting convention

The finangial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical cost convention
(maddified az explained in aotes Th, In, 1o and Ip), and i accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and
applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom. The principal accounting policies are set out below
and have Been applied consistently throughout the yvear,

b, Consoelidation

The company is a subsidiary undertaking of a company incorporated in Greal Britain and has elected not to
prepare consolidated Ninancial staternents as permitted by section 402 of the Companics Act 2006,

¢.  Hevenue recognition

Met revenue has been disclosed instead of turnover as this more meaningfully reflects the nature and results of
the company’s activities.  Net revenue, which is afier charging related expenses, includes the net profit arising
from wransactions in securities, foreign exchange and other Gnancial instruments, and fees and commissions
carned.  Relmted expenses include rading interest and dividends payable less trading interest and dividends
meceivable,

Financial assets and liahilities d for tradi

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading are recognised at fair value with realised and unrealised gains and
losses as well as associated interest and dividend income and expenses included in net revenue.  Financial
assels are marked 1o bid prices and financial liabilitics are marked 1o offer prices.  Fair value measurements do
ol inchude transaction cosis.

Investment Banking

Fees from Nnancial sdvisory engagements and underwriting revenues are recognised in profitand loss when the
relevant parties are contraciually bound and as contract activily progresses unless the right to consideration does
ol arise wall the occurrenes of a eritical event, in which ¢ase revenue 15 not recognised until that event has

occurrgd,

Expenses associated with such engagements are deferred until the related revenue s recognised or the
engagement is otherwise concluded. Expenses associated with inancial advisory engagements are recognised
in administrative expenses, net of client reimbursements.  Underwriting revenues ane presented net of related
EXPenses,

Investment Management

Management fecs are recognised on an acerual basis and are generally caleulaed as a percentage of a fund o &
separately managed account’s average net asset value and are recognised over the period that the related service
is provided,

Incentive fees are calculated as a percemtage of a fund's return or a percemiage of a fund’s excess return above a

specificd benchmark or other performance target.  Incentive fees are recognised only when all material
contingencies have been resolved.

Commiissi 1K

Revenue from commissions and fees from executing and clearing client transactions on stock, options and
futures markets is recognised in net revenue on the day the trade is executed,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

iNTS - 31 D]

ACCOUNTING FOLICIES (continued)
d.  Operating leases

The company has entered into operating lease arrangements wherg the company acts as the lessee.  Leased
assens are nol recognised on the balance sheet. Cosls in respect of operating leases, including any incentives
granted by the lessor, are charged on a siraight-ling basis over the lease term and ineleded within administrative
expenses i the profitand loss account.

e, Short-term employee benefits

Shori-term employee benefits, such as wages and salaries, are measured on an undiscounied basis and accrued as
an expense over the period in which the employee renders the service o the company.  Provision is made for
discretionary year end compensation whether 1o be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a resuli of
company policy and past practice, a constructive obligation exisis ai the balance sheet date.

f.  Share-based payments

Group Inc. issues awards in the form of restricted stock units ("RSUs") and stock options w the company’s
emplovees for services rendered 10 the company,  The eriginal ¢ost of share-based transactions with cmployees
1% measurcd based on the grant-date far value of the award.  Share-based avwards that do sot require future
service (e, vested awards, including awards granted w0 retirement eligible employees) are expensed
immediately.  Share-based awards that requing future service are amortised over the relevant service period.
Expected forfeiures are included in determiming share-based employes compensation expense,

Group Ing. sentles equity awards through the delivery of its ordinary shares, Group Inc. pays cash dividend
equivalems on outstanding BSUs,  The company has also entered into a chargeback agreement with Group Inc.
under which it is committed to pay to Group Inc. the market value at grant date as well as subsequent movements
i Fair value of those awards 10 Group D, at the tme of delivery 10 i1 employees.

g Forcign currencics

Transactions denominaied in foreign currencies are iranslated into ULS. dollars at rates of exchange ruling on the
date the ransaction occurred.  Monetary assets and liabilitics denominated in foreign currencies are translaned
imeo LS. dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.  Foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in operating profit.

h., Pension costs

Thi company is a sponsor of a defined contribution pension plan and a hybrid pension plan for the benefit of
certain employees, The hybrid pension plan has both a defined benefit section (“the Plan”) and a defined
coniribution section.  These are accounted for as follows:

*  For the defincd contribution pension plan and the defined contribution section of the hybrid pension plan, the
amount charged 0 operating profit in respect of pension cests 15 the comnbutions payable for the year.
Differences between contributions pavable for the vear and comributions actually paid are shown as cither
accruals or prepayments on the balance sheet.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
h. Pension cost (continued)

" For the Plan, the amounts charged 1o operating profit are (he current service costs, any past service ¢osts and
any gaing or losses on setlements and cortailments.  They are included as part of stafl costs.  The interest
cost and expected return on assels are shown as a net amount within net finance income,  Actuarial gains
and losses are recogmsed immediately in the statement of total recognised gains and losses. The Plan is
funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately [rom those of the company. in separate
rustee-administered funds.  Plan assets are measured at fair value and Man liabilitics are measured on an
actuanial basis using the projecicd unit method and discounted a1 arate equivalent to the current rate of returm
on a high-quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term o the scheme liabiliies,  Full actuarial
valuations are obtained at least iriennially and updated at each balance sheet date.  Any surplus or deficit of
Plan assets over Plan liabilitics is recognised on the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or liability (deficit),

i Dividends
Final equity dividends (including dividends payable on preference shares accounted for as cquity) are
recognised in ihe year thai they are approved by the direciors,  Inierim equity dividends are recognised in the
year that they are paid.  Dividends are debited directly to equity.

jo Tangible fixed assels
Tangible fixed assets are stated a0 cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for any impairment.

Depreciation is ingluded in administeative expenses and is provided on a siraight-line basis over the following
estimated useful lives:

Yoars

Fixtures, fittings and equipment 3.7

Leaschold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the useful economic life of the asset or the
remaining life of the lease when the asset is brought into use, Depreciation policies are reviewed on an annual
Irasis.

k. Fixed asset investrmenis

Fixed asset investments are stated at cost or amortised cost, as applicable, less provision for any impairment.
Amortisation is included in administrative expenses,

I Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly Tiquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less, which the company controls and has access to future
eeonomic benef from,

m.  Offsetting finameial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and linbilitics are offsct and the net amount presented in the balance sheet where there is:
= currenily a legally enforceable right io set off the recognised amounts: and
* intent o settle on a net basis or w realise the asset and settle the liability simultancously.

Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and liabilitics are presented on a gross basis on the balance
sheet,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2013

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
n. Financial instruments

Financial instruments owned and Onancial instruments sold, but not yet purchased are classified as held for
trading and recorded an fair value, The directors are of the apinion that it would nat be apprapriate to classify
them as current asset investments or lo provide an analysis of such sceuritics between those listed and unlisted.

Mon-trading financial instrumenis primarily comprise long-term subordinated deb and loan notes issued.  They
arg initially recognised an fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Finance costs, including
discounts allowed on issue, are charged to the profit and loss account and recognised using the effective interest
method,

o.  Fair value measurements

Financial assets and labilities held for trading are recorded at fair value. The fair value of a financial
instrument is the amount that would be received 1o sell an asset or paid 1o transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between markel paricipants at the measurement date, 1.e. the exit price.  Fimancial assets are marked
10 bid prices and financial labililies are marked o offer prices.  Fair value measurements do not include
Iransaction costs.  Fair value gams of losses are included in net revenue.  Certain financial assets and financial
liahilities are measured as a portfolio (i.c. based on it net exposure w market and / or eredit risks).

The best evidence of fir value 15 a quoted price in an active market.  If quoted prices in active markets ane not
available, fair value is determingd by reference o prices for similar instruments, quoted prices or recent
transactions in less active markets, or internally developed models that primarily wse market-based or
independently sourced parameters as inputs including, but not limited to, interest rates, volatilities, equity or
debt prices, foreign exchange rates, commodities prices, credit spreads and funding spreads (ic. the spread, or
difference, between the interest rate 30 which a borrower could finance a given financial instrument relative 1o a
benchmark interest rate).

UK. GAAIP has a three-level fair valee hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements. The fair value
hicrarchy prioritises inputs to the valuation technigues wsed to measure fair value, giving the highest priority w
level 1 inpuis and the lowest priority 1w level 3 inputs. A financial instrument’s level in the fair value hierarchy
is I::amd on the lowest level of input that is significant 1o its fair value measurement.  The fair value hierarchy is
as follows;

Level 1. Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets 1o which the firm hed access at the measurement
date for identical, unrestricied assets or liabilities.,

Level 2. Inputs 1o valuation technigques are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3. One or more inputs 1o valuation wechnigues are significant and unobservable.

Certain level 2 and level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities may require appropriate valuation adjustments
that a market participant would require to arrive at fair value for factors such as counterparty and G5 Group's
eredit qualivy, funding nisk, transfer restrictions, illiquidity and bid / offer spreads,  Valuation adjusiments arg
generally based on market evidence.

sh instr

Cash instruments include goverament and agency obligations, bank loans, corporate debl securities, cquitics and
convertible debenures, and other non-denivative financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, but
nof yel purchased,  Valuaiion technigues and significant inpuis for each level of the fair value hierarchy include:

*  Lewel 1 cash instrumenis that are valued using quoted prices for identical unrestricted instruments in active
markets,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i

Fair value measurements (continued)

* Level 2 cash instruments that are valued by v::rif_l,ling o quated prices, recent trading activity Tor identical or
similar instruments, braker or dealer quatations ar alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price
iransparency.  Consideration is given 1o the nature of the quoiations (g.g. indicative or firmy and the
relationship of recent markel activity 1o the prices provided from allernative pricing sources.

Valuation adjustments are typically made to level 2 cash instruments (i) if the cash instrument is subject 1o
wransfer restrictions and / or (ii) for other premiums and discounts that a market panticipant would require w
arrive at fair value.  Valuation adjustments are gencrally based on market evidence,

«  Level 3 cash instruments that have one or more significant valuation inputs that are net observable.  Abscnt
evidence o the contrary, level 3 cash instruments are initially walued a0 transaction price, which is
considered o be the best inttial estimate of Gur value.  Subsequently, the company uses cihier methodologies
to determine fair value, which vary based on the type of instrument.  Valuation inputs and assumptions are
changed when corroborated by substantive observable evidence, including values realised on sales of
financial assets.

", i‘ -

Derivatives may be traded on an exchange ("exchange-traded”) or they may be privately negotiated contracts,
which are usually referred to as OTC derivatives.  Certain of the company™s OTC derivatives are cleared and
settled through central clearing counterpanties (OTC-cleared'), while others arc bilateral contracts between two
counterpartics {‘bilateral OTC™). Valuation technigues and significant inputs for each level of the fair value
hi¢crarchy include:

#  Level 1 derivatives mclude short-term contracts for future delivery of securities when the underlying
security is a level 1 instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively traded and are valued at
their quoted market price.

+ Level 2 derivatives include OTC derivatives for which all significam valumtion inputs are corroborated by

market evidence and exchange-iraded derivatives that are not actively iraded and / or that are valued using
musicls that calibrate 10 market-clearing levels of OTC derivatives, In evaluating the significance of a
valuation input, the company considers, among other factors, a portfolio’s net risk exposure 1o that inpu.

The selection of a particular model to value an OTC derivative depends on the contractual werms of and
specific risks inherent in the instrument, as well as the availability of pricing information in the market.  For
derivatives that trade in liquid markeis, model selection does not involve significani management judgement
becanse outputs of models can be calibrated to market-clearing levels.

Valuation models require a variety of inputs, such as coniractual terms, market prices, yield curves, discount
rates (including those derived from interest rates on collateral received and posted as specified in credit
support agreements for collateralised derivatives), credit curves, measures of volatilivy, prepayment rates,
loss severity rates and correlations of such inputs.  Significant inputs to the valuations of level 2 derivatives
can be verified 1o market transactions, broker or dealer quotations or other alternalive pricing sources with
reasonable levels of price ransparency. Consideration is given to the nature of the quoiations (e.g.
indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity o the prices provided from aliernative
pricing sources,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

- 31 DECEMBER 2013

NOTES TO THE FINAN

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuwed)
.  Fair value measurements (continued)

+ Level 3 derivatives are valued using models which utilise observable level 1and £ or level 2 inputs, as well as
unobservable level 3 inputs. Unobservable inputs include cenain correlations as well as credit spreads,
equity volatility inputs, commesdity prices and commadity volatilities.

Subsequent to the initial valuation of a level 3 derivative, the company updates the level 1 and level 2 inputs
to reflect observable market changes.  Level 3 inputs are changed when corroborated by evidence such as
similar market transactions, third-party pricing services and [ or broker or dealer quotations or oiher
empirical market data.  In circumstances where the company cannot verily the model value by reference o
market transactions, it is possible that a different valuation model could produce a materially differem
estimate of fair value.

Where there is a difference between the initial transaction price and the fair value caloulated by internal models,
a gain or loss shall be recognised afier mitial recognition only 1o the extent that il anses from a change in a factor
{including time) thal market participants would consider in selling a price,

p.  Collateralised agreements and financing

Collateralised agreements (securities purchased under agreements (o resell and deposits placed as collateral fior
stock borrowed) and collateralised financing (securities sold under agreemems 1w repurchase and deposits
received as collateral for stock loans) are generally carried at fair value under the fair value oplion as they are
managed and performance evaluated on a fair value basis. The collaeral can be in the form of cash or
securitics.  Cash collateral is recognised / derccognised when received / paid,  Collateral posted by the
company in the form of securities 15 not derecognised from the balance sheet, whilst collateral received in the
form of sccurities is nol recognised on the balance sheel. I collateral received is subsequenily sold, the
obligation 1 return the collateral and the cash received are recognised on balance sheet.

q. Deferred taxation

Dreferred ax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated, but not reversed at the
balance sheet date, where transactions or evenis have ogourred at that date that will result in an obligation (o pay
more 1ax or 2 right to pay less tax in the futre with the following exceptions:

«  deferved tax assels are recognised only to the extent that the directors consider that it is more likely than not
that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying tming differcnces

can be deducted.

= deferred tax 15 measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected w apply in the periods in
which timing differences reverse, based on 1ax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date,

Deferred tax is recognised in the profitand loss account or direetly in the statement of total recognised gains and
losses according w where the associated gain or loss, to which the defermed tax is atributable, is recognised.

r. Financial liabilities and equity

Financial labilities and equity instruments are classified sccording to the substance of the contractual
arrangements.  An equity invesiment is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the asseis of the entity
after deducting all liabilities.  Instruments are evaluated to determine if they contain bodh liability and equity
components.  The initial carrying amount of a compound financial instrument is allocaied first to the liability
component, measured al fair value, and the equily is assigned the residual amount.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2013

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
5. Provisions and contingent liabilitics

Provisions are recognised i the financial statements when it is probable that an eotflow of ecconomic benefits
will be required o settle a present (legal or constructive) obliganon, which has arisen as a result of past evems,
and for which a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Legal obligations that may arise

a5 & resul of proposed new laws are recognised as abligations only when the legislation is virtually centain o be
enacted as drafied.

Contingeni liabilitics are:

+  possible ohligations that anse from past evens whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence, or
non-occurrence, of one or mone uncertain fulure events outside the control of the company; or

= present obligations that have arisen from past events but which are not recognized because either an outllow
of cconomic benefits is not probable or the amount of the obligations cannot be reliably measured.

Contingent liabilitics are not recognised in the financial statements.  However, disclosure is made unless the
prasbability of setlemant s remaote.

2. REPORTING AND DISCLOSURE EXEMPTIONS
a.  FRS1 (Revised 1996) “Cash Flow Statements”

The company is a greater than W96 subsidiary of Group Ine, whose consolidated financial statements inelude the
company and are publicly available and s, therefore, exempl from prepanng a cash Mow statement as required
by FRS1 (Revised 1996) “Cash Flow Statements”.

b. FR53 ‘Related Party Disclosures®

The company 15 a wholly-owned subsidiary of Group Inc. whose consolidated financial statements include the
company and are publicly available, As a result, under the terms of paragraph 3(c) of FRSS, ‘Relaed Party
Disclosures’, the company is exempl rom disclosing transactions with companies also wholly owned within
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc,

c. FRS529 (IFRST7) ‘Financial Instromenis: Disclosures’

The company is a greater than 90% subsidiary of Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited, whose consolidaied
financial statements include the company and are publicly available and is, therefore, exempt from the
disclosures required by FRS2% (IFRS7). *Financial Insirumenis: Disclosures”.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2013
NET REVENUE
The company”s net revenue is categorised imo the following business segments:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 Decembor 2003 31 Decemhber 2012
USS"000 LSS 000
Investment Banking 1,097,931 338016
Institutional Client Services 3,715,380 4,092, 144
Inwesting & Lending 164,940 455,339
Investment Management 178,431 192,592
5,156,685 5,578,091

In addition 1o transactions entered into with third parties, the company alsoe enters into transactions with affiliates i
the normal course of busingss as part of market-making and gencral operations, Revenues are allocated 1o, and
received from, such affiliates for these ransactions.

Investment Banking
Investment Banking is comprised of:

Financial Advisory. Includes sirategic advisory engagements with respeet 1o mergers and acquisitions, divestitures,
corporate defence activities, risk management, restructurings and spin-offs, and derivative transactions directly
related o these client advisory engagements,

Underwriting. Includes equity and debt underwriting of public offerings and private placements acrnoss a wide-range
of securitics and other inancial instruments, and derivative ransactions dircetly related o these client underwriting
aclivilies.

R LLATLA lient Servic
Instinutional Client Services is comprised of:

Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities Client Execution, Includes clien execution activities related 1o making
rmarkets in interest rate products, eredit products, mongages, currencies and commodities.

The company generates market-making revenues in these activities in three ways:

* In large, highly liquid markets, the company executes a high volume of transactions for clients for modest
spreads and fees;

*  In less liquid markets. the company executes transactions for clients for spreads and fees that are generally
somewhat larger; and

* The company also structures and executes ransactions involving custormised or tailor-made products that
address cliemis” risk exposures, investment objectives or other complex necds.

Equities. Includes client execution activities related 1o making markets in equity products and commissions and fees
from executing and elearing institutional ¢lient transagtions on major stock, options and futures exchanges worldwide,
as well as over-the-counter transactions.  Equities also includes the securities services business, which provides
financing, securilics lending and other prime brokerage services (o institutional eliems, including hedge funds, mutual
funds, pension funds and foundations, and generates revenucs primarily in the form of interest rate spreads or fees,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL

(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2013

NET REVENLE {continued)

nvesti ndi

Investing & Lending includes direct investments made by the company and revenues asseciated with providing

investing services 1o funds managed by GS Group.

Investment Management

Investment Management offers investment management and wealth advisory services, including  portfolio
management and financial counselling, and brokerage and other wansaction services o high-net-worth individuals and

familics,

G hical Analysi

Dusc to the highly integrated natre of internatonal inancial markets, the directors consider that the company operates
in a single global markel.  As a result, no disclosure of segmental information relating to the geographical origin of

results has been provided.

OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit is stated after charging / (crediting):
Depreciaion of wngible lixed assets (see note 12)

Loss on disposal of wngible fixed assets

Management fees charged by group undenakings (sce note a)
Management fees charged o group undenakings (see note a)
Foreign exchange (gain) / loss on long-term deb

Awsduors” remuneration for audit services ($¢¢ note b)

Operating lease rentals: - Jand and buildings

Trading interest payable: - group undertakings (see note ¢)
- other (Bee note ¢)

- group underiakings (see note d)
- other (see note d)

Trading interest receivahle:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2013 31 December 2012
VS5 000 LISS5T000
3,394 3,248

. 257

436,290 456,806
(440,232) (481,684)
(485) 1490

5,287 5,042
§3.889 Q3810
055,829 1,191,140
1307476 1,712,669
{147,303) (195,667
(2,103,502) (2.549,009)

a.  Administrative expenses includes management fees charged by group undenakings, and managemem fees
charged 1o group undertakings, relating to operational and administrative support and management services

provided to affiliates and received from affiliates, respectively,

k. The company has taken the exemption not to disclose fees payable to the auditor and its associates for non-audin
services as the conselidated Dnancial statements of Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited are required o disclose

such information on a consolidated basis,

¢. Trading interest payable primarily ncludes interest and dividends on cash instruments sold, but not yer
purchased, and intercst on collateralised financing and other borrowings reported within creditors, with the
exception of interest on long-term subordinated loans, which is presented in interest payable and similar charges

(see note 6 to the financial statemens).

d. Trading interest receivable primarily includes imterest and dividends on cash instruments owned and interest on

collateralised agreements,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)
MNOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2013
OTHER INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME
Year Emded Year Ended
31 December 2013 31 December 2012
LSS 000 US3"000
Dividend income - 2325
Otlier interest reccivable - 15,187
. 17,512
INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES
Year Ended Year Ended
3 December 2013 31 December 2012
LSS 000 USs'000
Payable to group undertakings 303,537 323,33

Imterest payable and similar charges payable o group undeniakings arise on long-term subordinated loans (see note
21a).

DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2003 31 December 2002
US55 000 LS5 000
Aggregate emoluments 4.737 5,533
Company pension contribulions 1o money purchase schemds 7 7
4,744 5,540
USS M USS 000
Highest paid director:
Aggregate emoluments and benefus 1 400 1,521
Company pension contributions 1o money purchase schemes 3 .

Accrued annual pension at end of year

In accordance with the Companies Act 2000, direclors’ emoluments above represent the proportion of total
emoluments paid or payable in respect of qualifying services only.  This total only includes the value of cash and
Benefits in kind, and does not include the value of equity awards in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 5 of 51
2008 F410.  Dircctors also receive emoluments for non-qualifying services which are not required to be disclosed.

One director is a member of a defined contnbution pension plan and one director is 3 member of the hybrid pension
plan (including the defined benefit section and defined comnbution seetion).  Five directors, including the highest
paid director, have been granted shares in respeet of leng-lerm incentive schemes during the year. None of the
directors, including the highest paid director, have exercised options during the year,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL

(unlimited company)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2013

STAFF COSTS

The average number of staff (employees including dinectors, and consultants and wemporary staff) is analysed below:

Year Ended Year Ended

3 December 20013 31 December 2012

Number MNumber

Employees including directors

Investment Banking 674 6064
Institutional Client Services 1.383 1,479
Investing & Lending 98 a6
Investment Management 503 493
Support Functions 2478 2,581
5,142 5,313
Consultants and temporary stafl 320 150
3462 5,663

The company has the use of a number of individuals who are employed by affiliated entitics and scconded o the
company. These seconded individuals are included in the disclosure of headcount and related siall costs.

Consultanms and wemporary s1aff costs are included in votal direet costs of employment, below,  Total headeount as at
31 December 2013 was 5,555 (2012: 5.563),

The employment costs incurred by the company, including those relating to direetors, were:

Year Ended Year Ended
M December 2013 M December 2012
LSS"000 USS"000
Aggrepgate gross wages and salaries 3,331,710 3,361,952
Employer’s Nanonal Insurance Comributions 373,016 365,340
Pension costs, emplover contributions to the:
Defined contribution plan and defined contribution section
of the hybrid pension plan 55,587 55,319
Defined benefit section of the hybrid pension plan 40,429 45227
Total direct costs of employment 3,300,742 3827838

Total direct costs of employment include a charge of LTSS 1,002 million (201 2: charge of 55793 million) relating to
the mark-to-market of share-based compensation.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCI TEMENTS - 31 DECEN

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS

The company sponsors an open pension plan with a hybrid strucware, having both a defined bencfit section ('the Plan™)
and a defined conribution section.  From 1 March 2008, this hybrid pension plan was closed 1o employees whose
employment commenced alter this date and was replaced by o defined contribution plan.

A full actuarial valuation of the Plan was carried out by a qualified independent actuary as at 31 December 2012 using
the projected unit funding method and updated 1o 31 December 2013,

The major Onancial assumptions used by the actuary underlving the funding of tie Plan which had the most significant
effeet on the pension cost are sel oul below:

Year Ended Year Ended

3 December 2013 3 December 2012

T prer arrim %o per annin

Discount rale 4,50 4,90

Rate of increase in salaries 4.00 4.00

Rate of inercase in pensions in payment

{post=30 Movember 1996 accrual) 3,40 330
Rate of increase in pensions in deferment

{post-30 November 1996 accrual) 2.60 240

.60 330

Rate of price inflation

In line with marketl practice the monality assumplions have been updated 1o be 561 based on the 'S5 1 series all pensionee
light' hase table with allowance for future improvements from 2002 onwards in ling with the CMI 2012 core
projections with a leng term rate of improvement of 1% per annuen.

Based on the actuarial review of the Flan, the directors have revised the following assumplion as they belicve it better
reflects the futere development of Plan liabilines:

s The difference between the Betail Prices Index (RPI) and Consumer Prices Index ('CPI") has been increased
from 0L99% per anrien W@ 10% per anmen sinee 31 December 2002, This change in assumplion decreased Plan
liahilities by US$14 million.

Thie assets in the Plan attributable to the company and the expected rates of retorn were:

31 December 2013 3 December 2012
Expected Market Expected Market
rate of return value  rate of return value
%o per annum US%m G per anmum USEm
Equities 7.1 060, 1 1.5 776
Bonds 4.0 4049 315 2877
Cash and reinvested cash 2.0 134.7 24 207.3
Total market value of assels 1,508.7 1.266.6
L
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{unlimited company)

\OTES TS - R 2013

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Development of the balance sheet:

31 Degember 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2013 2002 2011 2010 2009
1155m UVESm US3m US%m USSm
Market value of Plan assois 1,508.7 1,266.6 1,050.6 1,053.6 T44.9
Actuarial value of Plan liabilities 1,352.3 1.054.1 927.4 ER0.6 9021
Surplus / (deficit) in the Plan and

pension asscl £ (liability )

récognised in the balance sheet

before deferred taxation 156.4 212.5 132.2 16:4.0 (157.2)
The defined benefit cost was formed of the following componens:

Year Ended Year Ended
3 December 2013 31 December 2012
LSSm UJS3m
Amalysis of amounts charged to operating profit:

Current service cost 40.4 45.2
Total charged to operating profit 40.4 45.2
Analysis of the amount eredited to net finance income:

Interest on Plan liabilities 48.0 46.5

Expected return on assels in the Plan (701} (6%5.3)
Total eredited to net finance income (21.5) (21.8)
Total charged to profit and loss before tax 15.9 234
Analysis of amounts recognised in the statement of total

recognised gains and losses:

Actual less expected gain on assets 1111 512

Experience gain on liabilities 11.0 17.5

Loss on change in assumptions

(financial and demographic) {192.5) (14.3)
Total (lozs) / gain recognized in the statement of total
recognised paing and losses before tax (70.4) 60.4

0
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

History of experience gains and losses are as follows:

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Actual less expected gain f
(loss) on Plan assets:
Amount (USEm) 11,1 312 (101,13 14.0 107.0
9% of Plan assels at end off
the year T.4% 4.5% 0.5% 1.3% 14.4%
Experience gain on Plan
liabilitics:
Amount (US5m) 100 17.5 28.5 48.6 17.2
% of Plan liabilities a cnd
of the year 0.8% 1.7% 1% 3.5% 1.9%
Total actuarial (loss) f
gain recognised in
statement of total
recognised goins and
losses:
Amount (USSm) {70.4) 6.4 (51.9) 88.2 (300.5)
% of Plan liabilitics at cnd
of the year 5.2% 57% 5.6% 9.9% 33.3%
Analysis of the movement in Plan asscts during the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2013 31 December 2012
LiS5m LSSm
Plan assets at the start of the vear |, 26400 1,059.6
Expected return on Plan asseis 71.1 68,3
Mctual less expected gain on assels 1 7.2
Comnbutions paidd = Employer 23 357
Benefits paid 9.2 (1.3)
Foreign exchange gains on translation of Plan assets 168 5311
Plan assets at the end of the year 1,508.7 1,266.6
Analysis of the movement in plan liabilities during the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2013 31 December 2012
USsm USSm
Plan liatalies an the start of the year 1,054.1 9274
Current service cost 40,4 452
Imterest on Plan liabilities 49,6 46,5
Loss on change in assumplions 192.5 14.3
Expericnee gain on liabilitics (1.0 {17.5)
Benefs paid (9.2) (7.3)
Foreign exchange losses on wranslation of Plan liabiliies 35.9 455
Plan liabilities at the end of the year 1,352.3 1.054.1

K
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. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2013
PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
Analysis of the movement in surplus in the Plan during the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2013 31 December 20012
Us$m USSm
Surplus in the Plan at the start of the year 2125 132.2
Contributions paid - Employer iz3 357
Current $ervice cost (400.4) (43.2)
Met finance income 1.5 21.8
Actuarial (loss) / gain {T0.4) G4
Foreign exchange gains on ranslation of surplus 0.9 1.6
Surplus in the Plan at the end of the year 156.4 212.5
Additional disclosures:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2013 31 December 2012
LIS35m US%m
Expected future benefit payments for the year 1o
31 December 2004 / 31 December 2013 1.8 0.3
Expected contributions for the year o
31 December 2004 ¢ 31 December 20013 - Employer 41.9 6
Actual return on Plan assets during the vear ended
31 December 2003 731 December 2002
Expecied return on Plan assets .1 68.3
Actual less expected gain on assets 1101 57.2
Actual return on Plan assets 182.2 125.5

Cumulative amounts recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses since the adoption of

FRS17 Retirement Benefits:

31 December 2013 31 December 2002
USSm USSm
Actuarial loss relating 1o the pension scheme (101.3) (30.9)
UK. deferred tax attributable to the actuarial loss 02 11.5
Met cumulative amount recognised in the statement of total
recognised gains and losses (81.1) {19.4)
72
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

10,

EMENTS - 3

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Stock incentive plan

Group Ing., sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman Szchs Amended and Restated Siock Incentive Plan (2003)
(“the 2003 SIP'Y, which provides for, amongst others, grants of incentive stock options and restricied siock units
("RSUs"),

GSI recorded share-based compensation in respeet of the amortisation of granted equity awards, nel of forleilures, of
US5525 million for 2003 (2002; US3384 million). The comesponding credit to equity has been ransfermed 1o
liabilities as a result of the terms of the intercompany agreements with Group Ine.

Restricted stock units (*RSUs")

The ultimate parent company grants BR5Us io GS1's employees under the 20013 S1P. which are valued based on the
closing price of the underlying shares on the date of grant after taking into account a liguidity discount for any
applicable post-vesting transfer restrictions, RSUs generally vest and underlying shares of common steck deliver as
outlined in the applicable RSU agreements.  Employee-RSU agreements generally provide that vesting is aceelerated
in corain circumstances, such as on retirement, death, disability and conflicted employment.  Delivery of the
underlying shares of common stock 15 conditioned on the granices satisfying certain vesting and other requirements
outhined in the award agreements.  The activity related to these RSUS is 521 forth below:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Mo, of RSUs Mo. of RSUs
Mo Tuture Fulure No Tuture Future
SETYICT SCrvice SCTYICC SCTYIOE
requirciment  cequirenient requirement  requirement
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 5,000,853 2,533,081 7318780 5,042,532
Gramed 2,949,686 1,741,276 1,174,295 1,639,205
Forfeited (35.652) (209,059) {12,531} (488,277)
Drelivered (5.505,642) - (7,083 084) .
Transfieered in f (out) TAT1 (19.443) (28,427} (28,559)
Vesied 1,821,497 (1,821.497) 3,631,820 (3.631,820)
Ouistanding at the end of the year 4,237,013 2214358 5000853 2,533,081

The weighted average grant-date Gir value of the equity instrumems granted during 2003 was US5126,38 (2012:
US38T.55). The fair value of the RSUs granted during the year ended 31 December 2003 and the year ended 31
December 2002 includes a hgquidity discount of 11L.6% and 19.01%, respectively, 1o reflect post-vesting wransfer
restrictions of up to 4 years,

In the first quanter of 2004, Group Ine. granted 3.4 million year-end RSUs to (he company’s employees, of which 1.1
million B3Us require future service as a condition of delivery.  These awards are subject 1o additional conditions as
outlined in the award agreemenis.  Generally, shares underlying these awards, net of required withholding tax,
deliver aver a three-year period but are subject 1o post-vesting transfer restrictions through January 20019, These
awards are not included in the above table.
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THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Stock options

Stock aptions: gramed 1w employees generally vest as outlined in the applicable stock option agreement.  No options
have been granted since 2000, In general, stock options expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date, although
they may be subject 1o earlier wermination or cancellaion under certain circumstances in accordance with the wrms of
the applicable stock option agreement and The Goldman Sachs Amended and Bestaed Stock Incentive Plan (' S11F) in
effect an the time of grant.  The activity related o these stock options is sct forth below:

Ouwtstanding at the beginning of the year

Exercised
Expired

Ouistanding at the end of the year

Exercisable at the end of the year

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Weighied Weighted

a\'rmge I“'EI.'HKE

Mo, of share CREFCise Mo. of share EXerCise
oplions  price (US%) oplions price (US3)
10,256,821 G055 10,875,522 B0.89
{41,542) SR (616,250) 78.95
{540y S8 (2,451} T8.87
10,214,739 90,53 10,256,521 90.55
10,214,739 9053 10,256,521 90,55

For those aptions exercized during the year, the weighted average share price at the date of exereise was USS153.08
(2002: USS118.82). The opions outstanding as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2002 are sct forth below:

3 Déecember 2013 31 December 2012
Weighted Weighted
average average
Mo, of share remaining Mo, of share remaining
options  contraciual oplions contractual
outstanding life {years) outstanding life (years)
Exercise Price
£75.00-580.90 Q078,705 5.00 4,078,700 6.00
SO0.00-5119.99 - - 42,082 0.2
S120000-5 134,599 288,720 .92 288,720 2.9
S135.00-5194.99 - . - .
S195.00-8209.99 247,310 351 847,310 4.51
Outstanding at the end of the year 10,214,739 10,256,821
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2013
11.  TAX ON FROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
o Analysis of tax charge for the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
M December 2013 3 December 2012
155" I IS5 0
Current tax:
LLK. corporation 1ax 151,241 243 804
Adjustments in respect of previous periods 2,275 (30,343)
Overseas taxalion 50,153 50,447
Total current tax (sce note 11h) 212,669 263,908
Deferred tax:
Provisions and other timing differences (117,580) (148,721}
Effect of decreased tax rale on opening assel IRNT7 28,523
Adjustments in respect of previous periods {4,504) 296
Total deferred tax (see note 19) (83,767) (119,902
Tax charge on profit on ordinary activitics 128,902 144,006

b. Factors affecting tax charge for the year:

The difference between the wtal current tax shown above and the amount calculaed by applying the weighted average
ratiz of UK. corporation tax applicable to the company for the year of 23.25% (2012: 24.5%) to the profit on ordinary
activities before tax is as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

LSS 000 LI5S 00

Profit on ordimary activities bBefore tax 207,566 827066
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate in the UK.

23.25% (2012 24.5%) 64,154 202,852
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 30,764 17.547
Accelerated capital allowances and other timing differences (10.529) {14,454)
Timing differences in respeet of share-based compensation 178,608 174,187
Permanem differences (29,2300 {B6.624)
Pension contribution reliel in excess of net pension cost charge (1.831) {1,330)
Tax losses surrendered from group undertakings for nil consideration {30018) {1,339)
Exchange differences and other 446 3412
Adjusiment to tax in respect of prior perieds 2,275 (30,343)
Current tax charge for the year 212,669 263,908

The timing differences in respect of share-based compensation comprises the net tax effect of the amounts charged 1o
the: profit and loss account during the year and awards delivered o employeces during the year.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
The movements in tangible fixed assets during the year were as follows:
Fixtures,
Leasehold fittings &
Improvements equipment Total
LSS 000 USS"000 LS5 000
Cost
AL 31 December 2012 24,628 0,638 31,266
Additions 374 1,295 1,669
Disposals (2) 12y (14)
At 31 December 2013 25,000 7,921 32,921
Depreciation
A3l December 2002 10,501 3,701 15,202
Charge for the year (sce note 4) 2712 682 3394
Disposals (2} {12} {14}y
A3 December 2003 14,211 4371 15,582
Net Book Value
At 3] December 2013 10,759 3,550 14,339
At 31 December 2012 13,127 2,937 16,064
FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Other
Sharesin investments,
subsidiary ather than
undertakings loans Total
US$'000 USS"000 USE 000
Cost
Al 31 December 2012 400,632 1,267 500,940
Additions 296,162 206,162
Digposals (T95,844) (795,344}
AL 31 Drecember 2013 - 1,267 1,267
Amertisation
At 31 December 2012 69 69
Charge for the year -
A3 December 2003 - 6% 69
Met Book Value
A3 December 2003 - 1,198 1,198
AL 31 December 2012 499,652 1,198 500,880

Other investments, other than loans consists of exchange memberships,  The directors consider that the fair value of
investments in subsidiary undenakings and other invesiments, other than loans is not less than their book value.

0
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13 FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)
Thie subsidiaries over which the company exercises control at the year end are listed below:
Holding and
Country of proportion of  Class of units / Number Nature of

Name of company incorporation  voling rights  shares held held Dbusiness
Goldman Sachs International Orrddinary

Investments Limited Gireat Britain — 1004% shares 2 Mon-trading
Goldman Sachs (Cayman) Cayman Ordinary Financial

Limitec Islands 100% shares 250 SErVICes
Ipopema 20 Fundusz Inwestycyjny Investment

Lamknicly Poland 100 J o fund

* This subsidiary undenaking is included in the financial statements on the basis of control obtained other than
through voting righes attached to shares.

During the year, the following movements in shares in subsidiary undertakings took place:

The company acquired additional vnits for BRL595 million (US5296 million) and redeemed units for BRL1,240
million (US3569 million) in Sphere Fundo De Investimente Multimercado - Investimento Mo Exterior Cradito
Privado {"Sphere Fundo')., The company then transferred its remaining units in Sphere Fundo 1o Goldman Sachs
Group UK Limited, a fellow group undertaking. The consideration of USS191 million was sanshed by way of a
short-term loan. The company realised a net loss on this investiment of USS36 million due 1o the weakening of
Brazilian real against U5, dollar over the life of the investment.

On 22 November 2003, the company was alloted 2 ondinary shares of USS1 cach issued by Goldman Sachs
International Investments Limited, for a total consideration of (1552,

On 13 December 2013, the company sold 100 ordinary shares of USS1 each, being the entire share capital issued by
Goldman Sachs Europe Limited to Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (ULK.) Limited, a fellow group undertaking, fora
total consideration of USS100,  There was ao gain or loss on sale,

On 23 December 2013, the company sold 2 ordinary shares of £2 cach, being the cntire share capital issued by
Goldman Sachs Securities {Nominees) Limited to Goldman Sachs Holdings {ULK.). ihe company’s immediate parent
undertaking, for a wotal consideration of £2 (U553,  There was no gain or loss on sale.

The company has interests in a number of special purpese vehicles and capital-guaraniced funds which do not meet
the definition of a legal subsidiary, but give rise o the risks and rewards that are, in substance, no di fferent than 0 they
were legal subsidiaries.  The activities of these special purpose vehicles and the capital-guaramesd funds consist of
the isswance of loan notes under the terms of a repackaging programme. These vehicles are consolidated in the
financial statements of Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited.
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14,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2013

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OWNED AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SOLD, BUT NOT YET

PURCHASED

Financial instruments owned and financial instruments sobd, but not yet purchased comprize financial instruments and

investments within the operating activities of the company.,

Financial instruiments owned pledged as collateral

represents financial instruments owned and pledged 10 counterpartics that have the right to deliver or repledge.

Fimancial instrumenis owned, including financial instrumenis pledged as collateral, comprises:

Cash instruments:

Government and agency obligations
Equities

Corporate debt

Commercial paper

Derivative instroments:
Interest male

Credit

Equity

Fareign currency
Commodities

Financial instruments owned
Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral

Financial instruments sold, but not vet purchased comprises:

Cash instrumenis:

Government and agency obligations
Equitics

Corporate debt

Derivative instruments:
Interest rate

Credit

Equity

Foreign currency
Commedities

3 December 2013 31 December 2012
USE' 000 LISEM000
20,892,333 25,492,194
34,740,279 33,955,630
11,826,957 12,230,613
3,301,803 475,132
70,851,372 72,203,569
236,486,102 208,333,723
T1.176,857 104,822,971
68,647,432 65,673,030
57238024 40,281,289
5705014 5,165,141
445,253,429 314,276,154
516,104,801 586,479,723
489,841,270 561,492,911
26,263,531 24,986,812
516,104,801 586,479,723
31 December 2013 31 December 2012
LIS5"000 LSS 000
10,325,775 13,506,781
13,775,194 11,813,137
2663618 2,881,237
26,764,587 28,201,155
231,757,981 204,450,307
70,760,557 93,313,839
65,413,495 59,839,160
57063,641 39,724,702
3,403,872 4,045,288
430,399,546 491,973,296
457,164,133 520,174,451
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(unlimited company)

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2013

COLLATERALISEIY AGREEMENTS

Included within the collateralised agreements are amounts of USS133,304 million (2012: US$122.974 million) which
relate W group underiakings.

CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Following changes in industry practice governing <hent money, the accounting treatment in respect of ¢lient money
held under the FCA's CASS Chapler 7 has changed.  As at 31 December 20013, USS9,868 million of cash at bank and
in hand and USS7.458 million of debtors are no longer weated as the company’s assets with a corresponding liability
of 5517326 million in other creditors,  The directors believe that the company has neither access o significant
benefits from the asset nor sufficient control W meet the required definition of assets.  In the prior year, cash at bank
and in hand and debtors included US$9,947 million and US$5,316 million, respectively, in respect of clicnt money,
with a corresponding liability of USS15,263 million in other creditors.

DEBTORS
M December 2003 31 December 2002
LISS"000 UISE" 000
Amaounts due from broker / dealers and customers 54,460,372 54,823,699
Amounts due from parent and group undenakings 15,025,954 14,782,022
Deferred 1ax (see note 19) 583,535 492 370
Other debiors 44,250 30,971
Prepayments and accrued income .2 8,858
Corporation tax receivable 75,155 0,611
70,211,487 70,208,531

As at 31 December 2013, USET 458 million of debtors are no longer treated as the company's assets with a
corresponding liability in odher creditors (see note 16). Of this amount, U533,355 million relates o amoums due
from broker / dealers and customers and US54,103 million relates to amoumts due from parcnt and group
undertakings.  In the prior year, debtors included USSS5,3 16 million, in respect of client money, with a corresponding
liahility in other creditors. OF this amount, US$1,571 million relates 1o amounts due from broker / dealers and
customers and 553,745 million relates w amounts due from parent and group underakings.

Of the amounts due from broker / dealers and customers, US$180 million {20012; US5165 million) is due in more than
one year.  This relates o secured lending on a collateralized debi obligation.

The remaining debtors are all due within one year of the balance sheet date.
COLLATERALISED FINANCING

Included within collateralised financing are amounts of S35 100,993 million (201 2: USS106,135 million) which relate
1o group undertakings.

DEFERRED TAX
3 December 2013 31 December 2002
LSS 000 LSS 000
Deferred tax balance comprises (sec note 17):
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 2960 6,630
Post-retirement benelits (31,278) (36.128)
Other timing differemees 611,853 521,868
583,535 492,370

9
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. MEBER 2013

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

US$'000
The movements in the deferred tax balance were as follows:
At 31 December 2002 492,370
Tianslen to tie paofin and Toss gocount [ Uie vea (see nole 11a) 33,707
Transfer to the statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year 3712
Foreign exchange losses (1,314}
AL 31 December 2013 583,535

Other timing differences mainly relates to deferred tax in respect of share-based compensation.

OTHER CREDITORS
Other creditors. all of which are pavable within one year of the balarce sheet date, comprise:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

LSS 000 LS$" 000
Bank loans and overdralis 70,505 432324
Dbt securities issued (s¢e note a) 18,960,736 16,202 350
Amounts due o broker / dealers and customers (zee note b) JRA57.370 T7.463,307
Amounts due to parent and group undenakings (see note b and c) 33,130,793 58,806,627
Amounts duc to subsidiary undenakings = 1,444
Accrual for management charges payable 1o parent and group
undertakings (see note 21d) 1,523,525 1,112,336
Oiher taxes and social security cosis 234419 211,513
Other ereditors and accruals 473,020 875,087
133,349 677 155,109,988

a. O debi securities issued, USS6,724 million (201 2: USS5,343 million) is secured by securitics which have been
pledged as collateral, of which LIS$437 million (20012: US3758 million) relates to amounts due w parent and
group underakings and USS6,287 million (2012 USS4.585 million) relates (o third parties, This pledged
collateral is ¢ither recognised within financial instruments owned or sourced through eollateralised agreements.

OF deb securities issued, USS12,237 million (2012: USS10,949 million) is unsecured, of which US33,820
million {2002: USS3430 million) relaies 1o amounts due 1o parent and group undenakings and USS8417
million {2012 USS7.519 million) relates o amounts due to third pantics,

b, Asat 31 December 2003, USS17,326 million of other creditors are na longer iréated as the company”s habilities
(see note 16),  Of this amount, USS13.913 million relates to amounts due to broker / dealers and customers and
US53,413 million relates to amownts due to parent and group undertakings.  In the prior year, other creditors
included USS15.263 million, in respect of client money.  OF this amount, USS12.667 million relates to amounts
due 1o broker / dealers and customers and USS2,596 million relates to amounts due to parent and group
undertakings.

¢, Of amounts dug w parent and group undenakings, USS$3T.857 million (20012: US$41438 million) relates o
short-term unsecured borrowings from affiliates, including Group Inc.
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) CCEMBER 20
21.  CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

USS"000 VS5 000

Loag-term subordinated loans (see note a) 3,458 (MK 9,508,000

Dbt securitivs ssued (see note b) 4,205,847 3. 784,372

Amounts due to parent and group undertakings (see note ¢) 3,549,630 B208T7H
Aderual for management charges payable wo parent and group

undertakings (sec note d) 1,108,204 §35,338

15,331,681 14,968,588

a.  The amounts outstanding at 31 December 2003 and 31 December 2002 include long-teem subordinated loans
from group undertakings. The loans are unsecured and carry interest at a margin over the U.S. Federal
Reserve’s federal funds rate. The margin is reset on a periedic basis o reflect changes in the GS Group's
weighted average cost of debt.  Long-term subordinated loans of US$6,458 million (20012: US59,508 million)
constitute regulatory capital as approved by the PRA, which is repayable otherwise than by instalments subject
to PRA approval and upon giving or receiving at least five years” notice w or from the group undenakings.

b.  The maturity of debt securities issued due after more than one year is as follows:

31 December 2003 31 December 2012

USS'000 LS5'000

In more than one year, but not more than two years 967877 1,478,957
In more than two years, bul not more than five years 1990917 DE60T
In more than five years 1,247,053 1,319,336
4,205,847 3,784,372

Of debt securities issued, USS2.050 million (2002: US52,266 million) is secured by securities which have been
pledged as collateral, of which U$$545 million (2012; US3775 million) relates to amounts dug (o parent and
group undertakings and USS1,505 million (2002: USS1,491 million) relates to third partics.  This pledged
collateral is ¢ither recognised within finangial instraments owned or sourced through collateralised agreements,
Amaunts due in more than five years prédoninantly relate 1o structored debt securities with maturities falling
from 2001910 2050. Payments on these securitics are typically referenced 1o underlying financial asseis, which
are predominately interest rate related.

OF debt securities issued, US32,156 million (2012: USS1,518 million) is unsecured, of which USS102 million
(2002 USS241 million) relates to amoums due to parent and group undertakings and US32,054 million (2012:
LIS31,277 million) relanes to amounts due to third parties,

e Amounts doc o parent and group undertakings relates 1o long-term wnsecured borrowings from affiliates.  As an
31 December 2003, this includes a loan of USS400 million (2012: USS400 million) advanced by Restamove
Ircland Limited, a fellow group undertaking, under the terms of an uncommitted loan facility dated 26 June
2002, The facility is unsecured, carries interest at a variable rate and has a matrity of 1 July 2022,

d.  The accrual for management charges (per above and note 20) is in respect of RSUs and Long-Term Incentive
Plans,
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PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

US$"000
Ad 1 January 2013 15,305
Charg: to the profit and loss account 5,000
Uiliged during the year (2,939}
Foreign exchange loss 4
A3l December 2013 17,740

The provision of USSIE million was made in respect of legal clams made against e company. Funber details
relating 1o the provision have not been disclosed as permitted by accounting standard FRS12, “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, on the grounds that it would be seriously prejudicial o do so.

SHARE CAPITAL
A3 December 2002 and 31 December 2003 share capital comprised:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
No., USs'000 Mo, USS"000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of UUISS1 cach 533,447,150 333447 533447150 533447
533,447 533,447

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS® FUNDS AND MOVEMENTS ON
RESERVES

Share Capital reserve Profit

Called up premium mon-  and loss
share capital account  distributable) account Total
Us$'000 Us$to00 US$"000  USSW000  US$'000
At 1 January 2012 511,123 2,885,260 17,286 16,049,350 19,463,019
Profit for the financial year - - . GR3 060 (83,060
Onher recognised gains for the year - - - 46,474 46,474
Share-based payments (see note 10) . . . 384,256 384,256

Management recharge related 1w
= = (3B4256)  (384,250)

share-based payments .
Shares issued 34,1589 1,238,002 - 1,272m
Preference shares repaid (1L,865)  (1,260,326) - - (1,272,191)
At 1 January 20013 533447 2862936 17,286 16,779,784 20,193,453
Profit for the Minancial year - - - 168,604 168,664
Cther recognised losses for the vear . - . (61.646) (61,546)
Share-based payments (sec note 10) - - - 524,935 524,935

Management recharge related 1o
share-based paymenis . = (324935) (524,935

At 3 December 2013 533447 2862936 17,286 16,886,802 20,300,471
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1 DECEMBER 201

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS AND MOVEMENTS ON

RESERVES {continucd)

Pension reserve

M December 2003 31 December 2012
US$"000 LSS 000

Profit and loss account excleding pension surplus 16,730,413 16,567.314
Pension surplus (36¢ note 9) 156,389 212470
Profit and loss account 16,586,802 16,779,754

DIVIDENDS PAID

The directors do not recommend the payment of an ordinary dividend in respect of the year (2002: USSnil),

FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The company s financial commitments and contingencies outstanding at the year end arise from contingent and
forward starting resale and securities borrowing agreements, forward starting repurchase and secured lending

agreements, commitments to extend credit, letters of eredit and other commitments, entered into in the ordinary
course of busingss,  In addition, there are regisiered charges on the company”s assets which have ansen in the

ordinary course of business.

b.  The company leases cenain buildings on long-term leases,  Under these leases, which are subject 1o
renegotiation at vanous imtérvals specified in the leases, the company pays all insurance, maintenanes and repairs
of these propertics.  The rentals that the company 15 committed o pay in the next year are as follows:

M December 2003

3 December 20012

USS"000 US3 000
Maturity of lease:
Less than one year G 104
Between one and two yvears 221 1311
Between two and five vears 1,274 1,204
Ower fivie years 100,824 99,916
104,228 102,617

. The company is involved in the below legal proceedings, however it is not practicable to estimate an impact, if

any, of these proceedings.

i.  The European Commission announced in April 201 1 that it was initiating procecdings to investigate further
numerows Tinancial services companies, including GSIL in connection with the supply of data related 1o
eredit default swaps and in connection with profit sharing and fee arrangements for clearing of credin
default swaps, including potential anticompetitive practices.  On 1 July 2013, the Evropean Commission
issued 1o those financial services companics a Statement of Objections alleging that they colluded 1o limit
competition in the trading of exchange-traded unfunded credit derivatives and cxchange trading of credin
defaul swaps more generally, and selling out its process for determining ines and other remedies. G31's
current undérstanding is that the proceedings related to profit sharing and fee arrangements for clearing of

credit default swaps have been suspended indefinmitely.
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26, FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

ii.  Various alleged purchasers of, and coumterpartics involved in tramsactions relating to, monigage
pass-through certificates, COO: and oller mongage-related producis (ingluding Aozera Bank, Lid., Basis
Yield Alpha Fund (Master), Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschafibank and IKB Deatsche Industrichank: AG)
have fled complaints in the United States against the company and cerain of is afflises, generally
alleging thai the offering decuments for the secuniies that ihey purchased contained unirue statemenis of
material fact and material omissions and generally secking rescission and f or damages.  Certain of these
complaints allege fraud and seck punitive damages.

il G313 the defendant in an action [led on 21 Januvary 2014 with the High Court of Justice in London by the
Libyan Investment Awthority, relating o nine derivative transactions between the plaintfT and GS1 and
secking, among other things, rescission of the wransactions and unspecified equitable compensation and
damages exceeding USS1 billion,

27.  ULTIMATE AND IMMEDIATE PARENT UNDERTAKINGS

The immediate parent undentaking is Goldman Sachs Holdings (UK.}, The parent company of the smallest group for
which consolidated financial siaiemenis are prepared is Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited. Both companies are
incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales. Copies of Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited's
consolidated financial staements are available on request from The Company Secretary, Goldman Sachs Group UK
Limited, Peterborough Court, 133 Fleet Street, London EC4A 28R, United Kingdom.

The ulimate contrelling undertaking and (he parent company of the largest group for which consolidated financial
statements are prepared is The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., a company incorporated in the United States of America.
Copics of s consolidated financial statements, as well as cermain regulatory filings. for example Forms 10-Q and
10-K, that provide additional information on the GS Group and its business activities, can be obtained from Investor
Relations, 200 West Street, New York, NY 10282, United Staes of America, the GS Group's principal place of
business. or al www.goldmansachs.comisharcholders/,
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12 31
2012 2011
3 5,578,001 572,033,232 5,131,538 526,239,222
(4,466,115) (458,000,093) (2,059, 618) (211,213,826)
4 1,111,976 114,033,139 3,071,920 315,025,396
5 17,512 1,795,856 115,087 11,802,172
6 (323,339) (33,158,414) (105,826) (10,852, 456)
9 21,817 2,237,333 28,180 2,889,859
827,966 84,907,913 3,109,361 318,864,971
11 (144,006) (14,767,815) (683,958) (70,139,893)
24 683,960 70,140,098 2,425,403 248,725,078
12 31
2012 2011
683,960 70,140,098 2,425,403 248,725,078
9 60,356 6,189,508 (51,852) (5,317,423)
19 (13,882) (1,423,599) 12,963 1,329,356
730,434 74,906,007 2,386,514 244,737,011
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2012 12 31 2011 12 31

12 16,064 1,647,363 8,211 842,038
13 500,880 51,365,244 5,236 536,952
516,944 53,012,607 13,447 1,378,990
14 561,492,911 57,581,098,023 603,488,261 61,887,721,166
14 24,986,812 2,562,397,571 19,390,650 1,988,511,158
15 221,527,555 22,717,650,765 238,648,388 24,473,392,189
16 70,208,531 7,199,884,854 65,821,968 6,750,042,818
17 13,083,945 1,341,758,560 14,776,833 1,515,364,224
891,299,754 91,402,789,773 942,126,100 96,615,031,555
14 (520,174,451)  (53,343,889,950)  (557,537,032)  (57,175,422,632)
18 (181,477,383)  (18,610,505,627)  (177,025,702)  (18,153,985,740)
20 (155,199,988)  (15,915,758,769)  (173,298,319)  (17,771,742,613)
(856,851,822)  (87,870,154,346)  (907,861,053)  (93,101,150,985)
34,447,932 3,532,635,427 34,265,047 3,513,880,570
34,964,876 3,585,648,034 34,278,494 3,515,259,560
21 (14,968,588) (1,535,028,699) (14,941,638) (1,532,264,977)
22 (15,305) (1,569,528) (5,991) (614,377)
19,980,983 2,049,049,807 19,330,865 1,982,380,206
9,24 212,470 21,788,799 132,154 13,552,393
20,193,453 2,070,838,605 19,463,019 1,995,932,598
23,24 533,447 54,704,990 511,123 52,415,664
24 2,862,936 293,594,087 2,885,260 295,883,413
( ) 24 17,286 1,772,679 17,286 1,772,679
24 16,779,784 1,720,766,849 16,049, 350 1,645,860, 843
24 20,193,453 2,070,838,605 19,463,019 1,995,932,598
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r.
a. FRS (1996 )
90
FRS (1996 )
b. FRS
FRS ©
c. FRS 29 (IFRS )
U.K.) 90
FRS 29 (IFRS )
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
838,016 925,807
4,092,144 4,010,651
455,339 (36,545)
192,592 231,625
5,578,091 5,131,538

M&A
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2012 12 31 2011 12 31
)
( 12 ) 3,248 2,928
257 —
13 ) — 2
456,806 400,740
(481,684) (236,134)
/C ) 1,490 (2,454)
5,042 5,689
93,810 97,827
1,191,140 1,078,352
1,712,669 2,851,540
(195,667) (196,021)
(2,549,099) (3,804,394)
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( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
— 115,087
2,325 —
15,187 —
17,512 115,087
( )
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
323,339 105,826
( 21a )
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
5,533 4,491
7 9
5,540 4,500
1,521 1,350
(
( )
( )
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2012 12 31 2011 12 31
664 672
1,479 1,616
9 105
493 486
2,581 2,830
5,313 5,709
350 534
5,663 6,243
2012 12 31 5,563 (2011 12 31 5,953 )
2012 12 31 151 (2011 12 31 164 )
2012 12 31 152 (2011 12 31 162 )
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
3,361,952 898,265
365,340 146,127
( ) 55,319 58,831
45,227 42,710
3,827,838 1,145,933
793 (2011 12 31
1,823 )
(
) 2008
2012 31 2012 12 31
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
() ()
4.90 4.90
4.00 4.00
(199 11 30 ) 3.30 3.40
2.40 2.20

(1996 11 30 )

177/306



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OJooooooooogodo
3.30 3.40
S1
) 2009 2009
2011 12 31
0.45
162.4
2011 12 31 RPI ( CPI )
1.2 0.9 RPI 0.1
14.3
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
) () ( )
771.6 8.2 638.4
287.7 3.4 142.4
207.3 3.1 278.8
1,266.6 1,059.6
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31 2010 12 31 2009 12 31 2008 11 28
1,266.6 1,059.6 1,053.6 744.9 524.1
1,054.1 927.4 889.6 902.1 395.0
% ) 212.5 132.2 164.0 (157.2) 129.1
/(
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
45.2 52.3
45.2 52.3
46.5 49.4
(68.3) (77.6)
(21.8) (28.2)
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OO000000000000
23.4 241
(57.2) 101.1
(17.5) (28.5)
) N 14.3 (20.7)
C ) (60.4) 51.9
2012 12 31 2011 12 31 2010 12 31 2000 12 31 2008 11 28
(57.2) 101.1 (14.0) 115.8
4.5 9.5 1.3 2.1
(17.5) (28.5) (48.6) (15.9)
1.7 3.1 5.5 4.0
(60.4) 51.9 (88.2) (153.9)
5.7 5.6 9.9 39.0
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
1,059.6 1,053.6
68.3 77.6
) 57.2 (101.1)
35.7 43.8
(7.3) (8-.5)
/¢ ) 53.1 (5.8)
1,266.6 1,059.6
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
927.4 889.6
45.2 52.3
46.5 49.4
/C) 14.3 (20.7)
(17.5) (28.5)
(7.3) (8.5)
/¢ ) 45.5 (6.2)
1,054.1 927.4
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( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
132.2 164.0
35.7 43.8
(45.2) (52.3)
21.8 28.2
/C ) 60.4 (51.9)
7.6 0.4
212.5 132.2
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
2013 12 31 /2012 12 31 9.3 8.2
2013 12 31 /2012 12 31 33.6 36.0
2012 12 31 /2011 12 31
68.3 77.6
/C ) 57.2 (101.1)
125.5 (23.5)
FRS 17
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
(30.9) (91.3)
11.5 25.4
(19.4) (65.9)
10.
( GSI )
( RSU
) (
SIP )
GSl 384 2012 12
31 (2011 12 31 879 )
(RSU)
SIP GSI RSU RSU
RSU RSU
RSU
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RSU
( RSU )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
7,318,780 5,042,532 11,090,072 8,791,254
1,174,295 1,639,205 1,817,659 2,391,093
(12,531) (488,277) (52,758) (521,016)
(7,083,084) — (11,146,411) —
« (28,427) (28,559) 50,979 (59,560)
3,631,820 (3,631,820) 5,559,239 (5,559,239)
5,000,853 2,533,081 7,318,780 5,042,532
2012 12 31 87.55 (2011 12 31
145.58 ) 2012 12 31 2011 12 31
RSU 19.1 9.5
2013
RSU4.3 1.6 RSU
2017
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
10
SIP
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
= ) = )
10,875,522 89.89 11,935,923 90.07
— — (7,681) 78.38
— — 57,090 76.25
(616, 250) 78.95 (534,972) 90.69
(2,451) 78.87 (574,838) 91.61
10,256,821 90.55 10,875,522 89.89
10,256,821 90.55 7,741,204 94.39
118.82 (2011 12 31
135.40 ) 2012 12 31 2011 12 31
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2012 12 31 2011 12 31

75.00 89.99 9,078,709 6.00 9,694,275 6.64

90.00 104.99 42,082 0.92 45,217 1.92

120.00 134.99 288,720 2.92 288,720 3.92

195.00 209.99 847,310 4.51 847,310 5.51

10,256,821 10,875,522
11.
a.
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
243,804 26,649
(30,343) (52,506)
50,447 32,420
( 11b ) 263,908 6,563
(148,721) 617,648
28,523 59,713
296 34
( 19 ) (119,902) 677,395
144,006 683,958
b.
24,5 (2011 12 31 26.5 )
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
827,966 3,109,361
24.5 (2011 26.5 ) 202,852 823,980
17,547 25,156
(14,454) (19,443)
174,187 (648,414)
(86,624) (105,263)
(1,330) (5,714)
(1,339) (16,408)
3,412 5,175
(30,343) (52,506)
263,908 6,563
12.
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2011

2012

2011

2012

2012
2011

2012 12 12

12

12

12

12

12
12

12

12

12

12

12
12

31

31

31

31

31
31

31

31

31

31

31
31

100
50,000

15,128
9,500

24,628

8,982
2,519

11,501

13,127

6,146

3,971

495,761
0)

499,682

499,682

3,971
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( )
5,564 20,692
1,858 11,358
(784) (784)
6,638 31,266
3,499 12,481
729 3,248
(527) (527)
3,701 15,202
2,937 16,064
2,065 8,211

( )
1,334 5,305
— 495,761
(67) i
1,267 500,949
69 69
69 69
1,198 500,880
1,265 5,236

496
( )
50,000
( )
( )
)
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14.

100 727,141
100 100
100 2
(U.K.)
(
2012 12 31 2011 12 31

25,492,194 29,915,708

33,955,630 20,231,295

12,280,613 14,426,233

475,132 1,618,408

72,203,569 66,191,644

298,333,723 240,862,676

104,822,971 178,726,259

65,673,030 82,389,998

40,281,289 47,125,406

5,165,141 7,582,928

514,276,154 556,687,267

586,479,723 622,878,911

561,492,911 603,488,261

24,986,812 19,390,650

586,479,723 622,878,911

(
2012 12 31 2011 12 31

13,506,781 16,898,751

11,813,137 14,556,429

2,881,237 3,037,981

28,201,155 34,493,161
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294,450,307 235,873,275
93,313,839 161,612,246
59,839,160 71,431,567
39,724,702 47,106,683
4,645,288 7,020,100
491,973,296 523,043,871
520,174,451 557,537,032
122,974 (2011 12 31 111,459 )
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
54,823,699 50,995,132
14,782,022 14,108,317
492,370 385,501
50,971 67,076
8,858 25,183
50,611 240,759
70,208,531 65,821,968
165 (2011 12 31 170
11,545 (2011 12 31 13,309
106,135 (2011 12 31 104,659
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
)
6,630 5,917
(36,128) (6,592)
521,868 386,176
492,370 385,501
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( )

2011 12 31 385,501

( 1a ) 119,902

(13,882)

849

2012 12 31 492,370

20.
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
432,324 30,688
16,292,350 18,864,139
/ 77,468,307 88,964,632
58,806,627 63,877,932
1,444 3,990
¢ 2c ) 1,112,336 742,269
211,513 165,477
875,087 649,192
155,199,988 173,298,319
5,343 (2011 12 3 8,638 )
758 (2011 12 3 2,568 )
21.
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
a ) 9,508,000 8,833,000
( b ) 3,784,372 4,135,827
820,878 1,460,049
855,338 512,762
¢ ¢ )
14,968,588 14,941,638
a. 2012 12 31 2011 12 31
9,508 (2011 12 31 8,833
) ( FSA )
FSA
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b.
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
1,478,957 230,616
986,079 2,776,008
1,319,336 1,129,203
3,784,372 4,135,827
1,492 (2011 12 31 2,310 )
1,016 (2011 12 31 935 )
775 (2011 12 31 648
)
2018 2050
c 20 RSU
22.
( )
2012 5,901
9,233
81
2012 12 31 15,305
15
FRS 12
23.
2011 12 31 2012 12 31
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
) ( ) ) ( )
533,447,150 533,447 499,257,654 499,258
0.01 — — 958,659,363 9,586
0.01 — — 227,906,977 2,279
533,447 511,123
( CRD

GSI

187/306



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OOoOoO0OoooooooOnd
2012 12 (U.K.) 0.01
542,680,527 0.01 99,069,768
(U.K.) 0.01
415,978,836 0.01 128,837,209
1,260,325,492 1,272,191,155
10
2012 12 33,847,601  37.21
(U.K.) 341,805  37.21
U.K.)
1,238,001,650 1,272,191,146
24.
( )
(
2011
511,123 2,885,260 17,286 13,762,319 17,175,988
_ _ — 2,425,403 2,425,403
— _ — (38,889) (38,889)
5 ) _ _ — (99,483) (99,483)
C w0 ) _ _ — 879,228 879,228
_ _ — (879,228) (879,228)
2012
511,123 2,885,260 17,286 16,049,350 19,463,019
— _ — 683,960 683,960
— _ — 46,474 46,474
TN — _ — 384,256 384,256
_ _ — (384,256) (384,256)
C =) 34,189 1,238,002 — — 1,272,191
(11,865) (1,260,326) — — (1,272,191)
« 238 )
2012 12 31 533,447 2,862,936 17,286 16,779,784 20,193,453
( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31
16,567,314 15,917,196
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0.01
0.01

99,483,000

26.
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212,470 132,154

16,779,784 16,049,350

( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31

— 76,693
— 22,790

— 99,483
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GSI

( VaR )

VaR

GSI

) GSI
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( )
2012 12 31 2011 12 31

100 555

1,311 9,535

1,290 2,934

99,916 95,334

102,617 108,358

(U.K.)
(U.K.)
( 10-Q 10-K )
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)
PROFIT ANID I, CCOu
for the year ended 31 December 2012
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
MNote LSS 000 US$"000
Met revenue 3 5,578,001 5.0131,538
Administralive expenses (4.466,115) (2.059.618)
OPERATING PROFIT 4 111,976 3,071,920
Other interest receivable and similar income 5 17,512 115,087
Interest payable and similar charges f (323,339) (105,826)
Met finance income 9 21817 28,180
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE
TAXATION 827 966 3,109,361
Tax on profit on ordinary sclivities 11 {144,006 (683,958)
FROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER
TAXATION AND FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 24 683,960 2.425403
Met revenue and operating profit of the company are derived lrem continuing operations in the current and prior years,
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
MNote LSS 000 UIS5M000
Profit for the financial year 653,060 2425403
Actuarial gain / {loss) relating to the pension scheme 9 60,356 (51,852}
UK deferred wx attributable 1o the acarial gain f (loss) 19 {13,582) 12,963
TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND
SINCE LAST FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 730,434 2,380,514

The notes on pages 12 10 39 form an integral pan of these financial statements,
Independent auditors” repon - page 9.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)
BALANCE SHEET
asal 3 12
3 December 20012 31 December 2011
Mote LSS0 LISS"000
FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assels 12 16,0434 5,211
Invesiments 13 500,880 5,236
516,944 13,447
CURRENT ASSETS
Financial instruments ownéd 14 561.492,01) 603 488,261
Financial instruments owned pledged as collaeral 14 24 986,812 19,300,650
Collateralised agreements 15 221,527,555 238,648,388
Debors 16 70,208,531 65,821,968
Cash at bank and in hand 17 13,083,945 14,776,433
391,299,754 42,126,100
CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
Financial instruments sold, butl net yel purchased 14 (520,174,451) (557.537.032)
Collmeralised financing 18 (181.477.383) (177,025, 702)
(nher ereditors 20 {155,199,958) (173,298,319)
{356,851 ,822) (D07,861,053)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 34,447 932 34,265,047
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIARILITIES 34,964,876 34,278,494
CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN
ONE YEAR 21 {14,968, 538) {14,941,638)
PROVISIONS FOR LIARILITIES 22 (15,305) (5,991}
NET ASSETS EXCLUDING PENSION SURPLUS 19,980,983 19,330,865
Pension surplus g9, 24 212470 132,154
NET ASSETS INCLUDING PENSION SURPLUS 20,193,453 19,463,019
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 2324 533447 510,123
Share premium account 24 2,862,936 2,885,260
Capital reserve {non-distributable) 24 17,286 17,286
Profit and loss account 24 16,779,784 16,049,350
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS 24 20,193,453 19.463,019

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Dircctors on 10 April 2013 and signed on iis behalf by:

% -

Robin Yince
Director

The notes on pages 12 to 39 form an integral part of these financial statements,
Independent auditors” report - page 9.
Company number: 02263951
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{unlimited company)

L.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

e

Aceounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical cost convention
{modified as explained in notes 1m and In), and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable
accounting standards. ‘The principal accounting policies ane set oul below and have been applied consistently
throughout the year,

Consolidation

The company is a subsidiary undertaking of o company incorpovated in Great Britain and has elected not 1o
PrEpare group accounts as permitied by section 400 of the Companics Act 2006,

REevenue recognition

Met revenue has been disclosed instead of wenover as this more meaningfully reflects the nawee and results of
the company's activities, Net revenue, after charging related expenses, includes the net profit arising from
ransactions in secunities, foreign exchange and other financial instruments, and fees and commissions earned,
Related expenses include trading interest and dividends payable less wrading interest and dividends receivahle,

. Investment Banking
Financial advisery f anderwriting revenues

Fees from financial advisory engagements and underwriting revenues are recognised in profit and loss
when the relevam parties are contractoally bound and as contract activity progresses unless the right 1o
consideration does not anse wnil the occwrrence of a critical event, in which case revenue 15 not
recognised until that event has oceunred,

Expenses associated with such iransactions are deferred until the related revenue is recognised or the
engagement is otherwise concluded. Expenses associated with financial advisory transactions arc
recognised as non-compensation expenses, nel of cliem reimbursements. Underwriling revenues are
presented net of relaed expenses,

. Institutional Client Services and Investing & Lending
Financial assers and Kabilities held for frading
Financial assets and liabilities held for trading are recognised at fair value with realised and unrealised
gains and losses as well as associated imerest and dividend income and expenses ineluded in net

revenue. Financial asseis are marked 1o bid prices and financial liabilities are marked o offer prices.
Fair value measurements dio net inelude iransaction cosis.

Comnrissians

Commission revenues from executing and clearing clicnt wransactions on stock, options and Tutures
markets are recognised on the day the trade is executed and are included in net revenues,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{unlimited company)

NOTES TO T INANCIAL STATEMEN

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
¢ Hevenue recognition (continued)
¥ Investment Management
Managemeni fees

Management fees are recognised on an accruals basis and are gencrally calculated as a percentage of a
fund"s average net assel value and are recognised over the year thar the related service is provided.

Incentive fees

Incentive fees are calowlated as a percentage of a fund's reurn or a percentage of a fund's exeess
return above a specified benchmark or oher performance targel. Incentive fees are only recognised
onte they can be reliably measured at the end of the performance year,

d.  Operating leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease ransfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership o the lessee, All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The company has entered into operating lease arrangements where the company acts a5 the lessce. Leased
assels are nol recognised on the balance sheet, Costs in respect of operating leases, ingluding any incentives
gramted by the lessor, are charged on a siraight-line basis over the lease term and included within administrative
expenses in the profit and loss account,

e, Shoert-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benelits, such as wages and salaries, are measured on an undiscounted basis and accrued
a8 an expense over the year in which the employee renders the service 1o the company. Provision is made for
discretionary year end compensation whether 1o be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a resuli of
group policy and past practice, a constructive obligation exisis at the balance sheet dare.

f. Share-based payments

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. issues awards in the form of restricted stock units (*RSUs") and stock options
to the company’s employees for services rendered to the company. The cost of equity-based transactions with
employees is measured based on the grant-date fair valwe of the award, Share-based awards that do not require
future service (i.e. vested awards, including awards granted to retirement eligible employees) are expensed
immediately.  Share-based awards that require future service are amortised over the relevant service period.
Expected lorfeinres are included in determining share-based employee compensation expense,

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. settles equity awards through the delivery of its ordinary shares.  The
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. pays cash dividend cquivalents on outstanding RSUs, The company has also
entered into a chargeback agreement with The Goldman Sachs Group, Ine. under which it is committed to pay
(o the: group the market value a grant date as well a5 subsequent movements in fair value of those awards 1o the
group at the time of delivery 1o s employees.

g.  Foreign correncies

Transaclions denominated in foreign currencics are translated into U8, Dollars a1 rates of exchange ruling on
the date the wansaction occurred,  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies ane
translated ino ULS. Dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in operaling profit.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

- 31 DECEMBER 2012

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
h. Pension cost

The company is a sponsor of a defined contribution pension scheme and a hybrid pension plan for the benefin
of certain employees. The defined benefit and defined contributions sections of the hybrid plan and the defined
contribution pension scheme are accounted for as follows:

* for the defined benefit section, the amounts charged o operating profit are the current service costs,
any past service costs and any gains or losses on setilements and curtailments, They are included as
part of staff costs. The interest cost and expected return on assets are shown as a nel amount within
net finance income.  Actuarial gains and losses arc recognised immediately in the statement of total
recognised gains and losses, The defined benefit section is funded, with the assets of the scheme held
separately from those of the company, in separate rustee-administered funds. Pension scheme assels
are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projecied unit
method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high-quality corporale
bond of equivalent currency and term to the scheme liabilities, Full actuarial valuations are obtained
ar least triennially and updated a0 cach balance sheer date.  Any surplus or deficit of scheme asscis
over scheme liabilitics s recognised on the balance sheet as an assen (surplus) or liability (deficit).

. For the defined comribution section and the defined contribution pension scheme, the amount charged
1o operating profit in respect of pension costs is the contributions payable for the year. Differences
between contributions payable for the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments on the balance sheet.

i.  Dividends
Final cquity dividends (including dividends payable on preference shares accounted for as equily) are
recognised in the year that they are approved by the sharcholders. Interim cquity dividends are recognised in
the year that they are paid. Dividends are debited directly 1o equity.

j-  Tangible fixed asseis

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for any impairment.
Depreciation is included in administeative expenses and is provided on a straight-line basis over the following
estimated useful lives:

o fears
Fixtures, fiings and equipment 37

Lenaschold improvements are depreciated over the shoner of the uselul economic life of the asset or the
remaining life of the lease when the asset is brought into use. Depreciation policies are reviewed on an annual
basis.

k. Fixed asset invesimenis

Fixed asset investments are stated at cost or amortised cost, as applicable, less provision for any impairment.
Amortisation is included in administrative expenses,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEVBER 2012

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
. Offsetting Minancial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and lisbilities are offset and the net amoum presented in the balance sheet where there is:
. currently a legally enforceable night to set of T the recognised amounts: and
. intent to settle on a net basis or to realise the agget and seutle the liability simulianeously,

Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and liabilities are presenied on a gross basis on the balance
shien.

m. Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities held for rading are recorded at fair value. The fair value of a financial
instrument is the amount that would be received to sell an asser or paid to ransfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participams at the measurement date, ic. the exit price.  Financial assets are
marked (o bid prices and financial liabilitics are marked 1o offer prices. Fair value measurements do not
include wransaction costs, Fair value gains or losses are included in net revenue,

The best evidence of fair value is a quoted priee in an active market. If listed prices or quotations are not
available, fir value is determingd by reference o prices for similar instruments, quoted prices or recent
transactions in less active markets, or internally developed models that primarily use, as inputs, market-based
or independently sourced parameters, including but not limited to interest rates, volatilities, equily or deb
prices, foreign exchange rates, commodities prices, credit curves and funding rates. The fair value of certain
financial assets and financial liabilities may require appropriate valuation adjusimenis for counierparty and the
company's credit quality, funding risk, transfer restrictions, illiquidity and bid / offer spreads.

Cazh instruments include securities, which are typically readily ransferable and exhibit reasonable levels of
price ransparency, and other cash instruments, such as loans, Cash instruments that rade in active markets ane
valued using quoted prices for identical unrestricted instruments.  Oiher cash instruments (such as most
government agency obligations, most corporate debt securities, restricted or less liquad publicly listed equitics,
most state and municipal obligations and certain money market instruments and lending commitments) are
valued by verilying to quoted prices, recent trading activity for identical or similar instruments, broker or
dealer quetations or allernative pricing sourees with reasonable levels of price ransparency, Consideration is
given 1o the nature of the quotations (e.g. indicative or firm) and the relationship of recem market activity to
the prices provided from allernative pricing sources, Valuation sdjustments are typically made (1) if the cash
inslrument is subject o regulatory er conteactual transfer restrictions and / or (i) for other premiums and
discounts that a market participant would require to arrive at fair valwe, Valuation adjustments are generally
based on market evidence.

Ceriain cash instruments have one or more significant valuation inputs that are not observalile.  Absent
evidence 10 the contrary, these instruments are initially valued at ransaction price, which is considered 10 be
the best initial estimate of fair value, When a pricing model is vsed, the model is adjusted so that the model
valug of the cash instrament a1 inception cquals the transaction price. Subsequently, the company uscs other
methodologies to determine fair value, which vary based on the type of instrument.  Valuation inpuis and
assumptions are changed when comraborated by substantive observable evidence, including values realised on
sales.

Derivatives may be privately negotiated coniracts, which are usually referred 1o as over-the-counter (*OTC)
derivatives, or they may be listed and raded on an exchange (*exchange-traded™), Exchange-iraded derivatives
that are actively raded are valued at their quoded market price.  Exchange-traded derivatives that are not
aguively traded are valued using models that calibrate to market-clearing levels of OTC derivatives.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

VCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 1)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
m. Financial instruments (continued)

OTC derivatives are generally valued using market transactions and other market evidence, including market-
based inputs o maoclels, calibration 1o markei-clearing transactions, broker or dealer quotations or odher
alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price iransparency. Consideration is given to the nature of
the quetations {e.g. indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity to the prices provided from
alternative pricing sources.

Where models are used, the selection of a particular model to value an OTC derivative depends on the
contractual terms of and specific risks inberemt in the instrument, as well as the availability of pricing
information in the market, Valuation models require a varicty of inputs, including contractual terms, market
prices, yield curves, credit eurves, measures of volatility, prepayment rates, loss severity raies and correlations
of such inpuis. For OTC derivatives than trade in liquid markets, model selection does not involve significant
management judgement because oulpuis of models can be calibrated 1o market elearing levels.

Certain OTC derivatives are valued using models which utilise inputs that can be observed in the market, as
well as unobservable inputs. Unebservable inputs include certain correlations as well as credit spreads, equity
volatility inpuis, commodity prices. and commodity volmilities that are long-dated or derived from rading
activity in inactive or less liquid markets, “Day | P&L' is the werm used 10 deseribe the difference between the
initial iransaction price and the fair valee caleulated by internal models. Day | PEL is released 1o profit and
loss at the carlier of ihe fair value becoming observable using market parameters, or through reference 1o
similar quoted products, and derecognition of the financial instrument. Subsequent o the initial valuation of
such derivatives, the company updates the obscrvable inpuis 1o reflect observable marker changes,
Unobservable inputs are changed when corroborated by evidence such as similar market transactions, thind-
party pricing services and f or broker or dealer quotations or other empirical market data. In circumstances
where the company cannot verify the model value by refercnce 1o markel transactions, it is possible that a
different valuation model could produce a materially different estimate of Fair value.

Financial instruments owned are lassified as held for trading. The dircctors are of the opinion that it would
not be appropriate 1o classily them as current asset invesimenis or o provide an analysis of such securities
between those listed and unlisied,

i, Collateralised agreements and financing

Collateralised agreements (securities purchased under agreements 1o resell and deposits placed as collateral for
stock borrowed) and collaeralised financing (securities sold under agreemiemts to repurchase and deposits
received as collateral for stock loans) are earvied an Fair valee under the fir value option as they are managed
and performance evaluated on a fair value basis. The collateral can be in the form of cash or securities. Cash
collateral is recognised / derecognised when received [ paid. Collateral posted by the company in the form of
securities is not derccognised from the balance sheet, whilst collateral received in the form of securities is not
recognised on the balance sheet. I collateral received is subsequently sold, the obligation 1o return the
collateral and the cash received are recognised on balance sheet.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

o,  Deferred taxation

Dicferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differcnces that have originated, but not reversed al the
balance sheet date, where transactions or events have occurred a that date that will result in an obligation 1o
pay MR 1ax of 2 right to pay less tax in the futere with the following exceptions:

. deferred tax assets are recognised only to the ¢xtent that the directors consider that it is more likely
than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying
timing differences ean be deducied,

* deferred tax 15 measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected o apply in the
periods in which timing differences reverse, based on 1ax rates and laws enacted or substantively
emacled at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in the profit and loss account or directly in the siatement of toial recognised gains
and losses according to where the associated gain or loss, w which the deferred tax is awribulable, is
recognised.

p. Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when it is probable that an onflow of economic benefis
will be required 10 seutle a present (legal or constructive) obligation, which has arisen as a result of past events,
and for which a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Legal obligations that may arise

a8 a resuly of proposed new laws are recognised as obligaions only when the legislaion is virally certain to
he cnacted as drafted,

Contingent liabilities are:

. possible obligations thar arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the
OCCURTENee, Or non-occurrence, of one oF more uncertain e events omside the control of the
COMPANY: OF

. present obligations that have arisen from past evems bul which are not recognised because either an
oulflow of economic benefils is noi probable or the amoumt of the obligations cannot be reliably
measured,

Comingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial stmements, However, disclosure is made unless the
probability of settlement is renote.

q.  MNon-trading finaneial instruments

Non-trading finangial instruments primarily comprise long-1erm subordinated debt and loan notes issued. They
are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured al amontised cost, Finance costs, including
discounts allowed on issue, are charged to the profit and loss account and recognised using the effective
interest method.

r. Financial liabilitics and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the comractual
ArTANZEMENts, Al cquily investment is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the entity
afier deducting all liabilities, Instruments are evaluated to determine if they contain both lability and equity
components, The initial carrying amount of a compound Ginancial instrument i allocated first to the lability
companent, measured at fir value, and the equity is assigned the residual amount,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2012

REPORTING AND DISCLOSURE EXEMPTIONS
a.  FRS1 (Revised 1996) ‘Cash Flow Statements”

The company is a greater than 9% subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. whose consolidated financial
statements include the company and are publicly available and is. therefore, exempt from preparing a cash fow
statement as required by FRS1 (Revised 1996) ‘Cash Flow Statements’,

k.  FRSS *Related Party Disclosures

The eompany is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, whose consolidated financial
statements inclede the company and are publicly available. As a result, under the terms of paragraph 3(c) of
FRS8, ‘Related Party Disclosures’, the company is exempt from disclosing transactions with companics alse
wholly owned within The Galdman Sachs Group, Inc.

c. FRS29({IFRS7) ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures®

The company is a greater than 90% subsidiary of Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (ULK.), whose consolidated
financial statemens include the company and are publicly available and is, therefore, exempt from the
diselosures required by FRS29 (IFRST), *Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.

SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The company's netl revenue is categorised into the following principal segments:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2002 3 December 2011
LSS 0D LS5 000
Investment Banking 838,016 925807
Instinutional Client Services 4,092,144 4,010,651
Investing & Lending 433,339 (36,545)
Invesiment Management 192,592 231.625
5,575,091 5,131,538

Investment Banking
Investment Banking activities consist of:

»  Financial advisory - includes advisory assignments with respect 1o mergers and acquisitions, divestires,
corporate defence activities, risk management, restructurings and spin offs, and derivative ransactions direatly
related to cliem advisory assignments; and

* Underwriting - includes public offerings and private placements of a wide-range of securities, loans and other
fimancial instruments, and derivative ransactions directly relaied to client underwriting activities,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBE

SEGMENTAL REPORTING {continued)
Institutional Client Services
Institutional Client Services is comprised of:

*  Fived Income, Currency and Commodities Client Execution = includes eliem execution activitics related 1o
making markets in interest rate products, credit products, mongages, currencies and commodities; and

»  Eqguities - includes cliemt execution activities related 1o making markets in equity products, as well as
commissions and fees from exccuting and clearing institnional cliem transactions on major stock, options and
futures exchanges worldwide. Equities alse includes the securitics services business, which provides financing,
securities lending and other prime brokerage services to institutional cliems, including hedge Tunds, mutual
::unds. pension funds and foundations, and gencrates revenues primarily in the form of interest rate spreads or

[

Investing & Lending

Investing & Lending includes investing activitics, dircetly and indirecily through funds that The Goldman Sachs
Group, Ine. manages, in debt secerities, loans, public and private equity scouritics and other investments.

Investment Management

Investment Management offers investment advisory services, including postfolio management and counselling
services, and brokerage and other ransaction services to high-net-worth individuals and families.

Geographical Analysis

Due w the highly integrated nature of inmernational fnancial markets, the directors consider that the company
operates in a single global market. As a result, no disclosure of segmental information relating 1w the geographical
origin of results has been provided,

OPERATING PROFIT
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 20012 3 December 2011
USS5*000 US3" 000
Operating profit is stated after charging / (crediting):
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (see note 12) 3248 2928
Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets 257
Amortisation of fixed asset investments (see note 13) - 2
Management fees charged by group underiakings 456,300 40K, 740
Management fees charged to group undertakings [4%1,684) {236,134)
Forgign exchange loss f (gain) on long-teom del 1.490 (2.454)
Auditors’ remuneration for aedil services: - company 5042 3,689
Operating lease rentals: - land and huildings 93,510 97,827
Trading interest payable: - group undenakings 1,191,140 1078352
- ather 1,712,669 2.851,540
Trading interest receivable: - group underakings (195,667) (196,021}
- ather (2,549,099) (3.804,394)

The company has aken the exemption not to disclose fees payable 1o the auditer and its associates for other non-
audit services as the consolidated fnancial statements of Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (LLE.) are required 1o
disclose such information on a consolidated basis.
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(unlimited company)
NOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012
OTHER INTEREST RECEIVARLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 2012 31 December 2011
USS"000 USS 000

Reccivable from parent undenakings - 115.087
Dividend income 2,325 -
Other interest receivable 15,187 .
17,512 115,087

Dividend income of UI3$2,325.440 was received during the year on liquidation of the company™s 100% subsidiary
Goldman Sachs (Jersey) Limited, as explained in note 13,

INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 20012 31 December 2011
LSS 000 USE 000
Payable 1o group underiakings 323,239 105,826

Interest payable and similar charges pavable 1o group undertakings arise on subordinated loans (see note 21a).

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Year Ended Year Ended
31 Decomber 2012 M Decomber 2011
USS'000 USS 000
Aggregate emoluments 5,533 4,491
Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes 7 9
5,540 4,500
USSE'000 USS"000
Highest paid director:
Aggregate emoluments and benefits 1,521 1,350
Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes -
Accrued pension at end of year - .

In accordance with the Companics Act 2006, directors” emoluments represent the proportion of tatal emoluments
paid or payable in respect of qualilying services only. In accondance with Schedule 5 of Statutory Instrument 2008 /
410, this only includes the value of cash and benefits in kind, Dircctors also receive emoluments for non-qualifying
services which are not required 10 be disclosed. Five persons, who were dirgctors for some or all of the year, ane
members of a defined contribution pension scheme (including the defined contribution section of the hybrid plan)
and five persons are members of a defined benefit pension scheme (including the defined benefit section of the
hybrid plan). Nine directors, including the highest paid director, have been granted sharcs in respect of long-term
incentive schemes, Three directors, including the highest paid director, have excrcised oplions.
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STAFF COSTS
The average number of employees of the company, including direciors, is analysed below:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 20012 31 December 2001
Number Number
Investment Banking 664 672
Institwtional Cliem Services 1479 1.616
Investing & Lending i 105
Investment Management 493 486
Suppont Functions 2,581 2830
5,313 5,709
Consultants and temporary staff 350 334
5,663 6,243

The company has the use of a number of individuals who are employed by affiliated entities and scconded 1o the
company., These sceonded individuals are included in the disclosure of headecount and relaed stafl costs.
Consultants and temporary stafll costs are included in total direct costs of employment, below. Total headeount as al

31 December 20012 was 5,563 (3] Decermber 200 12 5.953).

The above disclosure has been revised to include employees, consulianis and temporary staff of the company's
branches. The impact of this change is o inerease average tial headeount for the year ended 31 December 2002 by
151 (31 December 201 1: 164) and 1otal headcount a5 at 31 December 2012 by 152 (31 December 201 1: 162),

The employment costs incurred by the company, including those relating 1o directors, were:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 3 December 2011
LISS"000 LS5 000
Ageregale gross wages and salaries 3,361,952 898,265
Employer’s National Insurance Contributions 365,340 146,127
Pension costs, employer contributions o the:
Defined  comribution  scheme  (including
defined conributions to the hybrid scheme) 35,319 58,831
Defined benehit scheme 45227 42710
Tonal direct costs of employment 3,827,538 1,145,933

Stafl eosts include a charge of USST93 million (year ended 31 December 201 1t eredit of USS1,823 million) relating

to the mark-to-market of equity-based compensation.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINAN

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS

The company sponsors an open pension plan with a hybrid struetre (“the Plan'), having both defined bencfit and
defined contribution sections. From | March 2008, the Plan was closed 1o employees whose employmen
commeneed after this dae and was replaced by a defined contribution plan.

A Tull actoarial valuation of the defined benefit seetion of the Plan was carried out by a qualified independent actuary
as at 31 August 2012 vsing the projected unit funding method and updated to 31 December 2002,

The major financial assumplions used by the scwary underlying the funding of the Plan which had the most
significant elfeet on the pension cost are ¢t oul below:

Year Ended Year Ended

3 December 2012 31 December 2011

G per annrm % per annunm

Discount rate 4.90 490

Rate of increase in salaries 400 4.00

Rate of increase in pensions

{post-30 November 1996 accrual) 330 340
Rate of increase in pensions in deferment

(post-30 November 1996 aceral) 240 2.20

Rate of price inflation 3.30 340

The mortality assumplions were set based on the ‘51 series all pensioner light' base 1able projected o 2009 with an
allowance known as ‘medium cohort” improversents. The future improvement from 2009 is in line with medium
eohorl projections subject w0 a minimum level of 1% per anmm,

Based on the actarial review of the Plan, the dircciors have revised the following assumptions as they believe they
better reflect the fulure development of Plan liabilities:

*  In line with marker practice the discount rate setting methodology was changed during the vear, which resulted
in a discount rate of 0.45% per anmom higher than the rate that would have been used had it been sel in a
consistent manner with that used as at 31 December 2001, The impact of this methodology change is 1o reduce
Plan liabilities by US$162.4 million,

*  The difference between the Retail Prices Index ('RPUY and Consumer Prices Index (*CPI7) has reduced from
1.2% per annne vo 0.9% per annwe sines 31 December 2001, This was partially offset by a decrease in the
RPI assumption of 0.1% per aunum during the year, This change in assumption increased Plan liabilities by
US%14.3 million,

‘The assets in the Plan attributable to the company and the expected rates of return were:

31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Expected Market Expected Market
rate of return value  rate of refurn value
e per annum US%m e per annm USSm
Equities 1.5 1716 8.2 6384
Bonds 35 287.7 34 142.4
Cash and reinvesied cash 24 207.3 3l 278.8
Total market value of asseis 1.266.6 1,059.6
22
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBE

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Development of the balance sheet:
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 28 November

012 2011 2010 2009 2008
USEm USsm U5%m US5m USSm
Market value of Plan asscis 12666 1.059.6 1,053.6 T44.9 524.1
Actuarial value of Plan liabilities 1,054, 1 9274 HEO.6 9021 395.0
Surplus / (deficit) in the Plan and
pension asset / (liahility)
recognised in the balance sheet
hefore deferred taxation 1125 1322 1640 (157.2) 129.1

The defined benefit cost was formed of the followi ng componcnts:

Year Ended Year Ended
M December 2012 31 December 2011
USSm USSm
Analysis of amounts charged to operating profit:

Current service cost 452 523
Tatal charged to aperating profit 45.2 513
Analysis of (the amount eredited to net finance income:

Interest on Plan liabilities 46.5 49.4

Expected return on assets in the Plan (68.3) {77.6)
Total credited to net finance income (21.8) (28.2)
Total charged to profit and loss before tax 234 24.1
Analysis of amounts recognised in the statement of total

recognised gaing and losses:

(Gain) / loss on assets (57.2) 101.1

Experience gain on liabilities (17.5) (28.5)

Loss / {gain) in assumpions

{financial and demographic) 14.3 (20,73
Total (gain) / loss recognised in the statement of total
recognised gains and losses before tax (60.4) 31.9
k!
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{unlimited company)

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (conlinued)
History of experience gains and losses are as follows:

3 December 3 December

5 - 31 DECEMBER 2012

31 December 31 December 28 November

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
{Gain) / loss on Plan
HLAEEH
Amount (US5m) (57.2) 1001 {1400 (107.0) 1158
% of Plan assets al end of
ihe year 4.5% 0.5% 1.3% 14.4% 22 1%
Expeérience gain on Plan
liabilities:
Amaunt (US5m) (17.5) (28.5) (48.6) (17.2) (15.9)
G off Plan liabilines at ¢nd
of the year 1.7% 3% 5.5% 1.9% 4.0
Taotal actuarial {gain) /
loss recognised in
statement of fotal
recognised gains and
losses:
Amount (USSm) (60,4) 519 (88.2) J0L5 {153.9)
% of Plan liabilities at end
of the year 5.7% 5.06% 9.9% 33.3% 10.0%
Analysis of the movement in Plan assets during the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US%m USEm
Plan assets at the start of the year 1.059.6 1,053.6
Expected reiurn on Plan assels 64,3 776
Gain / (loss) on assets 57.2 [RILIN §]
Contributions paid = Employer 357 438
Benefits paid {1.%) (8.5}
Forcign exchange gaing / (losses) on translation of Plan asscis 531 (5.8
Plan assets at the end of the year 1,266.6 1,059.0
Analysis of the movement in plan liabilities during the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
58m US%m
Flan liabilities a1 the start of the year 9T A BE.0
Current service cost 45,2 2.3
Imerest on Plan liabiliics 46.5 49.4
Logs / (gain} on change in assumplions 14.3 (20.7)
Experience gain on habilities {17.5) (28.5)
Benefits paid (7.3} (8.5)
Foreign exchange losses £ {goins) on translation of Plan liobilities 455 (6.2}
Plan liabilities at the end of the year 1,054.1 9274
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 D

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS {continued)

Analysis of the movement in surplus in the Plan during the year:

Surplus in the Plan at the stant of the year
Contributions paid — Employer

Current service cost

Men Minance income

Actuarial gain f (loss)

Foreign exchange gains on wranslation of surplus

Surplus in the Plan at the end of the year

Additional disclosures:

Expected future benefit payments for the year o
31 December 2003 7 31 December 20012
Expected conmnbutions for the year to
31 December 2013 £ 31 December 2012 — Employer

Actual return on Plan assets during the year ended
31 December 2012 / 31 December 2011

Expected return on Plan assgis
Asset gain { {loss) duning the year

Actual return on Plan assets

OoOooOoOddooOoomdmr
Year Ended Year Ended
M December 2012 31 December 2011
USSm USEm
1322 164.0
357 438
(45.2) (52.3)
21.8 28.2
6.4 (515
7.6 0.4
2125 132.2
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2002 M December 2011
USSm Li5&m
93 8.2
136 36.0
8.3 7.6
57.2 (101,13
125.5 (23.5)

Cumulative amounts recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses since the adoption of

FRS517 Retirement Benefits:

31 December 2012

31 December 2011

Actuarial loss relating to the pension scheme
UK deferred tax anriburable w the actuarial loss

Net cumulative amonnt recognised in the statement of
total recognised gaing and losses

USSm L5%5m
{30.9) (91.3)
11.5 25.4
(19.4) (65.9)

5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2012

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Stock incentive plan

GS0's ultimate parent company, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (‘the SIP'), which provides for, amengst others, grants of
incentive stock options and restricted siock units (CRSLUs).

GS1 recorded share-based compensation in respect of the amortisation of granted equity awards, net of Torfeilures, of
US3384 million for the year ended 31 December 2012 (year ended 31 December 2011: USS879 million), The
commesponding credit 1 cquity has been wansferred 1o liabilities as a result of the terms of the intercompany
agreements with the group.

Restricted stock units (*RSUs™)

The ultimate parent company isswed RSUs to GSI's employees under the SIP, primarily in conncction with year-end
compensation. RSUs are valued based on the closing price of the underlying shares at the date of grant afier 1aking
into account 2 liquidity discount for any applicable post-vesting transfer restrictions, Year-end RSUs generally vest
and deliver as outlined in the applicable RSU agreements, Employee-RSU agreements generally provide that vesting
is accelerated in certain cirgumsiances, such as upon retirement, death and extended absence. Delivery of the
underlying shares of common stock is conditioned on the grantees satislying certain vesting and other requircments
cutlined in the award agreements. The activity related 10 these RSUs is set forth below:

31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Mo. of RSUs Ma. of RSUs

Mo Fuiture Future Mo future Fulure
SETVice SErVICE SCFVICE Service

requirement  requirement requircment requirement

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 7318, 780 5,042,532 11,000,072 £,791,254
Giranted 1,174,205 1,639,205 1. 817659 23401003
Forfeited (12,531) (488.277) (52.758) (521,016)
Drelivered (T.083,084) - (11, 146.411) -
Transferred (out) / in (28,427 (28,550) 50,979 (59,560)
Vesied 3.631,820 (3,631,820) 5,559,239 (5,550,230)
Outstanding at the end of the year 5.000,853 2,533,081 7,318,780 5,042,532

The weighted average fair value of the cquity instruments granted during the year ended 31 December 2012 was
USSET.55 (year ended 31 December 201 1: USS145.58). The fair value of the RSUs granted during the year ended
31 December 2012 and the year ended 31 December 2001 includes a liguidity discount of 19.19% and 9.5,
respectively, to reflect post-vesting transfer restrictions of up to 4 years,

In the first quarter of 2003, The Goldman Sachs Group, Ine. granted 4.3 million year-end RSUs 10 the company’s
employees, of which 1.6 million RSUs require Tuture serviee as a condition of delivery. These awards are subject o
additional comnditions as outlined in the awards agreemems.  Generally, shares underlying these awards, net of
required withholding tax, deliver over a three-year period but are subject 1o post-vesting iransfer restrictions through
January 2007, These awards are not included in the above able.

26
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10.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Stock oplions

Stock options granted to employees generally vest as outlined in the applicable stock oplion agrecment. Mo options
were granted for the year ended 31 December 2012 nor for the year ended 31 December 2011, Employee stock
oplion agreements provide that vesting is accelerated in centain circumstances, such as upon retirement, death and
extended absence. In general, all stock oplions expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date, although they may
Ibe subject 1o earlier termination or cancellation under cenain circumstances in accordance with the terms of the SIP
amd the applicable stock option agreement. The activity related o these stock options is set forth below:

31 December 20012 31 December 200 1

Weighted Weighted

average average

Mo, of share EXCTCise Mo, of share eXETeise

options  price (US$) options  price (1/5%)
Chutstanding at the beginning of the year 10,875,522 80.59 11,935,923 9007
Forfeied - - (7651} 78,38
Translermed in - - 57,090 T76.25
Exercised (616,250) 78.95 (534,972) )60
Expired (2.451) T8.87 {574,838) 2161
Qutstanding at the end of the year 10,256,521 00,55 10,875,522 §9.89
Exercisable af the end of the year 10,256,521 9025 7,741,204 94.30

For those options exercised during the year, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was USS118.82
(year ended 31 December 201 1: USS135.40). The options outstanding as at 31 December 2002 and 31 December
2011 are se1 forth below:

31 December 2002 31 December 200 1
Weighted Weighted
average average
No, of share remaining Mo, of share remaining
opfions  contractual options contractual
onlslunding life {years) outstanding life (vears)
Exercise Price
$75.00-389.99 9,078,709 600 9,694,275 664
S90.00-5 104,99 42,082 0.92 43,217 1.92
S120.00-5134.99 258,720 292 288,720 392
£195.00-5209.99 847,310 4.51 £47.310 5.51
Ouistanding at the end of the year 10,256,821 10,875,522
27
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012
1L TAX OMPROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
a. Amnalysis of tax charge for the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
M December 2012 31 December 2011
US$000 US$ 000
Current tax:
UK corporation tax 243,804 26,649
Adjustments in respect of previous periods {30,343) (52,506)
Owerseas laxation 50447 32420
Total current tax (sce note 11h) 263,908 6,563
Dreferred tax:
Provisions and other timing differences {148,721} 617,648
Effeet of decreased tax rate on opening asset 28,523 0713
Adjustments in respeet of previous periods 206 34
Total deferred tax (see note 19) (119,502} 677,395
Tax charge on profit on erdinary activities 144,006 683,958

b. Factors affecting tax charge for the year:

The difference between the total curvent tax shown above and the amount caleulated by applying the weighied
average rate of UK corporation tax applicable to the company for the year of 24.5% (31 December 201 1: 26.5%) o
the profit on ordinary activitics before 1ax is as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$"000 USS'000
Profit on ordinary activities before tax #27,966 3,109,361
Profit on ordinary activities multiplicd by standard raie in the UK
24.5% (2011: 26.5%) 2 852 423,980
Expenses noi deductible for mx purposes 17,547 25156
Accelerated capital allowances and other timing differences {14,454) {19.443)
Timing differences in respect of equity-based compensation 174,187 (H48.414)
Permanent differences (36,624 {105,263)
Pengion contribution reliel in excess of net pension cost charge (13300 (3.714)
Tax losses surrendered from group underakings for nil consideration (1,339) (16.408)
Exchange differences and other 3412 3175
Adjustment o tax in respect of prior periods (30,343) (52,500)
Current 1ax charge for the year 263,908 6,503

The timing differences in respect of equity-based compensation comprises the net tax effect of the amounts charged
10 the: profit and loss account during the year and awards delivered to employees during the year,
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THE FINAN

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

The movements in tangible fixed assets during the vear were a8 follows:

Caost

Ar 31 Decembser 2011
Additions

Dispozals

Ab 31 December 20012
Depreciation

Al 31 December 2011
Charge for the year (See note 4)
Disposals

At 31 December 2012
Net Book Value

At 31 December 2012
At 31 December 2011

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Cost

At 31 December 2011
Addiions

Disposals

AL 31 December 2012
Amortisation

At 31 December 2011
Churge for the year (see note 4)
AL 3] December 2012
Net Book Value
AL3] December 2012

OoOooOoOddooOoomdmr
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{unlimited company)
TAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER
Fixtures,
Leaschold fittings &
improvements copuipment Tatal
LSS 00 LSS 000 LSS 000
15,123 5,564 20,602
0,500 1,858 11,358
- {T84) (784)
24,628 6,638 31,266
5,982 3400 12,481
2,519 720 3,248
. (527) (32T
11,501 3701 15,202
13,127 2,937 16,064
6,146 2,065 8,211
(Mher
Shares in investments,
subsidiary ather than
undertakings loans Total
LSS (0 USS 000 USE 000
3,971 1,334 5,305
495,761 . 495,761
(50 657} (117
499,682 1,267 500,949
. 60 69
- o9 L3
499 682 1,195 500,380
3,971 1,265 5,235

Al 3] Decembser 2001

Other invesiments, other than loans primarily consists of exchange memberships, The directors consider that the fair
value of investments in subsidiary underakings and other investments, other than loans is not less than their book

value.

During the year, the company injected additional capital of US3496 million inte Sphere Fundo De Investimento
Multimereado - Invesiimento No Exterior Credite Privado.  This injection was used 1o promote the growth of the

investment fund.
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13

THE FINANCIAL

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

On 12 Decernber 2012, the company's 100% subsidiary Goldman Sachs (Jersey) Limited cancelled 50,000 ordinary
shares of USSI each issued to the company and repaid an amount of USS30,000 represeating the nominal value of
the shares. There was no gain or loss on disposal. Prior to liguidation, Goldman Sachs (Jersey) Limited acted as an
issuer of securitised derivatives in a number of European markets. During the year, Goldman Sachs (Jersey) Limited
terminated its warranis program following the expiry of its outstanding issued warrants,

The subsidiaries over which the company exercises control at the year end are listed below:

Haolding and
Country of praportion of Class of units/ Number  Moture of

Name of company incorporation voling rights  shares held  held business
Sphere Fundo De Tnvestimento

Mulimereado - Investimento Investmem

Mo Exterior Credito Privado Brazil 100°%: Uninz 127,141 T

Ordinary Service

Goldman Sachs Europe Limited Jersey 100% shares 100 company
Goldman Sachs Securitics Ordinary Momines

(Mominges) Limited Great Britain - 100% shares 2 sharcholder

The company has interests in a number of special purpose vehicles and capital-guarantced funds considered by the
dircctors w be subsidiarics which do not meet the definition of a legal subsidiary, bul give rise 1o the risks and
rewards that are, in subsiance, no different than if they were legal subsidiaries. The activities of these special
purpose vehicles and the capital-guaranteed funds consist of the issuance of loan notes under the terms af a
repackaging programme.  These vehicles are consolidated in the financial staements of Goldman Sachs Group
Holdings (LLK.).
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4

NOTES TO THE FIN

EMENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2012

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OWNED AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SOLD, BUT NOT YET

PURCHASED

Financial instruments owned and financial instruments seld, but not yet purchased comprise financial instruments
and investments within the operating activities of the company. Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral
represents financial instrumens owned and pledged o counterpartics that have the right to deliver or repledge.

Financial instruments owned, including financial instrumenis pledged as collateral, comprises:

Cash instruments;

Government and agency ohligations
Equitics

Corporate debt

Commergial paper

Drerivative instruments:
Interest rale

Credit

Equity

Forcign currency
Commioditics

Financial instruments owned
Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral

Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased comprises:

Cash instruments:

Government and agency obligations
Equities

Corporate deb

Derivative instroments:
Interest rle

Credit

Eguity

Forcign currency
Commodities

M December 20012 31 December 2011
LSS0 USS"000
25,492,194 29,915,708
33955630 20,231,295
12,250,613 14,426,233
475,132 1615408
72,203,569 66,191,644
208,333,723 240,362,676
104,822971 173,726,259
65,673,030 22,389,995
40,251,289 47,125 406
5,165,141 7,582,023
514,276,154 556,687,267
586,479,723 622,875,911
S61,492.911 H03,488,261
24.986,812 19, 3,650
586,479,723 622,878,911

31 December 2012

31 December 2011

US$"000 US$'000
13,506,781 16,898,751
11,813,137 14,556,429

2,881,237 3,037,981
28,201,155 34,493,161
294,450,307 235,873,275
93,313,839 161,612,246
50,839,160 71,431,567
39,724,702 47,106,683
4,645,288 7,020,100
491,973,29 523,043,371
520,174,451 557,537,032

3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

COLLATERALISED AGREEMENTS

Included within the collateralised agreements are amounts of US$122,974 million (31 December 2001: USS11 1,459

million) which relate 1o groop undertakings,

DEBTORS

Amounts due from broker / dealers and customers
Amounts due from parent and group undertakings
Deferred 1ax {see note 19)

Ciher debtors

Prepayments and acerued income

Corporation tax receivahle

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

USs"000 LIS%'000
24,823,604 H0,995,132
14,782,022 14, 108,317

492,370 385,501

50971 67,076
8.858 25,183
50611 240,759
70,208,531 65,821,968

OF the amouns due feom broker / dealers and customers, USS165 million (31 December 201 12 US5170 million) is
due in more than one year. This relates o secured lending on a collatcralised debi obligation,

The remaining debiors are all within ene year of the balanee sheet date,

CASH AT BANK AND IN HAKD

Included within cash at bank and in hand is USS11,545 million (31 December 2001: US513,309 million) that is held

on behalf of clicnis in segregated accounts.

COLLATERALISED FINANCING

Included within collateralised financing are amounts of USS106,135 million (31 December 2011 USS104,650

million} which relate w0 group undenakings.,

DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax balance comprises (see note 16):
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances
Post-retirement benefits

Other timing differences

The movements in the deferved tax balance were as follows:

AL 31 December 2011

Transfer to the profit and loss aceount for the year (see note 1 la)

Transfer to the statement of total recognised gains and losses for the
:ﬂ:.‘l.l'

Forcign exchange gains

An 31 December 2012

31 December 20012 31 Decomber 2011

USS"000 USS 000

6,630 5017
(36,128) (6,502)
521,868 386,176
492,370 385,501
USS 000
385,501
119,902
(13.832)

849

492,370

Other timing differenves mainly relates 1o deferred tax in respect of equity-based compensation,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FIN STATEMENTS - M DECEMBER 2012

.  OTHER CREDITORS

Onher creditors, all of which are payable within one year of the balance sheet date, comprise:

31 December 2002 31 December 2011

USS'000 USS'000
Bank loans and overdrafis 432324 0,688
Dbt securities issued 16,292,350 18,864,139
Amounts due to broker / dealers and customers 77,468,307 B3, 004,632
Amounts due to parent and group undenakings 58,806,627 63,877,932
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 1,444 3,000
Accrual for management charges payable 1o
parcnt and group undertakings (see note 21¢) 1,112,336 142,269
Ouher taxes and social securily cosis 211,513 165,477
Dther creditors and accruals £75,087 649,192
155,199,955 173,298,319

Of debt securities issued, USS5,343 million (31 December 200 1 USS8,638 million) is secured by sccuritics which
have been pledged as collateral, of which USSTSE million (31 December 2001 USS2.565 million) relates 1o
amounts dug o parent and group undertakings.  This pledged collateral is either recognised within financial
instruments owned or sourced through collateralised agreements.

1. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

31 December 2002 31 December 2011

LSS 000 LSS 000
Long-term subordinated loans (see note a) 9,508,000 8,833,000
Db securities issued (see note b) 3,734,372 4135827
Amoums due 1w parent and group undenakings R20.878 1,460,049
Acerual for management charges payable to parent and group
undertakings (see note ¢) £55,138 512,762
14,968,588 14,941,638

a.  The amoums owstanding at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2001 include long-term subordinated loans
from group widertakings. The loans are unseoured and carry interest al a margin over the U8, Federal
Reserve's federal funds rate, The margin is resel on a periodic basis to reflect changes in the group's long-1erm
debt spreads,  Long-term subordinated loans of US59,508 million (31 December 2011: USS2.833 million)
constitute regulatory capital as approved by the FSA, which is repayable otherwise than by instalments subject
to FSA approval and upon giving or receiving at least five years' notice 1o or from the group undertakings,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

2. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR (continued)

b.  The maturity of debt securities issued due after more than one year is as follows:
31 December 2012 3 December 2011

LS5"000 USS 000

TIn mere than one year, bul not more than two years 1,478,957 30616
In mere than two years, bul net more than five years 9E6,079 2,776,008
In more than five years 1,319,336 1129203
3,784,372 4,135,527

OF the above, USS1,492 million (31 December 2001: US$2.310 million) is secured by securities which have
been pledged as collateral, of which USS1,006 million (31 December 2011: US3935 million) is repayable 1o
group undertakings, OF this amount, US5775 million i secured (31 December 20011: USS64% million).
Collateral pledged is cither recognised within financial instruments owned or sourced through collmeralised
agreements,  Amounts due in more than five years predominantly relate to structured debt securities wiih
maturities falling from 2018 1o 2050, Payments on these seeuritics are typically referenced 1w underlying
financial assets including collaeralised debt obligations and OTC merigage porifolios,

¢ The accrual for management charges (per above and note 200 is in respeet of RSUs and Long-Term Incemtive
Plans.

22 PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

USS'000
Anl January 2002 5,991
Charge to the profit and loss sceount 9,233
Foreign exchange loss &1
At 31 December 2012 15,305

The provision of USS15 million was made in respect of legal claims made against the company, Further details
relating to these elaims have not been disclosed ag permitted by accounting standard FRS12, ‘Provisions, Contingent
Liabilitics and Contingent Assets’, on the grounds that it would be seriously prejudicial 1o do so,

213 SHARE CAPITAL

A3 Degember 2001 and 31 December 2012 share capital comprised:

3 December 2012 31 December 2011
Mew, US$000 Mo, LSS 000
Ordinary shares of US51 each 533,447,150 S33447 499,257,654 490,258
Class A preference shares of USS0.01 cach . - G5E,650,363 9586
Class B preference shares of USS0.01 cach = - 277,906,977 2,279
533447 511,123

During the year, the dircctors and shareholders of the company reviewed GSI's capital requirements under the
forthcoming Ewropean Union Founth Capital Requiremems Directive (‘CRD 1V®).  In order 1o maimain the
equivatent level of Tier | capital under the new requirements the company repaid its preference shares, together with
associated premium, and allotted additional ordinary shares.

O 4 Degember 2012, 542,680,527 class A preference shares of USS0.01 each and 99,069,768 class B preference
shares of USS0.01 each were repaid 1o Goldman Sachs Holdings (ULK.) and 415,978,836 class A preference shares
of USS0.01 cach and 128,337,208 class B preference shares of USS0.01 each were repaid 10 Goldman Sache Group
Holdings (UK.} The total consideration paid was USS$1,272,191,155 in cosh incorporating a share premivm of
US51.260,325,492,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012
SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Up uniil repayment, the class A and class B preference shares carried limited voting rights and, on a winding up, the
holders held a preferential right 1o return of capital wgether with any premium. Class A preference shares had a
fixed non-cumulative dividend payable at a rate of 8 cents per share per annum, Class B preference shares had a
fixed non-cumulative dividend at a rate of 10 cems per share per annum,

On 4 December 2002, 33,847,601 ordinary shares of USSI cach were allotted at USS37.21 10 Goldman Sachs
Holdings (UK.} and 341,895 ondinary shares of USS1 cach were allotied at US337.21 10 Goldman Sachs Group
Holdings (U.K.b. The total consideration received was USS$1,272,191,146 in cash incorporating a share premium of
USS1, 238,001,650,

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS® FUNDS AND MOVEMENTS ON
RESERVES

Share Capital reserve Profit

Called up premium (non-  and loess
share copital aecount  distributable) account Total
USS 000 LISS"000 USS'000  USS™000 LISS'000
At 1 January 20011 511,123 2,885,260 17,286 13,762,319 17,175,988
Profin for the financial year - - - 2425403 2425403
Other recognised losses for the year . . . (38,880 (35,580
Dividends paid (see note 23) - - . (99.483) (99.483)
Share-based payments (see note 10) - . . 879,228 879,228

Management recharge related to

share-based payments - - (8T9.228)  (RT79,228)

At 1 January 2012 511,123 2,885,260 17,286 16049350 19463019
Profit for the financial year . - - GB3960 683,960
Oher recognised gains for the year - . . 46,474 40,474
Share-based payments (see note 10) - . - 384,256 384,256
Management recharge related to
share-based payments - - - (384.256)  (384,236)
Shares issued (see note 23) 34,189 1,238,002 . - 1L,2T72091
Preference shares repaid (see nowe 23) (101,865}  (1.260,326) - (1,272,191}
At 31 December 2012 533447 2,862,936 17,286 16,779,784 20,193,453
Pension reserve
31 December 20012 31 December 2011
USE 000 LSS 000
Profit and loss secount excluding pension surplus 16,567.314 15,917,196
Pension surplus (see note %) 212470 132,154
Profit and Inss sccount 16,779,784 16,049,350

DIVIDENDS PAIT
31 December 2002 31 December 2011

VS 000 LSS 000

US50.01 Class A fixed rue preference shares - 76693
UE30.01 Class B fined rate preference shares - 22.7%0
. 99,453

The direciors did not declare or pay o preference dividend during the year (year ended 31 December 2011
USS99483,000). The directors do not recommend the payment of an ordinary dividend in respect of the year (year
ended 31 December 201 12 USSnil),
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
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{ FINANCIAL STATEMEN

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Mormal rading aciivitics expose the company to market, credit and liquidity risk. These risks, deseribed below, are
managed in accordance with esublished risk management policies and procedures,

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. manages market, credit and liquidity risk on a consistent basis across the group.
Consequently, the company, as part of that group, adheres 1o global risk management policies and procedures,

The company seeks to monitor and contrel its risk exposure through a risk and control framework encompassing a
variely of scparate, bul complementary, financial, credit, operational, compliance and legal reporting systems,
imernal controls, management review processes and other mechanisms. In addition, a number of global, regional
and ennity commitltees are responsible for monitoring risk exposures and for general oversight of the company’s risk
management process.  These commitees meet regularly and consist of scnior members of both the revenue-
producing units and departments that are independent of the revenue-producing units. In addition to the commillees,
functions that are independent of the revenue-producing units, such as Compliance, Finance (including Risk
Management), Legal, Internal Audit and Operations, perform global risk management Tunctions, which include
monitoring, analysing and cvaluating risk,

a.  Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss in the value of the company's inventory due o changes in market prices,
Financial instruments are held primarily for market making for clients and for investing and lending activities,
Therefore, the value of these financial instruments changes based on client demands and investmen
opperunitics.  Financial instruments are accounted for at fair value and, therefore, fluctuate on a daily basis,
Categories of market risk include the following:

*  imierest rate risk primarily results from exposures 1o changes in the level, slope and curvature of vield
eurves, the velatilities of interest rales, morigage prepayment speeds and credin spreads;

* equily price risk resulls from exposures o changes in prices and volatilities of individual equitics, baskels
of equities and equity indices; and

* currency rate risk results from exposures to changes in spol prices, forward prices and volatilitics of
curreney rates.

The company manages market risk by diversifying exposures, controlling position sizes and establishing
ceonomic hedges in related securitics or derivatives. The risk management process includes:

*  agowurate and imely exposure information incorporating multiple risk metrics;
. a dynamic limit sewting framework; and

* constanl communication among revenug-producing units, risk managers and senior management,

Market Risk Management, which is independent of the revenue-producing units and reporis io the chiel risk
officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing market risk.  Risks are monitored
and controlled through stirong oversight and independent control and support funclions across the global
husinesses,

Market Risk Management produces risk measures and monitors them against market risk limits set by the GSI
Risk Commiuee. These measures reflect an extensive range of scenarios and the resulis are aggregated at
trading desk, business and company levels.

A variety of risk measures are used 1o estimate (he size of potential losses for both mederate and more extreme
market moves over both short-term and long-term time horizons, RKisk measures used for shorter-term periods
include Value-ai-Risk ("VaR™) and sensitivity metrics. For longer-term horizons, the primary risk measures ane
stress tests,  The risk reports detail key risks, drivers and changes for each desk and business, and are
distributed daily to senior moanagement of both the revenue-producing uniis and independen conrol and
support funclions,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2012

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a. Market risk (continued)
Management has made a significant investment in technology to monitor market risk including:
*  anindependent calculation of Wal and siress measures;
»  risk measures caleulated at individual position levels:
«  auribution of risk measures o individual risk factors of cach position;

= the ability to report many different views of the risk measures, e.g. by desk, business or product type;
and

*  the ability 1o produce ad hoe analyses in a timely manner.

Risk limits are used at various levels in the group (including company, business and product) 10 govern risk
appetite by controlling the size of exposures o market risk. Limits are reviewed frequently and amended on a
permanent or temporary basis 1o reflect changing marker conditions, business conditions or wlerance for risk,

The GS1 Risk Committee sets market risk limits a1 company, business and product levels, The purpose of the
limils is ter assist senior management in controlling the company's overall risk profile. Business level limits are
designed 1o sel the desined maximum amount of exposere that may be managed by any panicular business on a
dity-1o-day basis without additional levels of senior management approval, effectively leaving day-to-day
trading decisions 1o individual desk managers and raders.  Accordingly, sub-limils are a management tool
designed 1o ensure appropriate escalation rather than to establish maximum risk wlerance. Sub-limits are also
designed 1o distribute risk among various businesses in a manner that is consistent with their level of activity
and elient demand, taking inte account the relative performance of each arca.

Market risk limils are monitored daily by Market Risk Management, which is responsible for identifying and
escalating, on a timely basis, instances where limits have been exceeded. The business-level limits are subject
to the same seruting and limit escalation policy as the company and group limits. When a risk limit has been
exceeded, ¢.g. due to changes in market conditions, such as increased volatilities or changes in comelations, it
is reported w the GSI Risk Committee and a discussion takes place with the relevant desk managers, after
which cither ihe risk position is reduced or the risk limit is wmporarily or permanently ingreased.

b.  Credit rick

Credil risk represents the potential for loss due 1 the default or deterioration in credit quality of a counterparty,
e.g. an OTC derivatives counterparty or a borrower, or an issuer of securitics or other instruments the company
holds. Exposure to credit risk comes mostly from client ransactions in OTC derivatives.  Credit risk also
comes from cash placed with banks, securities financing ransactions, i.c. resale and repurchase agreements and
securitics borrowing and lending activitics, and receivables from brokers / dealers, clearing organisations,
customers and counterpartics,

Credit Risk Management, which is independent of the revenue-producing units and reporis 1o the chiefl risk
officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing credit risk, The group's Credit
Policy Committee, GST Risk Commitiee and GSI Credit Commitee establish and review credit policies and
parameters,  In addition, the company holds other positions that give rise to credit risk, e.g. bonds held in
inventory. These eredit risks are caplured as a component of market risk measures, which are monitored and
managed by Market Rick Management, consistent with other inventory positions,

Paolicies authorised by the company’s aforementioned commitiees and the group™s Credin Policy Committce
preseribe the level of formal approval required for the company to assume credit exposure 1o a counterparty
across all product arcas, wking into account any enforceable neting provisions, collateral or other credit risk
mitigans,
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TES TO THE FINANCI (MENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2012
26.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
I Credit risk (continued)

Effeciive management of credit risk requires accurate and timely information, a high level of communication
and knowledge of customers, countries, industrics and products, The process for managing credit rigk includes;

*  approving wansactions and seiling and communicating eredit exposure limits;
+  monitering compliance with established eredit exposure limits:
* assessing the likelihood that a counterpany will default on its payment obligations;

*  measuring the company’s curvent and potential credit exposure and losses resuliing from counterparty
el

*  reporting of credit exposures (o senior management, the Board and regulators;
*  use of eredit risk mitigants, including collateral and hedging: and

*  communicaiion and collaboration with other independent control and support functions such as
Operations, Legal and Compliance.

As part of the risk assessment process, Credit Risk Management performs credit reviews which include initial
and ongoing analyses of the company’s counterpartics. A eredit review is an independent judgement about the
capacity and willingness of a counterparty to meet its financial obligations. For substantially all of the
company’s credit exposures, the core of the process s an annual counterparly review., A counterpanty review is
a writien analysis of a counterparty’s business profile and financial swrengih resulting in an internal eredit rating
which represents the probability of defauli on financial obligations to the company. The determination of
internal credit ratings incorporates assumptions with respect o the counterparty’s future business performance,
the nawre and outlook for the counterpanty’s industry and the economic environment. Senior personnel within
Credit Risk Management, with expertise in specific industries, inspect and approve eredit reviews and intermal
credit ratings,

The global credit risk managemen systems capture credil exposure 0 individual counterparties and on an
aggregate basis to counterpartics and (heir subsidiaries (cconomic groups). These systems also provide
management with comprehensive information on aggregate credit risk by produet, internal credit rating,
industry, country and region,

Credit risk is measured based on the potential loss in an event of non-payment by a counterparty. For
derivatives and securitics financing transactions, the primary measure is poiential exposure, which is the
estimate of the future exposure that could arise over the life of a transaction based on market movements within
a specificd confidence level. Powntial exposure 1akes into account newing and collateral arrangements. Credin
risk is also monitored in 1erms of current exposure, which is the amount presently owed to the company afler
taking inte account applicable netting and collateral,

¢.  Liguidity risk

Liquidity is of eritical importance to financial institutions.  Accordingly, the company has in place a
comprehensive and conservative set of liquidity and funding policics 1o address both company-speeific and
broader industry or market liquidity events. The principal objective is to be able to fund the company and 1w
enable the core businesses to continue W0 generate revenues under adverse circumstances.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{unlimited company)

5 TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMEN

26, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
¢, Ligquidity risk (continued)
The company manages liquidity risk according 1o the following principles:

*excess liquidity - maintain substantial excess liguidity to meet a broad range of potential cash oulflows
and collateral needs in a stressed environmeni;

«  asser-liability management - assess the overall anticipated holding periods for the company's assets and
their expected liquidity in a stressed environment, Manage the maturitics and diversity of funding across
markets, products and coumerpartics, and seck to maintain liabilities of appropriste tenor relative to the
assel base; and

*  contingency funding plan ("CFP*) - a CFP is maintained to provide a framework for analysing and
respomding to a liguidity crisis situation or periods of market siress. This framework sets forth the plan of
aetion to fund normal business activity in emergency and stress situations,

27, FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

a.  The company’s financial commitments and contingencies outstanding a1 the year end arise from letiers of eredit
and forward foreign eschange, swaps, options, financial futures contracis, debt and equity forwards and
underwriling commitments enered inte in the ordinary course of business. In addition, there are regisiered
charges on the company’s assets which have arisen in the ordinary course of business,

b, The company leases certain buildings on long-term leases,  Under these leases, which are subject 1o
rencgotiation al various intervals specified in the leases, the company pays all insurance, maintenance and
repairs of these propertics. The rentals that the company is commined w pay in the next vear are a5 follows:

31 December 20012 31 December 2011
LSS i LSS 000
Maturity of lease:
Less than one vear 13 555
Between one and two years 1311 9,535
Bewween two and five years 1,204 2934
Owver five years 99,916 95334
102,617 108,358

5. ULTIMATE AND IMMEDIATE PARENT UNDERTAKINGS

The immediate parent undenaking is Goldman Sachs Holdings (UK., The parent company of e smallest group
fer which consolidated financial statements are prepared is Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (UK., Both companies
are incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales, The ultimate parent undertaking and the
parent company of the largest group for which consolidated financial statements are prepared is The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc., a company incorporated in the United States of America.  Copies of ils consolidated financial
statements, as well as certain regulatory filings, for example Forms 1040 and 10-K, that provide additional
information on the group and s business setivities, can be obtained from Investor Relations, 200 West Street, New
York, NY 10232, United States of America, the group’s principal place of business or  al
www_goldmansachs.com/sharcholders!.
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2011 12 31
12 31
2011 2010
4 5,131,538 526,239,222 7,373,167 756,118,276
(2,059,618)  (211,213,826)  (6,095,843)  (625,128,700)
5 3,071,920 315,025,396 1,277,324 130,989,576
6 115,087 11,802,172 — —
(105,826) (10,852,456) (98,585) (10,109,892)
10 28,180 2,889,859 8,636 885,622
3,109,361 318,864,971 1,187,375 121,765,306
12 (683,958) (70,139,893) (412,329) (42,284,339)
25 2,425,403 248,725,078 775,046 79,480,967
12 31
2011 2010
2,425,403 248,725,078 775,046 79,480,967
( 10 (51,852) (5,317,423) 88,214 9,046,346
¢ 20 12,963 1,329,356 (23,818) (2,442,536)
2,386,514 244,737,011 839,442 86,084,777
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OoOooOoOddooOoomdmr
2011 12 31 2010 12 31

13 8,211 842,038 5,193 532,542
14 5,236 536,952 2,721 279,039
13,447 1,378,990 7,914 811,581
15 603,488,261 61,887,721,166 473,443,028 48,551,582,521
15 19,390, 650 1,988,511,158 21,805,808 2,236,185,610
3,16 238,648,388 24,473,392,189 198,297,034 20,335,360,837
3,17 65,821,968 6,750,042,818 45,593,097 4,675,572,097
18 14,776,833 1,515,364,224 11,588,242 1,188,374,217
942,126,100 96,615,031,555 750,727,209 76,987,075,283
15 (557,537,032)  (57,175,422,632) (426,274,193)  (43,714,418,492)
3,19 (177,025,702)  (18,153,985,740) (147,338,499)  (15,109,563,072)
3,21 (173,298,319)  (17,771,742,613) (147,420,573)  (15,117,979,761)
(907,861,053)  (93,101,150,985) (721,033,265)  (73,941,961,326)
34,265,047 3,513,880,570 29,693,944 3,045,113,957
34,278,494 3,515,259,560 29,701,858 3,045,925,538
22 (14,941,638) (1,532,264,977) (12,624,872) (1,294,680,624)
23 (5,991) (614,377) (65,000) (6,665,750)
19,330,865 1,982,380,206 17,011,986 1,744,579,164
10,25 132,154 13,552,393 164,002 16,818,405
19,463,019 1,995,932,598 17,175,988 1,761,397,569
24,25 511,123 52,415,664 511,123 52,415,664
25 2,885,260 295,883,413 2,885,260 295,883,413
( ) 25 17,286 1,772,679 17,286 1,772,679
25 16,049,350 1,645,860,843 13,762,319 1,411,325,813
19,463,019 1,995,932,598 17,175,988 1,761,397,569
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g.
r.
a. FRS (1996 )
90
FRS (1996 )
b. FRS
FRS ©)

c. FRS 29 (IFRS )

(U.K.) 90

FRS 29 (IFRS )
2008 /410
2010 12 31
173,211 (2010 12 31 134,393 )

65,437 (2010 12 31 63,904 )
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115,466 (2010 12 31 87,336
61,560 (2010 12 31 60,002 )
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
925,807 1,020,240
4,010,651 5,875,784
(36,545) 271,774
231,625 205,369
5,131,538 7,373,167

M&A
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( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
2,928 3,027
2 7
400,740 401,988
(236,134) (351,779)
(2,454) (4,180)
5,689 5,379
97,827 94,447
1,078,352 1,008,987
2,851,540 1,935,008
(196,021) (201,060)
(3,804,394) (2,874,837)
(U.KD
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
115,087 —
4,885
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
105,826 98,585
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
4,491 7,886
9 10
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OO000000000000
4,500 7,896
1,350 1,784
— 4
— 10
2006
( )
(
) ( )
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
623 574
1,545 1,532
105 127
467 439
2,808 2,684
5,548 5,356
531 600
6,079 5,956
2011 12 31 5,791 (2010 12 31 6,272 )
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
898,265 4,328,018
146,127 447,402
— 465,000
( ) 58,831 50,273
42,710 46,486
1,145,933 5,337,179
1,823 (2010 12 31
455 )
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10.
(
) 2008
2011 31 2011 12 31
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
) )
4.90 5.40
4.00 4.00
(1996 11 30 ) 3.40 3.85
(1996 11 30 ) 2.20 3.15
3.40 3.85
s1
( ) 2009 2009
2010 12 31
0.2 65
( CPI ) ( RPI )
1.2 (2010 12 31 0.7 )
73
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
) ( ) ) ( )
8.2 638.4 8.7 645.0
3.4 142.4 4.5 129.2
3.1 278.8 4.1 279.4
1,059.6 1,053.6
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31 2009 12 31 2008 11 28 2007 11 30
1,059.6 1,053.6 744.9 524.1 590.3
927.4 889.6 902.1 395.0 698.5
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OO00O00O000000000
132.2 164.0 (157.2) 129.1 (108.2)
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31

52.3 51.4

52.3 51.4

49.4 48.4

(77.6) (57.0)

(28.2) (8.6)

24.1 42.8

/C ) 101.1 (14.0)

(28.5) (48.6)

) (20.7) (25.6)

/¢ ) 51.9 (88.2)

2011 12 31 2010 12 31 2009 12 31 2008 11 28 2007 11 30

) 101.1 (14.0) (107.0) 115.8 (66.8)
9.5 1.3 14.4 22.1 11.3

) (28.5) (48.6) 17.2) (15.9) 38.7
3.1 5.5 1.9 4.0 5.5

) 51.9 (88.2) 300.5 (153.9) (46.5)
5.6 9.9 33.3 39.0 6.7

( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31

1,053.6 744.9

77.6 57.0

)/ (101.1) 14.0

236/306



/(

/( )

/( )

2012 12 31 /2011 12 31
2012 12 31 /2011 12 31
2011 12 31 /2010 12 31

C )

FRS 17

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OoOooOoOddooOoomdmr
43.8 266.8
(8.5) (6.8)
(5.8) (22.3)
1,059.6 1,053.6
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
889.6 902.1
52.3 51.4
49.4 48.4
(20.7) (25.6)
(28.5) (48.6)
(8.5) (6.8)
(6.2) (31.3)
927.4 889.6
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
164.0 (157.2)
43.8 266.8
(52.3) (51.4)
28.2 8.6
(51.9) 88.2
0.4 9.0
132.2 164.0
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
8.2 7.0
36.0 46.0
77.6 57.0
(101.1) 14.0
(23.5) 71.0
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
(91.3) (39.4)
25.4 12.4
(65.9) (27.0)
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11.
( GSI )
( RSU
) (
SIP )
(RSV)
SIP GSI RSU RSU
RSU RSU
RSU
RSU
( RSU )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
11,090,072 8,791,254 6,724,828 5,724,511
1,817,659 2,391,093 4,199,755 9,118,649
(52,758) (521,016) (67,459) (478,345)
(11,146,411) — (4,972,774) —
/C ) 50,979 (59,560) 2,430 (370, 269)
5,559,239 (5,559,239) 5,203,292 (5,203,292)
7,318,780 5,042,532 11,090,072 8,791,254
2011 12 31 145.58 (2010 12 31
134.24 ) 2011 12 31 2010 12 31
RSU 9.5 11.1
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
10
SIp
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
( ) ( : )
11,935,923 90.07 13,787,180 89.24
(7.681) 78.38 (95,144) 78.37
) /( 57,090 76.25 (64,672) 78.78
(534,972) 90.69 (1,684,352) 84.39

238/306



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OOoOoO0OoooooooOnd
(574,838) 91.61 (7,089) 82.88
10,875,522 89.89 11,935,923 90.07
7,741,204 94.39 5,258,044 92.41
135.40 (2010 12 31
163.15 ) 2011 12 31 2010 12 31
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
75.00 89.99 9,694,275 6.64 9,679,264 7.61
90.00 104.99 45,217 1.92 1,120,629 1.01
120.00 134.99 288,720 3.92 288,720 4.92
195.00 209.99 847,310 5.51 847,310 6.51
10,875,522 11,935,923
6l 879 2011 12 31
(2010 12 31 1,272 )
12.
a.
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
26,649 441,675
(52,506) 40,106
32,420 59,147
( 120 ) 6,563 540,928
617,648 (127,943)
50,713 _
34 (656)
«( 20 ) 677,395 (128,599)
683,958 412,329
b.
26.5 (2010 12 31 28 )
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
3,109,361 1,187,375
26.5 (2010 28 ) 823,980 332,465
25.156 132,628
(19,443) (105, 155)
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2010

2011

2010

2011

2011
2010

14.

2010

2011

2010

2011

2011
2010

12

12

12

12

12
12

12

12

12

12

12
12

31

31

31

31

31
31

31

31

31

31

31
31
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(648,414) 271,404

(105,263) (92,822)

(5,714) (4,137)

(16,408) (38,005)
5,175 4,444
(52,506) 40,106
6,563 540,928

)

20,056 4,729 16 24,801
4,992 954 — 5,946

(9,920) (119) (16) (10,055)
15,128 5,564 — 20,692
16,698 2,894 16 19,608
2,204 724 — 2,928

(9,920) (119) (16) (10,055)
8,982 3,499 — 12,481
6,146 2,065 — 8,211
3,358 1,835 — 5,193

)

1,474 1,314 2,788
2,497 20 2,517
3,971 1,334 5,305
— 67 67
— 2 2
— 69 69
3,971 1,265 5,236
1,474 1,247 2,721
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()
100 4,532
100 100
( 100 2
100 50,000
(U-K-)
15.
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2011 12 31 2010 12 31
29,915,708 31,267,939
20,231,295 21,862,344
14,426,233 13,094,620

1,618,408 2,766,265
66,191,644 68,991,168
240,862,676 135,680,471
178,726,259 156,613,555
82,389,998 79,019,306
47,125,406 43,846,471

7,582,928 11,097,865
556,687,267 426,257,668
622,878,911 495,248,836
603,488,261 473,443,028
19,390,650 21,805,808
622,878,911 495,248,836
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16.
17.
/
( 20
/
18.
)
19.
)
20.

OoOooOoOddooOoomdmr
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
16,898,751 23,313,148
14,556,429 12,559,308
3,037,981 3,099,633
34,493,161 38,972,089
235,873,275 130,272,327
161,612,246 136,677,754
71,431,567 66,757,981
47,106,683 43,969,071
7,020,100 9,624,971
523,043,871 387,302,104
557,537,032 426,274,193
111,459 (2010 12 31 97,109 )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
50,995,132 35,845,462
14,108,317 8,604,439
385,501 1,051,067
67,076 68,261
25,183 23,868
240,759 —
65,821,968 45,593,007
170 (2010 12 31 )
2010 12 31 27
13,309 (2010 12 31 10,780
104,659 (2010 12 31 70,264
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2011 12 31 2010 12 31
17 )
5,917 5,079
(6,592) 5,871
386,176 1,040,117
385,501 1,051,067
(
2010 12 31 1,051,067
( 12a ) (677,395)
12,963
(1,134)
2011 12 31 385,501
21.
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
30,688 93,407
18,864,139 16,519,135
/ 88,964,632 84,831,333
63,877,932 42,123,524
3,990 4,846
¢ 2 ) 742,269 2,489,558
— 12,579
165,477 321,021
649,192 1,025,170
173,298,319 147,420,573
8,638 (2010 12 31 6,088 )
2,568 (2010 12 31 2,272
22.
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
a ) 8,833,000 5,333,000
( b ) 4,135,827 4,261,639
1,460,049 1,719,196
512,762 1,311,037
¢ ¢ )
14,941,638 12,624,872
a. 2011 12 31 2010 12 31
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23.
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2011 12 31

24.
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(2010 12 31 5,333 ) FSA
8,833
(2010 12 31 333
5,000
) FSA
)
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
230,616 1,316,235
2,776,008 2,073,642
1,129,203 871,762
4,135,827 4,261,639
(2010 12 31 1,505 )
(2010 12 31 1,979 )
(2010 12 31 468 )
2017 2050
RSU
)
65,000
9,696
(68,087)
(618)
5,991
FRS 12
2011 12 31
2011 12 31 2010 12 31

) ( ) ( ( )
499,257,654 499,258 499,257,654 499,258
958,659,363 9,586 958,659,363 9,586
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0.01 227,906,997 2,279 227,906,997 2,279
511,123 511,123
10
25.
( )
( )
2010
511,123 2,885,260 17,286 13,022,360 16,436,029
— — — 775,046 775,046
— _ — 64,396 64,396
( 26 ) - — — (99,483) (99,483)
Con oy _ _ _ 1,271,846 1,271,846
— — — (1,271,846) (1,271,846)
2011
511,123 2,885,260 17,286 13,762,319 17,175,988
— — — 2,425,403 2,425,403
— — — (38,889) (38,889)
C 2% ) — — — (99,483) (99,483)
Cou ) — _ — 879,228 879,228
— — — (879,228) (879,228)
2011 12 31 511,123 2,885,260 17,286 16,049,350 19,463,019
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
15,917,196 13,598,317
( 10 ) 132,154 164,002
16,049,350 13,762,319
26.
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
0.01 76,693 76,693
0.01 22,790 22.790
99,483 99,483
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( CFP ) —
CFP
28.
a.
b.
( )
2011 12 31 2010 12 31
555 1,386
9,535 111
2,934 15,125
95,334 96,972
108,358 113,594
29.
(U.K.)
(U.K.)
10282
200
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
for the year ended 31 December 2011
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
Mote USS 000 LSS 000
Met revenue 4 5,131,538 T.373,167
Adminisirative expenscs (2,059,618) (6,0935,843)
OPERATING PROFIT 5 3.071,920 1277324
Other interest receivable and similar income 6 115,087 -
Interest payable and similar charges 7 (105,826} (D8,585)
Met finance income 10 28,180 4,636
FROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEEFORE
TAXATION 3,100,361 1.187 375
Tax on profit on ordinary sctivities 12 (6E3,058) (412,329)
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER
TAXATION AND FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 25 2425403 775,046
Met revenue and operating profit of the company are derived from continuing operations in the current and prior years,
TATEMEN J 5 AND LOSSES
for the year ended 31 December 2011
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2001 31 December 2010
MNote USS 00 US$"000
Profit for the financial vear 2,425 403 775,046
Actuarial (loss) f gain relating to the pension scheme 10 (51,852} 48,214
UK deferred tax attributable to the actuarial {loss) ¢ gain 20 12,963 (23 818)
TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND
SINCE LAST FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2,386,514 830,442

The notes on pages 11 to 38 form an imtegral part of these financial statements.
Independent auditors” report = page B,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL

{unlimited company)
BALANCE SHEET
as @t 31 December 2011
31 December 2001 31 December 2000
Mote USS 00 US%H
FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assets 13 8,211 5,193
Investments 14 5,236 2,721
13,447 70914
CURRENT ASSETS
Financial instraments owned 15 603,458 261 473,443 028
Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral 15 19,390,630 21,805, 808
Collateralised agreemenis 3,16 238,648,388 192,267 034
Debiors 3,17 65,821,068 45,503,007
Cash at bank and in hand 18 14,776,833 11,588,242
942,126,100 TI0,727 209
CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN OME YEAR
Financial instruments sold, but not vet purchased 15 (357 537.032) (426,274,193
Collateralised financing 3. 19 (177,025, 702) (147 338 459
Oher ereditors 3,21 (172,298.319) (147,420,573)
(207 861,053) (721,033,265)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 34,265,047 29,693 044
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 34, 27TE 494 29,701,858
CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN
ONE YEAR 22 (14,941 638) (12.624,872)
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES 23 (5,951) (165,000)
NET ASSETS EXCLUDING PENSION SURPLUS 19,330 865 17,011,986
Pension sorplus 10, 25 132,154 164,002
NET ASSETS INCLUDING PENSION SURPLUS 19,462,019 17,175,988
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 24,25 S1E123 511,123
Share premium account 5 2.685.260 2,885,260
Cupital reserve (non-distiributable) 25 17.286 17,286
Profit and loss account 25 16,048,350 13,762,319
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 19,463 0149 17,175,988

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 23 Apnl 2012 and signed on its behalf by:
Vs
) [F -

Robin Vince
Director

The notes on pages 11 10 38 form an integral part of these financial stalements.
Independant anditors’ report — page B,
Company number; (2263851
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{unlimited company)

NOTES T N NTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

L. ACCOUNTING FOLICIES

4. Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical cost convention
imedified as explained in notes Im and In), and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable
accounting standards, The principal accounting policies are szt out below and have been applied consistently
throughout the year,

b. Consolidation

The company 5 a subsidiary undertaking of a company incorporated in Great Britain and has elected not o
prepare group accounts as permitied by section 400 af the Companies Act 2006,

¢ Revenue recognition

Met revenue has been disclosed instead of turnover as this more meaningfully reflects the natre and results of
the company's activities, Met revenue, afler charging related expenses, includes the net profit arsing from
transaclions in securities, foreign exchange and other financial instruments, and fees and commissions earned.
Related expenses include trading interest and dividends payable less trading interest and dividends receivable,

. Investment Banking
Financial advisory / underwriling revenues

Fees from financial advisory engagements and underwriting revenues are recognised in profit and loss
when the relevant parties are conteactually bound and as contract achivily progrésses unless the right to
consideration does not anse until the occurrence of & critical event, in which case revenue is not
recognised until that event has occurred.

Expenses associated with such transactions are deferred until the related revenue is recognised or the
engagement is otherwise concluded. Expenses associated with financial advisory transactions arc
recognised as non-compensation expenses, net of client reimbursements,  Underwriting revenues are
presented net of related expenses,

. Institutional Client Services and Investing & Lending
Financial asrets and liabilities held for trading

Financial assets and liabilities held for irading are recognised at fair value with realised and unrealised
gains and losses as well as associated interest and dividend income and expenses included in net
revenue, Financial assels are marked to bid prices and financial liahilitics are marked to offer prices.
Fair value measurements do not include fransaction costs,

Commizssions

Commission revenues from executing and clearing client transactions on stock, options and fetures
markets are recognised on the day the wrade is executed and are included in net revenues.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2011
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
c. Revenue recognition (continoed)
. Investment Management
Management fees

Management fees are recognised on an accruals basis and are generally calculated as a percentage of a
fund’s average net assel value and are recognised over the year that the related service is provided.

Incentive fees

Incentive fees are calculated as a percentage of a fund's return or a percentage of a fund’s excess
return above a specified benchmark or other performance target. Incentive fees are only recognised
once they can be reliably measured at the end of the performance vear.

d.  Operating leases

Leases are classified as fAnance leases whenever the terms of the lease ransfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ewnership (o the lesses, All other leases are classified as operanng leases,

The company has entered into operating lease arrangements where the company acts as the lessee.  Leased
assels are not recognised on the balance sheet, Costs in respect of operating leases, including any incentives
granted by the lessor, are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term and included within adminisirative
expenses in the profit and loss account,

e.  Shori-term employee benefils

Short-term employes benefits, such as wages and salaries, are measured on an uwndiscounted basis and accrved
as an expense over the year in which the employee renders the service to the company.  Provision is made for
discretionary vear end compensation whether to be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a resull of
group poelicy and past praciice, a constructve obligation exists at the balance sheet date.

f. Shuare-based payments

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, issues awards in the form of restricted siock units ("RSUs™) and stock options
1o the company’s employees for services rendered to the company. The cost of equity-based fransactions with
employees is measured based om the fair value of the equity instroments at the grant date. Non-market based
vesting conditions are not taken into account in measuring the fair value of awards, but are reflecied by
adjusting over time the number of equity wwards that are expected to vest.  Share-based awards that do not
contain vesting conditions are expensed immediately. Share-based employes awards that require future service
are amortised over the relevant service vear.

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. settles equity awards through the delivery of its ordinary shares. The
Gioldman Sachs Group, Ine. pays cash dividend equivalents on outstanding resiricted stock units, The company
has also entered into a chargeback agreement with The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. under which it is
commted o pay the market value at grant date as well as subsequent movements in fair value of those awards
to the group at the Gme of delivery 1o its employees,

g. Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U5 Dollars at rates of exchange nling on
the date the transaction occurred.  Monetary assets and labilities denominated in foreign currencies are
trunslated into U5 Dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange pains and
losses are recognised in operating profiL
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
{unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued )
h. Pemsion cost

The company i5 a sponsor of a defined contribution pension scheme and a hybrid pension plan for the benefit
of certain employees. The defined bencfit and defined contributions sections of the hybrid plan and the defined
contribution pension scheme are accounted for as follows:

. for the defined benefit section, the amounts charged to operating profit are the current service costs,
any past service cosis and any gains or losses on seterments and curtailments, They are included as
part of staff costs. The interest cost and expectad return on assets are shown as a net amount within
net finance inceme.  Actuerial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the statement of total
recognised gains and losses, The defined benefit secton is funded, with the assets of the scheme held
separately from those of the company, in separate tustee-administered funds. Pension scheme assels
are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit
method and discounted at a rate eguivalent o the current tate of return on a high-quality corporate
bond of equivalent currency and term to the scheme labilities. Full actuarial valuations are obtained
at least triennially and updated ar each balance sheet date. Any surplus or deficit of scheme assels
over scheme lighilities is recognised on the balance sheet as an asser (surplus) or liahility (deficit).

. For the defined contribution section and the defined contribution pension scheme, the amount charged
toy operating profit in respect of pension costs is the contributions payable for the vear, Differences
between contributions payable for the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments on the balance sheet

i.  Dividends
Final equity dividends {including dividends payable on preference shares deemed equity) are recognised in the
year that they are approved by the shareholders. Interim equity dividends are vecognised in the vear that they
are paid. Dividends are debited directly to equity.

J-  Tangible lixed asseis
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumuolated depreciation and provision for any impairment.

Depreciation is included in adminiswative expenses and 15 provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives at the following annual rates:

Fo
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 14-20
Motor vehicles 20

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the useful cconomic life of the asset or the
remaining life of the lease when the asset is brought into use, Depreciation policies are reviewed on an annual
brazis,

k. Fixed asset investments

Fixed asset investments are stated af cost or amorized cost, as applicable, less provision for any impairment.
Amortisation 15 included in administrative expenses.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
L OMisetting financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet where there is:
. currently a legally enforceable right 1o set off the recoznised amounts; and
. intent to sertle on a net basis or o realise the asset and seitle the liability simultaneously,

Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and liabilities are presented on @ gross basis on the balance
sheet.

m. Financial instruaments held for trading

Financial assets and liabilities held for wading are recorded at fair value. The fair value of a fnancial
instrument is the amount that would be received o sell an asset or paid to mansfer a liahility in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, ie. the exil price. Financial assets are
miarked 1o bid prices and financial habilities are marked to offer prices, Fair value measurements do not
include transaction costs. Fair value gains or losses are included in net revenue.

The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an active market, If listed prices or quotations are not
available, fair value is determined by reference o prices for similar instruments, queted prices or recent
ransactions in less active markets, or internally developed models that primarily use, as inputs, market-based
or independently sourced parameters, including but not limited to interest rates, volatilities, eguity or debt
prices, foreign exchange rates, commodities prices, credit curves and fumding rares. The fair value of cerlain
financial assets and financial liabilities may require appropriate valuation adjostments for counterparty and the
company s credit quality, funding risk, transfer restrictions, iliguidity and bid J offer spreads.

Cash instruments include securities, which are typically readily wransferable and exhibit reasonable levels of
price transparency, and other cash instruments, such as loans. Cash instruments that trade in active markets are
valued wsing quoted prices for identical unrestricted instruments.  (Mher cash instruments (such as most
government agency obligations, most corporate debt securities, restricted or lass liquid publicly listed equities,
most state and municipal obligations and certain money market instruments and lending commitments) are
valued by verifying to quoted prices, recent wading activity for identical or similar instruments, broker or
dealer quotations or aliernative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price mransparency. Consideration is
given to the nature of the quotations (2.g. indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity to
the prices provided from alternative pricing sources, Valuation adjustments are typically made (i) if the cash
instrument is subject o regulatory or contractual transfer restrictions and ¢ or (i) for other premioms and
discounts that a market participant would require to arrive at fair value, Valuation adjustments are generally
hased on market evidence,

Certain cash instruments have one or more significant valuation inputs that are nol observable,  Absent
evidence oo the contrary, these instruments are initally valued at transaction price, which is considered 10 be
the best initial estimate of fair value. When a pricing medel is used, the model is adjusted so that the model
value of the cash instrument at inception equals the ransaction price.  Subsequently, the company uses other
methodologies to determine fair value, which vary based on the type of instrument.  Valvation inputs and
assumptions are changed when corroborated by substantive observable evidence, including values realised on
sales,

Deerivatives may be privately nepotiated contracts, which are usually referred to as over-the-counter {"OTC')
derivatives, or they may be listed and traded on an exchange (‘exchange raded'). Exchange-traded derivatives
thiat are actively traded are valued at their quoted market price.  Exchange-traded derivatives that are not
actively traded are valued using models thar calibeate 1o markel-clearing levels of OTC derivatives,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
m. Financial instruments held for trading (continued)

OTC derivatives are generally valued using market transactions and other market evidence, incleding market-
based mputs to models, calibration w market-clearing ransactions, broker or dealer quotations or other
alternative pricing sources with reazonable levels of price transparency. Consideration is given to the nature of
the quotations {e.g. indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity to the prices provided from
allernative pricing sources.

Where models are used, the selection of a particular model o value an OTC derivative depends on the
contractual terms of and specific risks inherenl in (he instrument, as well as the availability of prcing
information in the market. Valuation models require a variety of inputs, including contractual terms, market
prices, yield curves, credit curves, measures of volatility, prepayment rates, loss severnity rates and correlations
of such inputs. For OTC derivatives that trade in liquid markers, model selection does not involve significant
management judgement because outputs of models can be calibrated 1o market clearing levels.

Certain OTC derivatives are valued wsing models which utilise inputs that can be chserved in the market, as
well s unobservable inputs, Unobservable inputs include certain correlations as well as credit spreads, equity
volatility inpuis, commodity prices and commodity volarilities that are long-dated or derived from rading
activity in ingctive or less liquid markets. Subsequent to the initial valoation of such derivatives, the company
updates the observable inpuis to reflect observable market changes. Unobservable inputs are changed when
corroborated by evidence such as similar market transactions, third-party pricing services and / or broker or
dealer quotations or other empirical market daa. In circumstances where the company cannot verify the model
valueg by reference to market tramsactions, it is possible that a different valuation model could produce a
materially different estimate of fair value.

‘Day 1 P&L’ is the term used to deseribe the difference hetween the initial transaction price and the fair value
calculated by internal modelzs, Day | P&L s released 1o profit and loss at the earlier of the fair value becoming
observable using market paramcicrs, or through reference fo similar quoted producis, and derecognition of the
financial instrument,

Financial instruments owned are classified as held for trading. The directors are of the opinion that it would
noed be appropeiate o classily them as current assel investments or 10 provide an analysis of such secunities
between those listed and unlisted.

n. Collateralised agreements and financing

Collateralized agreements (secunties purchassd under agreesments wo resell and deposits placed as collateral for
stock borrowed) and collateralised financing (securities sold wnder agreements to repurchase and deposits
received as collateral for stock loans) are carried at fair value under the fair value option. The collateral can be
in the form of cash or securities. Cash collaieral is recognised / derecognised when received { paid. Collateral
posted by the company in the form of securities is not derecognised from the balance sheet, whilst collateral
received in the form of securities i1s not recogmsed on the balance sheet. If collateral received 15 subsequently
sold, the obligation to return the collaterzl and the cash received are recognised on balance sheet.

0. Deferred taxation

Deferred tax 15 recognised in respect of all wming differences that have onginated, but not reversed at the
balance sheet date, where ransactions of events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation (o
pay more tax or a right fo pay less tax in the future with the following excepiions:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continned)
0. Deferred taxation {continued)
. deferred tax assets are recognised only 1o the extent that the directors consider that it is more likely

than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying
timing differences can be deducted.

. deferred tax is megsured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected (o apply in the
periods in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacled at the balance sheet date.

Deeferred tax is recognised in the profit and loss account or directly in the statement of total recognised gains
and losses according to where the associated gain or loss, o which the deferred w@x 15 atributable, is
recognised,

p.  Provisions and contingent Liabilities

Provisions are recognised o the financial stetements when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required 1o settle a present (legal or constructive) obligation, which has arisen as a result of past evenis,
and for which a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Legal obligations that may arise
as a result of proposed new laws are recogmiszed as obligations only when the legislation is virually certamn Lo
he enacted as drafted.

Contingent lighilities are;

. possible obligations that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurtence, of non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events outside the contral of the
COMPANY; or

. present obligations that have arisen from past events bot which are not recognised because either an
owtflow of economic benefits is not probable or the amount of the obligations cannot be reliably
mizasured.

Contingent Liabilities are nol recognised in the financial statements. Howewver, the disclosure 15 made unless the
probability of seitlement is remote.

q. Non=trading financial instroments

Mon-trading financial instruments primanly comprise long-term subordinated debt and loan notes 1ssued. They
are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amomised cost. Finance cosis, including
discounts allowed on issue, are charged to the profit and loss account and recognised using the effective
interest method.

r. Financial liabilities and equity

Financtal habilities and equity investments are classified according o the substance of the contractual
arrangements. An equily investment 15 any contract that evidences a residoal interest in the assets of the entity
after dedocting all hiabilities. Investments are evaluated o determine if they contain both liability and equity
components. The imual carrying amount of a compound financial instrument is allocated first to the lability
component, measurad at fair value, and the equity is assigned the residual amount,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEER 2011

REPORTING AND DISCLOSURE EXEMPTIONS
a. FRS1 (Revised 1996) ‘Cash Flow Statements®

Thi company is a greater than 90% subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. whose consolidated accounts

include the company and are publicly available and is, therefore, exempt from preparing a cash flow statement
as required by FRS1 (Revised 19%6) “Cash Flow Statemenis’.

b. FRS5S ‘Related Party Disclosures”

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, whose consolidated aceounts
include the company and are publicly available. As a result, under the erms of paragraph 3(c) of FRSE,
‘Related Party Disclosures’, the company is exempt from disclosing transactions with companies also wholly
owned within The Goldman Sachs Growp, Inc.

.  FRS29 (IFRS7) ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’

The company is a greater than Q0% subsidiary of Goldman Sachs Growp Holdings (UK.}, whese consolidated
accounts inclede the company and are publicly available and is, therefore, exempt from the disclosures
required by FRS29 (IFRST), ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’

PRESENTATIONAL CHANGES

The directors have revised the disclosure of directors” emoluments o include only the value of cash and benefits in
kimd in accordance with the provision of Schedule 5 of Statutory Instrument 2008 / 410 Directors’ emoluments and
the disclosure for the highest paid director for the vear ended 31 December 2010 have been amended, sccordingly,
1o e consistent with the current vear's presentation.

The directors have combined the presentation of securities purchased wnder agreements 1o resell and stock borrow
agreements into collateralized agreements. In addition, the directors have combined securities sold under agreements
to repurchase and stock loan agreements into collateralised financing. The directors believe that the combination
better represents the inherent nature of the balances reported.

Collateralised agreements include securities purchased under agreements 1o resell of USS173,211 million (31
December 2000: TIS5134,393 million) and deposits placed as collateral for stock borrowed of US565,437 million
(31 December 2010: US$63,904 million). Deposits placed as collateral for stock bomrowed were previously
disclosed in deblors,

Collateralised financing includes securitics sold under agreements 1o repurchase of US$115466 million (31
[Drecember 2000 US3E7,336 million) and deposits received as collateral for stock loans of TSE61,560 million (31
December 2010: USS60,002 million). Deposits received as collateral for stock loans were previously disclosed in
other creditors.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011
SEGMENTAL REPORTING
The company’s net revenue is calegonsed into the following principal segments:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2001 31 December 20110
US$ 000 USS 000
Investment Banking Q25,807 1,020,240
Institutional Client Services 4010631 3,875,784
Invesiing & Lending (36,545 271,774
Investment Management 231,625 205,360
5,131,538 7373167

Investment Banking
Investment Banking activities consist of:

*  Financial advisory — includes advisory assignments with respect 10 mergers and scquisitions, divestilres,
corporate defence activities, risk management, restruciurings and spin offs; and

. Underwrining — includes public offerings and private placements of a wide-range of securities, loans and other
financial instruments, and derivative rransactions directly related 1o client underwriting sctivities.

Institutional Client Services
Instituticnal Chient Services is comprised of:

. Fized fncome, Currency and Commodities Clienr Execution — includes client execulion activities related to
making markets in interest rate products, credit products, mortgages, currencies and commodifies; and

. Egquittes Client Execution — includes client execution activities related to making markets in equity products, as
well as commissions and fees from execoting and clearing institutional client ransactions on major stock,
options and futures exchanges worldwide.  Equities Client Execution also includes the securities services
business, which provides financing and secunties lending prime brokerage services (o instiiutional cliems,
including hedge funds, muetual funds, pension funds and foundations, and generates revenues primarily in the
form of inlerest rate spreads or fees.

Investing & Lending

Investing & Lending includes investing activites, divectly and indirectly through funds that The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc. manages, in debt securities, loans, public and private equity securities and other investmenis.

Investment Management

Invesiment Management offers investment sdvisory services, mcluding portfolio management and counselling
services, and brokerage and other transaction services to high-net-worth individuals and families.

Geographical Analysis
Due to the highly integrated natwre of international finencizl markess, the directors consider that the company

operates in & single global market. As & resuli, no disclosure of segmental information relating to the geographical
origin of results has been provided.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEER 2011
OPERATING PROFIT
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
US55 000 USS'000
Operating profit is stated after charging / (crediting):
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (see note 13) 2928 3,027
Amortization of fixed assel investments (sce note 14) 2 T
Management fees charged by group undertakings 400,740 401 958
Management fees charged 1o group undertakings {236,134 (351,779}
Foreign exchange gain on long-term debt (2,454) (4, 180)
Auditors” remuneration for audit services: - company 5,649 5379
Upcmt'u:lg lease rentals: - land and buildings o7 827 Q4 447
Trading interest payable: - group undenakings 1,078,352 1,008 937
- other 2,851,540 1,935,008
Trading interest receivable: - group undenakings {196,021 {2001 0605
- other {3,804,304) (2,874,837}

The company has taken the exemphion not to disclose fees payable to the auditor and its associates for other non-
audit services as the consolidated financial stalements of Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (UK.) are required to

disclose such information on a consolidated basis.

OTHER INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

Year Ended Year Ended

3 December 2011 31 December 2010

USS* 000 USH 000

Recervable from parent undertakings 115,087 -

During the year, the company agreed 1o early leominate its then existing USE5,000 million short-term subordinated
loan facility with a parent undertaking. The calculated seulement value of the loan, based on fair value, was
US54,885 million and the loan was seuled by repaying this amount, with the lender agreeing to permanently release
the company from all obligations in the remaining USS115 million nominal value of the loan.

INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

Year Ended Year Ended
3 December 2011 31 December 200
USS 000 USS 000
Payable to parent undertakings 105,826 98,585

Interest payable and stmilar charges payable to parent undertakings arise on subordinated loans repayable within five
vears oflierwise than by instalments,

260/306



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OJooooooooogodo
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2001 31 December 2010
US$" 000 USH 000
Ageregate emoluments 4,491 T.BR6
Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes 9 10
4,500 7,806
IS5 MM Uss 000
Highest paid director:
Aggregate emoluments and benefits 1,350 1,784
Company pension contributions (o money purchase schemes . 4
Acerwed pension at end of vear - 10

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, directors’ emoluments represent the proportion of total emoluments
paid or payahle in respect of qualifying services only (see note 3). Director: also receive emoluments for non-
gualifying services which are not reguired te be disclosed.  Six persons, who were direciors for some or all of the
year are members of a defined conatribution pension scheme (including the defined contribution section of the hybrid
plan) and six persons are members of a defined benefit pension scheme (including the defined benefit section of the
hybrid plan), Nine directors, including the highest paid director, have been granted shares in respect of long-term
incentive schemes. Cme director, being the highest paid director, has exercised oplions.

STAFF COSTS

The average number of employees of the company, including directors, is analysed below:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2011 3 December 20010
Number Mumber
Investment Banking 623 374
Institutional Client Services 1.545 1,532
Investing & Lending 105 127
Investment Management 467 439
Support Functions 2808 2684
5,548 5,356
Consuliants and temporary stafl 531 1]
6,079 956

The company has the use of a number of individuals who are employed by affiliated entities and seconded to the
company.  These seconded individuals are included in the disclosure of headeount and related siaff costs.
Consultants and temporary staff costs are included in total direct costs of employment, below,

Total headeount as at 31 December 2001 was 5,791 (31 December 2010 6,272),
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The company sponsors an open pension plan with a hybrid structure (“the Plan®), having both defined benefit and
defined contmibution sections. From 1 March 2008, the Plan was closed to employees whose emplovment
commenced after this date and was replaced by a defined coninbution plan.

A full actuarial valwation of the defined benefit section of the Plan was carried out by a qualified independent actuary
as at 31 Aogust 2011 using the projected unit funding methoed and updated 10 31 December 2011,

The major financial assumptions wsed by the actuary underlying the funding of the Plan which had the maost
significant effect on the pension cost are set ot below:

Year Ended Year Ended

M December 2011 31 December 2010

% per annum % per annim

Iscount rate 4,90 5440

Rarte of increase in salaries 4.00 4,00

Rate of increase in pensions

(pest-30 November 1996 sccrual) 340 385
Fate of mcrease in pensions in deferment

(post-20 November 1996 accrual) 2.H) 3.15

Rate of price inflation 340 385

The mortality assumphions were set based on the “51 series all pensioner light” base table projected 1o 2009 with an
allowance known as ‘medium cohort’ improvements. The future improvement from 2009 is in line with medium
cohort projections subject to a minimum level of 1% per annum,

Based on the actuarial review of the Plan, the directors have revised the following assumptions as they believe they
better reflect the future development of Plan liabilitcs:

+  The discount ratz seiting methodology was changed resulting in a discount rate of 0.2% per arriwm higher than
the rate that would have been used had it been st in a consistent manner with that used as at 31 December
2010, The impact of this methodology change is fo reduce Plan liabilities by US565 million.
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9. STAFF COSTS (continued)
The employment costs incurred by the company, including those relating to directors, were:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
US$" 000 USH D00
Aggregale gross wages and salaries BO8 265 4,328,018
Emplover's National Insurance Contributions 146,127 447 402
UK Bank Payroll Tax - 465,000
Pension costs, emplover contributions to the:
Defined  conmtribution  scheme  (including
defined contributions to the hybrid scheme) 58,831 50,273
Defined henefit scheme 42,710 46,486
Tuatal direct costs of employment 1,145,933 5,337,179
Staft costs include a credit of US31,823 million {vear ended 31 December 2010¢ charge of US$455 million) relating
1 the mark-1o-market of equity-based compensation.
10, PENSION ARRANGEMENTS
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1.

NOTES TO THE FINANCTAT STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

# It has heen assumed that the Consumer Prices Index ('CPL') price inflation would increase 1.2% per annum
more slowly than the Retail Prices Index (*RFI%) price inflation over the long-term, rather than the 0.7% per
annum assumed as at 31 December 2000, This change in assumpiion reduces Plan liabilites by USE73 million.

The assels in the Plan attributable to the company and the expected rates of return were:

31 December 2011 3 Dvcember 2010
Expected Market Expected Market
rate of return valwe  rale of return walue
S per anmum US$m Y& per annum USSm
Equities 8.2 6384 87 5.0
Bonds 34 142 4 45 129.2
Cash and reinvested cash kN 2TR.B 4.1 2704
Total market value of assets 10596 L0536
Development of the balance sheet:
3 December 31 December 31 December 28 November 30 November
1011 2010 2009 208 2007
Us%m US%m US%m US%m US%m
Market value of Plan assels 1,059.6 1,053.6 7449 524.1 5903
Actuarial value of Plan liahilities 927.4 #89.6 2.1 3095.0 6985
Surplus / (deficit) in the Plan and
pension asset / (liability)
recognised in the balance sheet
before deferred taxation 1322 164.0 {157.2) 129.1 (108.2)
The defined benefit cost was formed of the following components:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
US$m USSm
Amnalysis of amounts charged to operating profit:

Cuarrent service cost 523 514
Total charged to operating profit 523 514
Amnalysis of the amount credited to net finance income:

Interest on Plan liabilities 49.4 434

Expected retumn on assets in the Plan (77.6) (57.0)
Total eredited to net finance income (28.2) (8.6)
Total charged 1o profit and loss before tax 4.1 428
Amnalysis of amounts recognised in the statement of total

recognised poins and losses:

Loss { (gain) on assels 101.1 (14.0)

Experience gain on lisbilines (28.5) [48.6)

(Gain in assumptions

(financial and demographic) (20.7) (25.6)
Total loss [/ (gain) recognised in the statement of total
recognised gains and losses hefore tax 519 (88.2)

22

263/306



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoooooooooood

GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
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1.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

History of experience gains and losses are as follows:

31 December 31 Decembeer 31 December 28 November 30 November

2011 2010 2004 20008 2007
Loss { (gain) on Plan
assels:
Amount (USSm) 1011 (14.0% (10700 1158 (66.8)
% of Plan asseis at end of
The year 0.5% 1.3% 14.4% 221% 11.3%
Experience (gain) / loss
on Plan liabilities:
Amount (LS3m) (18.5) (48.6} (17.2) (15.9) 387
% of Plan liahilities ai end
of the vear 3.01% 553% 1.9% 4.0 55%
Total actnarial loss /
{gain) recognised in
statement of total
recognised gains and
losses:
Amount (USSm) 3Le (B8.2) LIRS (153.9) (46.5)
% of Plan liabilitics atend
of the yoar 5.6% 0.0 33.3% 3005 6.7%
Analysis of the movement in Plan assets during the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
3 December 2011 31 December 2010
US$m USSm
Plan assets at the start of the year 105306 Ta4.9
Expected return on Plan assets 176 57.0
{Laoss) / gain on assels (1,1 14.0
Coniributions paid — Employer 438 266.3
Benefits paid (8.5) (6.8}
Forcign exchange losses on translation of Plan asseis (5.8) (22.3)
Plan assets at the end of the year 1,059.6 1,053.6
Analysis of the movement in Plan liabilities doring the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
US$m US$m
Plan liahilitics at the start of the year g89.0 a02.1
Current service ¢osl 523 314
Interest on Plan liabilities 40,4 48.4
Gain on change in assumplions {20.7) (25.6)
Experience gain {28.5) [48.6)
Benefits paid (B.5) (6.8)
Fereign exchange gains on translation of Plan liabilities (623 (31.3)
Plan liabilitics at the cnd of the year 9274 859.6
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1.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continned)

Analysis of the movement in surplus / (deficit) in the Plan doring the yvear:

Surplus [/ (deficit) in the Plan at the start of the year
Contributions paid — Employer

Current service cnst

Met finance income

Actuarial (loss) ¢ gain

Foreign exchange gains on ranslation of surplus / (deficit)
Surplus in the Plan at the end of the year

Additional disclosures:

Expected future benefit payments for the year Lo
31 December 20012 /31 December 2011

Expected contributions for the vear 1o
31 December 2012 /21 December 2011 - Employer
Actoal return on Plan assets during the year ended 31
December 2011 / 31 December 2010
Expected return on Plan assets
Asset (loss) / gain during the year
Actual return on Plan assets

OoOooOoOddooOoomdmr
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2001 3 December 2010
1IS%m US$m
1640 (157.2)
438 el
(52.3) {51.4)
8.2 R
(5149 882
0.4 a0
1322 164.0
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
US%m US$m
42 7.0
6.0 A0
T7.6 370
(10113 14,0
{23.5) 7L

Cuomulative amounis recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses since the adoption of

FRS17 Retirement Benefits:

Actuarial loss relating to the pension scheme
UK deferred tax attributahle to the actuarial loss

Met comulative amount recognised in the statement of
total recognised gains and losses

3 December 2011 31 December 20010
USSm LISHm
(91.3) (39.4)
254 12.4
(65.9) (27.0)
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11.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2011
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Stock incentive plan

GSI's ultimate parent company, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restated Swock Incentive Plan (“the SIF'), which provides for, amongst others, granis of
incentive stock options and restricted stock onits {'RSLUs™),

Restricted stock units (*RSUs™)

The ultimate parent company issued BSUs to GSI's employees under the S1P, primarily in connection with year-end
compensation, RSUs are valued based on the closing price of the underlying shares at the date of grant after taking
into account a hguidity discount for any applicable posi-vesting transfer resirictions, Year-end RSUs gencrally vest
and deliver as cutlined in the applicable RST agreements. Emplovee-RSU agreements generally provide thatl vesting
iz secelerated in certain circumstances, such as upon refirement, death and extended absence. Delivery of the
underlying shares of common stock is condittoned on the grantees satnsfving certain vesting and other requirements
outlined in the award sgreements. The activity related to these RSUs is set forth below:

31 December 20011 31 December 20010
MNo. of RSUs No. of RSUs

Mo future Future No future Future
service service sErvice service
requirement  requirement requirement  requirement

Chutstanding at the beginning of the year 11,080,072 3,700,254 6,724,828 5724511
Grranted 1,817 6509 2,391.0u3 4,190,755 U118, 649
Faorfeited (52, 738) (521,006} (67,459) (478,345)
Drelivered (11,146,411} - (4,972.774) -
Transferred in / (out) 50,9749 (59,560 2,430 (370,269)
Vested 5,555,239 (5,550,239) 5,203,202 (5.203,292)
Duistanding at ihe end of the year 7,318,780 5042532 11,090,072 8,791,254

The weighted average fair value of the equity instruments granted during the year ended 31 December 2011 was
15%145.58 (year ended 31 December 20010: US$134.24), The fair value of the RSUs granted during the vear ended
31 December 2011 and the year ended 31 December 2010 inclodes a liquidity discount of 9.5% and 11.1%.
respectively, to reflect post-vesting transfer restrictions of up to 4 years.
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11.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Stock options

Stock options granted o employees generally vest as outlined in the applicable stock option agreement, Mo oplions
were granted for the year ended 31 December 2011 nor for year ended 31 December 2010, Employee stock option
agreements provide that vesting is accelerated in certain circumstances, such as upon retirement, death and extended
absence. In general, all stock options expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date, although they may be subject
1 earlier termination of cancellation under certain circumstances in accordance with the terms of the SIP and the
applicable stock option agreement. The activity related 1o these steck options is set fonh below:

31 December 2011 31 December 20110

Weighted Weighied

HYCTHEC B\'El‘ﬂg!

No. of share exercise Mo, of share exercise

oplions  price (US%) options price (LSH)
Citstanding ai the beginning of the vear 11,935923 Q0,07 13,787,180 8924
Forfeited (T.6E1) TRAR (95,1447 TR3T
Transferred in / {out) 57000 76,25 (64,6722 TR.TR
Exercised (534,972) 90,69 (1.684.352) B39
Expired (574,838) 91,61 (7085 8288
Outstanding at the end of the year 10,875,522 B0.59 11,935,923 90.07

Exercisable at the end of the year 7,741,204 94,39 5,258,044 92.41

For those options exercised during the year, the weighted average share price ar the date of exercise was US$135.40
(vear ended 31 December Z010: TISE163.15), The options outstanding as at 31 December 2001 and 31 December
2000 are set forth below:

31 December 20011 31 December 20010
Weighted Weighted
average average
Mo, of share remaining Mo, of share remaining
options  coniractual options contractual

outstanding life (years) outstanding life {vears)

Exercise Price

375.00-589.99 9,694,275 .64 9.679,264 T.61
$00,00-5104,99 45,217 1.92 1,120,629 1.01
$120.00-5134.99 2HE,TI0 3.92 288,720 4.92
S195.00-5200.99 547,310 5.51 847,310 6.51
Outstanding at the end of the year 10,875,522 11,935,923

GSI recorded total share-based compensation expenses net of forfeitures of US$37% million for the year ended 31
December 2011 (year ended 31 December 2010 US81,272 million) related to the amogtisation of equity awards.
The comresponding credit to equity has been transferred to liabilitics as a result of the terms of the intercompany
agreements with the group.
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1%

Year Ended
31 December 2010
US$ 000

441,675
A0, 106
39,147

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL IMENTS - ECEMBER 2011
TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
a. Analvsis of tax charge for the year:
Year Ended
31 December 2011
US$000
Current tax:
UK corparation tax 26,649
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (52.506)
Chverseas taxation 32,420
Total carrent tax (see note 12h) 6,563
Deferred tax:
Prowisions and other timing differences 617648
Effect of decreazed (ax rale on opening asset 59,713

Adjustments in respect of previous periods 34

540,925

(127,043)

(636)

Total deferred tax (see note 20) 677,305

(128,599

Tax charge on profit on ordinary activities (83,958

412,329

b. Factors affecting tax charge for the year:

The difference between the total current tax shown above and the amount calculated by applying the weighted
average rate of UK corporation tax applicable to the company for the year of 26.5% (31 December 20010: 289} o

the profit on ordinary activities before tax is as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 2011 31 December 2010

USS'000 USS"000
Profit on ordinary activities before 1ax 3,109,361 1,187,375

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate in the UK

26.5% (2010: 28%:) 423,080 332,465
Expenses not deductible for (ax purposes 25,156 132,628
Accelerated capital allowances and other timing differences (19443 [105,155)
Timing differences in respect of equity-based compensation (648,414) 271,404
Permanent differences (105,263) (92,422}
Pension contribution relief in excess of net pension cost charge {3,714) (4,137}
Tax losses surrendered from group undertakings for nil consideration [16,408) (35,005)
Exchange differences and other 5,175 4,444
Adjustment 1o tax in respect of prior periods (52,508) 401,106
Current tax charge for the vear 6,563 51,928

The timing differences in respect of equity-based compensation comprizes the net tax effect of the amounts charged
1o the profit and loss aceount during the year and those amounts paid to the employees during the vear,
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NOTES T THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011
13. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
The movements in tangible fixed assets during the year were as follows:
Fixtures,
Leasehold fittings & Maotor
improvements equipment vehicles Tatal
US$ 000 LSS Dy US$"000 USE'000
Cost
At 31 December 2010 20,056 4,729 16 24,801
Additions 4,092 054 - 5,046
Disposals (9,920 (119} (16) {10,055)
At 31 December 2011 15,128 5,564 20,692
Depreciation
At 31 December 2000 16,698 Z.H%4 16 19,608
Charge for the year (sze note 5) 2,204 74 . 2,928
Disposals [9,5920) (119 [16) {14,055)
At 31 December 2011 8,982 3499 - 12,481
Met Book Value
At 31 December 2011 6,146 2065 8211
At 31 December 2010 3,358 1,835 5,193
14, FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Shares in Other
suhsidiary investments,
pndertakings  other than loans Total
LS5 (i) USss"000 US$'000
Cost
At 31 December 2010 1,474 1,314 2,788
Additions 2497 20 2517
A1 31 December 2001 3971 - 13 5,305
Amortisation
At 31 December 20010 - a7 67
Charge for the year (see note 5) . 2 2
An 31 December 2011 - [ 69
Met Book Value
Al 3] December 2011 imm 1,265 5,236
At 31 December 2010 1,474 1,247 2,721

Other investments, other than loans primarily consists of exchange memberships. The direclors consider that the
value of investments in subsidiary undertakings and other investments, other than loans is not less than their book

value,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS {continued)

The subsidiaries over which the company exercises control at the year end are listed below:

Haolding and

Country of proportion of Class of unils /| Number  Nature of
Mame of company imcorporation voling rights  shares held held business
Sphere Fundo De Investimento
Muliimercado - Investimenic Investment
Mo Exterior Credito Privado Brazil 100%: Units 4,532 Fund
Ordinary Financial
Goldman Sachs Eurcpe Limited  Jersey 100%: shares 100 services
Goldman Sachs Securities Ordinary Nominee
(Mominees) Limited Great Britain ~ 100% shares 2 company
Ordinary Financial
Goldman Sachs (Jersey) Limited  Jersey 1005 shares 50,000 services

The company has interests in a number of special purpose vehicles and capital-guasranteed funds considerned by the
directors to be subsidiaries which do not meet the definition of a legal subsidiary, but give nse 1o the nsks and
rewards that are, in substance, no different than if they were legal subsidiaries. The activities of these special
purpose wehicles and the capital-guaranteed funds consist of the issuance of loan notes under the terms of a
repackaging programme.  These vehicles are consolidated in the financial statements of Goldman Sachs Group

Holdings (TLE.).

9
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NOTES T

5 -3 DECEMBER 2011

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OWNED AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SOLD, BUT NOT YET

PURCHASED

Financial instruments owned and fnancial instruments sold, but not yet purchased comprise financial instruments
and investments within the operating activities of the company. Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral
represents financial instruments owned and pledged o counterparties that have the right o deliver ar repledge.

Financial instruments owned, including financial instruments pledged as collateral, comprises:

Cash instruments:

Government and agency obligations
Equitics

Corporate debt

Commereial paper

Derivative instruments:
Interest rate

Credit

Equity

Foreign currency
Comimmodities

Financial instrumenis owned
Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral

Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased comprises:

Cash instruments:

Government and agency obhigations
Equities

Corporaie debt

Derivative instroments:
Interest rate

Credit

Equity

Foreign currency
Commodities

31 December 2011 31 December 2000
LSH"000 US$ 000
29915708 31,267 939
20,231,295 21,862,344
14,426,233 13,094,620
1618408 2,766,263
66,191,644 68,991,168
240,862,670 135,680,471
178,726,250 156,613,555
H2,380,9408 79,018,306
47,125,406 43,846,471
T.9H2.928 11,097 865
556,687,267 426,257 668
622.878,911 495,248,836
603 488,261 473,445,028
19,390,650 21,805 808
622,878,911 405 348 816
3 December 2011 31 December 2010
LSS 000 LISS" (iH
16,998,751 23,313,148
14,556,429 12,559 308
30347 951 3,009,633
34,493,161 35,972,069
235,873,275 130,272,327
161,612,246 136,677,754
71,431,567 66,757,981
47,106,683 43,969,071
T.020,100 9.624.971
523,043,871 387,302,104
557,537,032 426,274,193
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16.

17

18.

19,

0.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2011

COLLATERALISED AGREEMENTS

Incleded within the collateralised agreements are amounts of US5111,459 million (31 December 2010: USE97,109
million) which relate w group undenakings.

DEBTORS
31 December 2011 31 December 2000
LS5 000 US$ 0
Amounts dee from broker / dealers and customers 50,595,132 35,845 462
Amounts due from parent and group undertakings 14,108,317 8,604,430
Deferred tax (see note 20) AR5.501 1,051 067
Other debtors 67,076 68,261
Prepayments and accrued income 25,183 23 868
Corporation tax reccivable 240,759 .
65,521,968 45,593,047

Of the amounts dee from broker £ dealers and customers, US$170 million (31 December 2000: USSnil) is due in
more than one year, This relates (o secored lending on a collateralised debt obligation.

Of the amounts due from parent and group undertakings, as &t 31 Decernber 2000, US$2T million is due in more
than one year, This relates 1o equity-based employee compensation. The remaining debiors are all due within one
wear of the balance sheet date.

CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Included within cash at bank and in hand 15 US$13,309 million (31 December 2010: USS 10,780 million) that is held
on behalf of clients in segregated accounts,

COLLATERALISED FINANCING

Included within collaeralised financing are amounts of USH104,659 million (31 December 2010: USE70,264
million) which relate to gronp undertakings.

DEFERRED TAX
31 December 2011 31 December 20010
US$ 000 US$ 000
Deferred tax balance comprises (see note 17):
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 5917 5079
Post-retirement benefits [6.592) 3871
Ohher nming differences 386,176 1,040,017
385,501 1,051,067
US$"000
The movements in the deferred tax balance were as follows:
At 31 December 2010 1051067
Transfer to the profit and loss account fior the year (see note 12a) [677.395)
Transfer to the statement of wfal recognised gains amd losses for the
year 12,963
Foreign exchange losses {1,134
At 31 December 2011 - 385,501

Other timing differences mainly relates to deferved tax in respect of equity-based compensation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2011

2l. OTHER CREDITORS
Oither creditors, all ef which are payable within one year of the balance sheet date, comprise;

31 December 20011 31 December 2010

LISS 0 USE 000
Bank loans and overdrafis 0,658 93,407
Debt securities 1ssued 15,864,139 16,519,135
Amounts dee 1o broker { dealers and customers HE,904,032 #4.831,333
Amounts due w parent and group undenakings 63,877,932 42,123,524
Amounts due 1o subsidiary underiakings 3,990 4,846
Acecrual for management charges payable o
parent and group undertakings (see note 22c) 742,269 2,489,554
Corporation lax payable - 12,579
Other taxes and social security costs 165477 321,021
Other creditors and aceruals 649,192 1.0:25,170
173,298,319 147,420,573

Of debd securities issued, USS8.638 million (31 December 2010: USS6,088 million) is secured by marketable
securities, of which US$2,568 million (31 December 2000: 552,272 million) relates o amounts doe (o parent and
group undertakings.

11,  CREDMTORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

31 December 20011 31 December 20010

Us5°000 USs 000

Long-term subordinated loans (see note a) 8,833,000 5,333,000

Dieht seeurities issued (see note h) 4,135,827 4,261,639

Aanounis due 1o parent and group undertakings 1,460,049 1,719.1%
Aceroal for management charges payable 1o parent and

group undertakings (see note ©) F12,762 1,311,037

14,241,638 12,624,872

a.  The amounts oustanding at 31 December 2001 and 31 December 2010 include long-term suhordinated loans
from parent undertakings. The loans are unsecuted and carry interest al a margin over Fed Funds Rate. The
margin is resel on @ periodic basis to reflect changes in the group’s long-term debr spreads, Long-term
suberdinated loans of US$8,233 millien (31 December 2010: US%5,333 million) constitute regulatory capital as
approved by the FSA. OFf the above, US$8,833 million is repayable upon giving or receiving at least five years'
notice 1o or from the parent undertaking (31 December 2000: US$£333 million is repayable upon giving or
receiving at least five years’ notice w0 or from the parent undentaking; US$35,000 million is repayable upon
Eiving or receiving al least two years' notice to or from the paremt undertaking), The repayment of
subordinated debt is also subject to FSA approval,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STA - BER 2011
CREDMTORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR (continmed )
b.  The mawrnty of debl securities issued due after more than one year is as follows:

31 December 2011 31 December 2010

LS5 000 TS5'000
In more than one year, bat not more than two years 250,616 1,316,235
In mare than two years, bul not more than five vears 2,776,008 2073642
In more than five years 1,129,203 871,762
4,135,827 4,261,639

Of the above, US52,310 million (31 December 2000: US$1.505 million) is secured by marketable securities
and U55935 million (31 December 2010: US51,979 million) is repayable to group endertakings, of which
USE648 million is secured (31 December 2010: US$468 million). Amounts due in more than five years
predominantly relate o structured debt securities with maturities falling from 2007 w 2050, Payments on these
securities are typically referenced o underlying financial assets incleding collateralised debt obligations and
OTC marlgage portfolios.

€. The accrual for management charges (per above and note 21) is in respect of BSUs and Long-Term Incentive
Plans.

PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

USE000
At 1 January 2001 5. 000
Charge to the profit and loss aceount 9.696
Uilised during the year (BR.O8T)
Foreign exchange gain (618)
At 31 December 2011 5991

The provision of US%6 million was made in respect of legal elaims made against the company, Forther details
relating to these claims have not been disclosed as permitted by accounting standard FRS12, “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, on the groutds that it would be seriously prejudicial to do so,

SHARE CAPITAL

AL 31 December 2000 and 31 December 2011 share capiial comprised:

31 Drecember 2011 31 December 2000
Mo, IS5 000 Na. US5'000
Allotted. called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of US$1 cach 409 257 654 490 358 490257 654 490,258
Class A preference shares of USS0.01 each 958,650,363 9586 958,659,363 9,586
Class B preference shares of US$0.01 =ach 227,906,957 2,279 227,906,997 2,279
511,123 . S11,23
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

24. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
The class A and class B preference shares carry limited voting rights and, on a winding up, the holders have a
preferential nght to return of capital together with any premium. Class A preference shares have a fixed non-
cumulative dividend payable at a rate of § cents per share per annum, Class B preference shares have a fixed non-
cumulative dividend at a rate of 10 cents per share per anmurm.
25. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS® FUNDS AND MOVEMENTS ON
RESERVES
Share Capital reserve Profit
Called up premium {non- and loss
share capital acoonnt distributable) aceount Total
USS000 US§'000 US$'000  US$000 US$ 000
At 1 January 2010 511,123 2 885260 17,286 13022360 16,436,029
Profit for the financial year = = - T804 TI5.046
Orther recognised gains for the year - - - 6,396 64,396
Drividends paid {see note 26) - - (99,483 (99.483)
Share-based payvments (see note 11) - - 1,270,848 1,271,846
Management recharge related to
shige-based payiments - - - (L270,846)  (1,271,846)
At 1 January 2011 511,123 2885260 17286 13,762,319 17,175,988
Profit for the financial year - - 2425400 2425403
(hher recognised losses for the year - - (38, 889) {38,380
Dvidends paid (see note 26) - - (90,483 (90 4R3)
Share-based payments (see note 11) - - - 479,228 £70,228
Management recharge related to
share-hased paymenis - - - (AT9ZZR} (RTO.228)
At 3 December 2011 511,123 2885260 17,286 16,049,350 19,463,019
Pension reserve
31 December 2011 31 December 20010
LS5 000 LSS (00
Profit and loss reserve excluding pension
surplus 15,217,186 13,598,317
Pension reserve (see note 10 132,154 164,002
Profit and loss reserve 16,049 350 13,762,319
2. DIVIDENDS PAID
31 December 2011 31 December 20010
LSS000 LSS 00
USE0.01 Class A fixed rate preference shares 76,603 76,603
USE0.01 Class B fixed rate preference shares 22,7040 22,790
99 483 99,483
4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Mormal trading activities capose the company 1w market, credit, and liguidity risk. These risks, described below, are
managed in accordance with established risk management policies and procedures.

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, manages market, credit and liquidity risk on 8 consistent hasgis across the group.
Consequently, GS1, as part of that group, adheres to global risk management policies and procedures,

The company secks to monitor and confrol its risk exposure through o risk and control framework encompassing a
variely of separste, but complementary, financial, credit, operational, compliance and legal reporting systems,
internal controls, management review processes and other mechanisms. In addition, a number of global, regional
and enlily commitiees are responsible for monitoring risk exposures and for general oversight of the company’s risk
management process, These commillees meet regularly and consist of scnior members of both the revenue-
producing units and departments that are independent of the revenue-producing units. In addition o the committees,
functions that are independent of the revenue-producing units, such as Compliance, Finance (including Risk
Management), Legal, Internal Andic and Operations perform global risk management functions, which include
meonitoring, analysing and evaluating risk.

a. Market risk

Market risk is the rizsk of loss in the value of the company’s inventory duc to changes in market prices
Financial instruments are held primarily for market making for clientz and for nvesting and lending activities.
Therefore, the value of these fnancial instruments changes based on client demands and invesiment
opportumities. Financial instrumenis are accounted for al fair valuee and, therefore, fluctuate on & daily basis.
Categores of markel risk include the following:

*  interest rate risk primanly reselts from exposures (o changes in the level, slope and curvature of yield
curves, the volatilities of interest rates, mongage prepayment speeds and credit spreads;

«  equily price risk resulis from exposures to changes in prices and volatilities of individual eguities, baskets
of equities and equity indices; and

*  currency rate risk results from exposures to changes in spot prices, forward prices and volatiliies of
CUTTENCY TAlES.

The company manages markei risk by diversifying exposures, controlling position sizes and establishing
economic hedges in related sccorities or derivatives, The risk management process includes:

. aecurate and timely exposure information incorporating multiple risk metrics:
' a dynamic limit setling framework; and
. constant communication among revenue-producing units, nsk managers and senior management.

Marker Risk Management, which is independent of the revenue-producing units and reporis 1o the chief risk
officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing market risk. Risks are monitored
and controlled through strong oversight and independent control and support functions across the global
husinesses.

Market Risk Management produces risk measures and monitors them against market risk limits set by the GSI
Risk Committee. These measures reflect an extensive range of scenarios and the results are ageregated at
trading desk, business and company levels.

Aovariety of risk measures are used to estimate the size of potential lesses for both moderate and more extreme
market moves over both short-term and long-term time horizons. Risk measures wsed for shorer-term periods
include Value-at-Risk (“VaR") and sensitivity metrics, For longer-term horizons, the primary risk measures are
stress tests. The risk reports detail key risks, drivers and changes for each desk and husiness, and are
distributed daily to sentor management of both the revenve-producing units and independent control and
support functions,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMEER 2011

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Management has made a significant invesiment in technology to monitor market risk including:
. an independent caleulation of VaR and stress measures;

. risk measures calculated at individual position levels;

. attribation of risk measures to individual risk factors of each positiion;

. the ability to report many different views of the risk measures, e.g. by desk, business or product type;
and

. the ahility to produce a4 fioc analyses in a timely manner,

Risk limits are used at variows levels in the group (including company. business and product) to govern risk
iappetite by controlling the size of exposures to market risk. Limits are reviewed frequently and amended on a
permanent or tfemporary basis o reflect changing market conditions, business conditions or tolerance for risk.

The GSI Risk Committes sets market risk limits at company, business and product levels. The purpose of the
limits is to assist senior management in controlling the company®s overall risk profile. Business level limits are
designed wo set the desired maximum amount of exposure that may be managed by any particular business on a
day-to-day basis without additional levels of senior management approval, effectively leaving day-to-day
trading decisions to individual desk managers and traders.  Accordingly, sub-limits are a management ool
designed 1o ensure appropriate escalation rather than o establish maximum risk tolerance. Sub-limits are also
designed to distribute risk among various businesses in a manner that is consistent with their level of activity
and client demand, taking into account the relative performance of each area,

Market risk limits are monitored daily by Marke: Risk Management, which is responsible for identifving and
escalating, on a timely basis, instances where limils have been exceeded. The business-level limits are subject
1o the same serutiny and limit escalation policy as the company and group limiis, When a risk limit has been
exceeded, e.g. due 1o changes in market conditions, such as increased volatilities or changes in correlations, it
i reported to the GST Risk Commitice and a discussion takes place with the relevant desk managers, after
which either the risk position is reduced or the risk limit i temporarily or permanently increased.

b. Credit risk

Credit risk represents the potential for loss due to the default or deterioration in eredit quality of a counterparty,
e.g. an OTC derivatives counterparty or & borrower, or an issuer of securities or other instruments the company
holds, Exposure to eredit risk comes mostly from client ransactions in OTC denvatives. Credit risk also
comes from cash placed with banks, securitics financing wansactions, i.e. resale and repurchase agreements and
securities borrowing and lending activities, and receivables from brokers £ dealers, clearing organisations,
customers and counterparties.

The Credic Risk Management department, which is independent of the revenue-producing units and reports to
the chiel risk officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing credit sk, The
group’s Credit Policy Commitiee and the GSI Risk Commitiee establish and review credit policies and
parameters.  In addition, the company holds other positions that give rise 1o credit risk, e.g. bonds held in
inveniory, These credit nisks are captured as a component of market risk measures, which are monitosed and
managed by Market Risk Management, consistent with other loventory positions.

Policies authorised by the GSI Risk Committes and the group’s Credit Policy Committee prescribe the level of
formal approval required for the company 1o assume credit exposure 10 a counlerparty across all product areas,
taking into account any enforcesble netting provisions, collateral or other credic risk mitigants,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2011

27.  FINANCIAL RISKE MANAGEMENT (continued)
b.  Credit risk {continoned)

Effective management of credit risk requires accurate and timely information, a high level of communication
and knowledge of customers, countries, industries and products. The process for managing credit risk includes:

. approving transactions and setling and communicating credit exposure limits;
*  monitoring compliance with established credit exposure limits;
+  assessing the likelihood that a counterparty will default on its payment obligations;

* measuring the company’s curvent and potential credit exposure and losses Tesulting from counterparty
default;

*  reporting of credit exposures to senior management, the Board and regulators;
*  use of credit risk mitigants, including collateral and hedging; and

*  communication and collaboration with other independent control and support functions sech as
Operations, Legal and Compliance,

As part of the risk assessment process, Credit Risk Management performs eredit reviews which include initial
and ongoing analyses of the company’s counterparties. A credit review is an independent judgement about the
capacity and willingness of a counterparty to meet its financial obligations, For substantially all of the
company's credil exposures, the core of the process iz an annual counterparty review. A counterparty review is
a written analysis of a counterparty's business profile and financial strength resulting in an internal credit rating
which represents the probability of default on financial obligations to the company. The determination of
internil credit ratings incorporates assumptions with respect to the counterparty’s future business performance,
the nature and outlook for the counterparty’s industry and the sconomic environment, Senjor personnel within
Credit Risk Mansgement, with expertise in specific indusiries, inspect and approve credit reviews and internal
credit ratings,

The global credil risk management systems capture credit exposure o individual counterparties and on an
aggregabe basis (o counterparties and their subsidiarics (economic groups), These systems also provide
management with comprehensive information on aggregate credit risk by product, internal credit rating,
industry, country and region,

Credit risk is measured based on the potential loss in an event of non-payment by a counterparty. For
denvatives and securities financing (ransactions, the primary measure is potential exposure, which is the
estimale of the future exposure that could arise over the life of a runsaction based on market movements within
& specified confidence level. Potential exposure takes into account netiing and collateral arrangements. Credit
risk is also monitored in terms of current exposure, which is the amount presently owed to the company after
taking into account applicable netting and collateral.

¢, Liguidity risk

Liguidity is of critical importance 1o fnancial institetions.  Accordingly, the company has in place a
comprebensive and conservative set of liquidity and funding policies to sddress both company-specific and
broader industry or market liquidity events. The principal ohjective is to be able o fund the company and o
enable the core businesses to continue to generate revenues under adverse circumstances,

EX)
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N
27.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c. Liguidity risk (continued)

ENTS - 31 DECEMEBER 2011

The company manages liquidity risk according to the following principles:

+  excess liquidity — maintain substantial exeess lguidity to meet & broad range of potential cash ourflows

and collateral needs in a stressed environment;

" asset-liabality management - assess the overall anticipated holding periods for the company’s assets and
their cxpected liquidity in a siressed environment. Manage the marurities and diversity of funding across
markets, products and counterparties, and seek to maintain liabilities of appropriate fenor relative to the

assel base; and

«  contingency funding plan (*CEFP') — a CFP is maintamed to provide a framework for analysing and
responding to a liguidicy crisis situation or periods of marker siress, This framework sets forth the plan of
action 10 fund normal business activity in emergency and stress situations,

28,  FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

a.  The company's financial commitments and contingencies owtstanding at the year end arise from letters of credit
and forward foreign exchange, swaps, options, financial futures contracts, debt and equity forwards and
underwriting commitments entered into in the ordinary course of business.  In addition, there are registered
charges on the company's assets which have arisen in the ordinary course of business,

b.  The company leases certain buildings on long-term leases.

Under these leases, which are subject to

renegabiation at various intervals specified i the leases, the company pays all insurance, maintenance and
repairs of these properties. The rentals that the company is commuitted to pay in the next vear are as follows:

Maturity of lease:
Less than one year
Berween one and two years
Beiween two and five years

Ower Live vears

31 December 2011 3 December 2010
LSS 000 USEH 000

555 1,386

0,535 11

2,934 15,125

05,334 96,972

108,358 113,594

ULTIMATE AND IMMEDIATE PARENT UNDERTAKINGS

The immediate parent undertaking is Goldman Sachs Holdings (UK.}, and the parent company af the smallest group
for which consolidated financial statements are prepared 15 Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (ULKL), a company
incorporated in CGreat Britain and registered in England and Wales. The ultimate parent underiaking and the parent
company of the largest group for which consolidated financial statements are prepared is The Goldman Sachs Group
Inc., a company incorporated in the United States of America. Copies of s aceounts can be obtained from 200
West Street, New York, WY 10282, United States of America, the group’s principal place of business,
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7,054.98 8,824.06 8,160.01 8,295.63 10,486.99
2013 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014
12
16,291.31 16,121.45 15,051.60 15,274.07 15,071.88 14,681.72
15,152.91 14,914.53 14,008.47 14,224.23 13,910.16 14,006.44
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Independent auditors report to the members of
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL

(unlimited company)

Report on the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion the financia statements, defined below:

» giveatrueand fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2013 and of its profit for the year
then ended;

» have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

»  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

This opinion isto be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report.

What we have audited

The financial statements, which are prepared by Goldman Sachs International, comprise:

» thebalance sheet as at 31 December 2013;

» theprofit and loss account and statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year then ended; and

» thenotesto the financial statements, which include other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for examplein
respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future

events.

What an audit of financia statementsinvolves

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (‘ISAs (UK & Ireland)’).
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosuresin the financia statements sufficient to give

reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of:

»  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied

and adequately disclosed;

» thereasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and

» theoverall presentation of the financial statements.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material

inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect

based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by usin the course of performing the audit. If we

become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
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Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors Report and Strategic Report for the financial year for which the

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

» we have not received al the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

»  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

» thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. We have no exceptions to report

arising from this responsibility.

Directors remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors

remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Directors Responsibilities Statement set out on page 52, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view.

Our responsibility isto audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board' s Ethical Standards for
Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose

hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Duncan McNab (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

7 More London Riverside

London

SE12RT
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Independent auditors report to the members of
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL

(unlimited company)

We have audited the financial statements of Goldman Sachs International for the year ended 31 December 2012 which
comprise the profit and loss account, the statement of total recognised gains and |losses, the balance sheet and the related
notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the directors responsibilities statement (set out on page 8) the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view. Our responsibility isto
audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board' s Ethical Standards

for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose

hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosuresin the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonabl eness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read al the financial and non financial
information in the directors report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financia statements. 1f we become

aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
e give atrueand fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2012 and of its profit for the
year then ended;
*  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

*  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the directors report for the financia year for which the financial statements are

prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you
if, in our opinion:
»  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or
« thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
e  certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Duncan McNab (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

12 April 2013
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Independent auditors report to the members of
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL

(unlimited company)

We have audited the financial statements of Goldman Sachs International for the year ended 31 December 2011 which
comprise the profit and loss account, the statement of total recognised gains and |losses, the balance sheet and the related
notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the directors responsibilities statement (set out on page 7) the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view. Our responsibility isto
audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board' s Ethical Standards

for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose

hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosuresin the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonabl eness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read al the financial and non financial
information in the directors report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financia statements. 1f we become

aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
e give atrueand fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of its profit for the
year then ended;
*  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

*  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the directors report for the financia year for which the financial statements are

prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you
if, in our opinion:
»  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or
« thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
e  certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Christopher Rowland (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

24 April 2012
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